Potential of Entomopathogenic Fungi in the Control of Economically Important Spider Mite Species *Tetranychus urticae* Koch and *Tetranychus evansi* Baker & Pritchard

David Mugisho Bugeme

A thesis submitted in fulfilment for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Botany in the Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology

DECLARATION

This thesis has been submitted for examination	ion with our approval as University
Supervisors	
Signature Prof. Hamadi Iddi Boga JKUAT, Kenya	Date
Signature Dr. Nguya Kalemba Maniania ICIPE, Kenya	Date
Signature Dr. Markus Knapp ICIPE, Kenya	Date

Date.....

University

Signature.....

David Mugisho Bugeme

ii

DEDICATION

To my big brother, The **Reverend Father Xavier Luheshe Bugeme s.j.**, I dedicate this dissertation, fruit of many months of work and sacrifice. Thanks for your love and support.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to my ICIPE supervisors: Dr. Jean Nguya K. Maniania and Dr. Markus Knapp, for introducing me to the field of arthropod pathology and agricultural acarology, respectively, and for their invaluable guidance throughout the research period and for their constructive criticism during the write-up. I have learnt a lot of things from you, and I assure you that you did not preach in the "desert". I am also grateful to Professor Hamadi Iddi Boga of Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology (JKUAT) for his helpful guidance throughout this study.

I am grateful to the African Regional Postgraduate Program in Insect Science (ARPPIS), the SII-Dutch government fund as well as the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ) for granting me the opportunity to train under the ARPPIS program and making my dreams come true. Special thanks to Dr. Mulenda Basimike and Prof. Lubala Toto for motivating me to pursue my doctoral studies. With the initial information on ARRPIS from you, my dreams have come true.

I owe a lot to my dearest friend and brother, Fr. Jean Nyembo B. s.j., and his family (Dr. Jean-Claude Loba, Da Elisabeth Nyembo Loba and their children Jean-Marc and Jean-Pascal Loba) for being like a second family to me during my stay in Kenya. I thank all my friends and colleagues for being there whenever I needed them. Thanks to Patient Matabishi, Freddy Mujishamba, Leon Maliona, Alexandre Bruce, Ivan Rwomushana, Bonaventure Aman, Ken Fening, Anderson Kipkoech, Benjamin Muli, George Ongamo, Obadiah Mucheru, Meshack Obonyo, Eric Kouam, Duna Mailafiya, Yusuf Abdullahi, Felix Nchu, Robert Musundire, Simon Muiru, David Mwangi, Naina, Victor, Katharina Merkel, Nigat Bekele, Eddah N'angole, Fikira Kimbokota, Everlyne Nafula, Faith Jebet, Lorna Migiro, Susan Sande. A "coup de chapeau" to my elders, Dr. Espoir Fiaboe, Dr. Maxwell Billah, Dr. Catherine Gitau, Dr. Ruth Gathu, and Dr. Salome Guchu, from whom I got inspiration, encouragement and wise counsel. I also thank Mr Anthony Kibera for his statistical advises.

I thank all the Arthropod Pathology Unit (APU), Red Spider Mites project (RSM), Diamond Back Moth (DBM), and Capacity Building staff, for providing me all the facilities to accomplish my studies. I particularly thank Dr. Bernard Lohr, Dr. Chabi Olaye, Lucy Mutheu, Lilian Igweta, Bernard Muia, Charles Kanyi, Bernard Mulwa, Joseph Mucheru, Geofrey Gachanja, Nicholas Mwikya, Richard Rotich, Elizabeth Ouna, Miriam Kungu, Lisa Omondi, and Mama Maggy Ochanda.

Lastly, I would like to express my gratitude to all my family members, my parents (Mr and Mrs Bugeme, Mr and Mrs Honorable Martin Balikwisha), my brothers (Sylvain Bugeme, Father Xavier Bugeme, Ziga Bugeme, Dr. Marcellin Bugeme), and my sisters (Eugenie Bugeme, Isabelle Bugeme, Espérance Bugeme and Marie-Thérèse Bugeme) who have always been there: calling me, sending me clothes, fish, sausages all the way from the Democratic Republic of Congo, and keeping me updated on the progress back home. Thanks mum!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONii
DEDICATION iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiv
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF TABLES xiii
LIST OF FIGURESxvi
LIST OF ABREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS xviii
ABSTRACTxix
CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Justification
1.3 Objectives
1.3.1 Overall objective
1.3.2 Specific objectives7
1.4 Hypotheses7
CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF LITERATURE
2.1 Spider mite species
2.1.1 Taxonomic position9
2.1.2 Origin, geographic distribution and host plants of <i>T. urticae</i> and <i>T. evansi</i> 10
2.1.2.1 Tetranychus urticae10
2.1.2.2 Tetranychus evansi11

2.1.3 Biology of <i>T. urticae</i> and <i>T. evansi</i>	13
2.1.4 Damage and yield loss due to T. urticae and T. evansi infestation	15
2.1.5 Control of Tetranychid mites	16
2.1.5.1 Cultural control	16
2.1.5.2 Chemical control	16
2.1.5.3 Biological control	18
2.1.5.3.1 Predatory mites	18
2.1.5.3.2 Spiders	20
2.1.5.3.3 Insects	21
2.1.5.3.4 Pathogens	22
2.2 Entomopathogenic fungi	23
2.2.1 Abiotic factors affecting the efficacy of entomopathogenic fungi	24
2.2.1.1 Temperature	24
2.2.1.2 Relative humidity	25
2.2.1.3 Solar radiation and light	25
2.2.2 Biotic factors affecting the efficacy of entomopathogenic fungi	26
2.2.2.1 The pathogen properties	26
2.2.2.2 The host population	26
2.2.3 Infection Process	27
2.3 Safety of entomopathogenic fungi	27
CHAPTER 3: GENERAL MATERIALS AND METHODS	28
3.1 Field surveys	28
3.2 Test crops and Study sites	29
3.3 Spider mite and fungal cultures	30

3.4 Preparation of conidial suspensions
3.5 Bioassays
3.5.1 Pathogenicity tests
3.5.2 Fungal radial growth
3.5.3 Susceptibility of <i>T. urticae</i> and <i>T. evansi</i> stages to fungal infection
3.6 Effect of chemical pesticides on fungal germination and radial growth 32
3.7 Greenhouse and field experiments
3.7.1 Greenhouse experiment
3.7.2 Field experiments
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Materials and methods
4.2.1 Field surveys and collection of spider mite species
4.2.2 Isolation and purification of fungal isolates in the laboratory
4.2.3 Identification of isolates40
4.3 Results
4.4 Discussion
CHAPTER 5: PATHOGENICITY OF BEAUVERIA BASSIANA AND
METARHIZIUM ANISOPLIAE TO ADULT TETRANYCHUS URTICAE AND
TETRANYCHUS EVANSI
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Materials and Methods
5.2.1 Mite cultures
5.2.2 Fungal Isolates
5.2.3 Bioassays

5.2.4 Radial growth
5.2.5 Statistical analysis
5.3 Results
5.3.1 Pathogenicity of fungal isolates against <i>T. urticae</i> and <i>T. evansi</i>
5.3.2 Radial growth
5.4 Discussion
CHAPTER 6: EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE ON GERMINATION, RADIAL
GROWTH AND VIRULENCE OF BEAUVERIA BASSIANA AND
METARHIZIUM ANISOPLIAE TO TETRANYCHUS URTICAE AND
TETRANYCHUS EVANSI
6.1 Introduction
6.2 Materials and Methods61
6.2.1 Mite cultures61
6.2.2 Fungal cultures61
6.2.3 Effect of temperature on germination
6.2.4 Effect of temperature on radial growth
6.2.5 Effect of temperature on virulence
6.2.6 Statistical analysis
6.3 Results
6.3.1 Effect of temperature on germination64
6.3.2 Effect of temperature on radial growth
6.3.3 Effect of temperature on virulence
6.4 Discussion 72

CHAPTER 7: SUSCEPTIBILITY OF TETRANYCHUS URTICAE AND
TETRANYCHUS EVANSI DEVELOPMENTAL STAGES TO INFECTION
BY BEAUVERIA BASSIANA AND METARHIZIUM ANISOPLIAE
7.1 Introduction
7.2 Materials and Methods77
7.2.1 Mite cultures77
7.2.2 Entomopathogenic fungal isolates77
7.2.3 Inoculation of eggs77
7.2.4 Inoculation of larvae, protonymphs, deutonymphs and adults78
7.2.5 Statistical Analysis
7.3 Results
7.3.2 Effect of fungal infection on <i>T. urticae</i> and <i>T. evansi</i> egg hatchability79
7.3.3 Effect of fungal infection on <i>T. urticae</i> and <i>T. evansi</i> motile stages81
Concentrations
B. bassiana
M. anisopliae
7.4 Discussion
CHAPTER 8: EFFECTS OF CHEMICAL PESTICIDES ON GERMINATION
AND RADIAL GROWTH OF BEAUVERIA BASSIANA AND
METARHIZIUM ANISOPLIAE
8.1 Introduction
8.2 Materials and Methods92
8.2.1 Fungi
8.2.2 Chemical pesticides92

8.2.3 Media preparation	94
8.2.5 Effect of chemical pesticides on fungal radial growth	95
8.2.6 Data analysis	95
8.3 Results	95
8.3.1 Effect of chemical pesticides on fungal germination	95
8.3.2 Effect of chemical pesticides on fungal radial growth	96
8.4 Discussion	97
CHAPTER 9: EFFICACY OF THE METARHIZIUM ANISOPLIAE	E STRAIN
ICIPE78 ON THE TETRANYCHUS URTICAE INFESTATION O	ON BEAN
PLANTS GROWN IN THE GREENHOUSE	
9.1 Introduction	
9.2 Materials and methods	
9.2.1 Mite culture	101
9.2.2 Fungal pathogen	
9.2.3 Production of fungal inoculum formulation	101
9.2.4 Greenhouse experiment	102
9.2.4.1 Effect of fungal formulations on T. urticae population dens	ity102
9.2.4.2 Application of treatments	103
9.2.5 Data analysis	
9.3 Results	104
9.3.1 Efficacy of fungal application on <i>T. urticae</i> population density.	104
9.3.2 Efficacy of fungal application on T. urticae-infested P. vulgaris	5
production parameters	106
9.4 Discussion	106

CHAPTER 10: FIELD EVALUATION OF TWO FORMULATIONS OF THE
METARHIZIUM ANISOPLIAE ISOLATE ICIPE78 FOR CONTROL OF
TETRANYCHUS URTICAE AND TETRANYCHUS EVANSI
10.1 Introduction 109
10.2 Materials and Methods110
10.2.1 Mite cultures, fungal isolate and laboratory bioassays110
10.2.2 Study site and experimental conditions
10.2.2.1 Bean and Tomato fields111
10.2.2.1.1 Tomato Nursery111
10.2.2.1.2 Bean and Tomato field experiments111
10.2.3 Statistical analysis
10.3 Results
10.3.1 Bean field experiments113
10.3.1.1 Effect of fungal formulations on T. urticae population densities on
top and middle bean leaves113
10.3.1.2 Effect of fungal treatments on bean production parameters
10.3.2 Tomato field experiments119
10.3.2.1 Effect of fungal application on T. evansi population densities in
tomato
10.3.2.2 Effect of fungal formulations on tomato production parameters123
10.4 Discussion
CHAPTER 11: GENERAL DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND
RECOMMENDATIONS
11.1 General discussion and conclusions128

11.2 Recommendations	
REFERENCES:	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1:	Surveys sites, GPS coordinates, Number of plants sampled per site 41
Table 4.2:	List of new fungal isolates found44
Table 5.1:	List of fungal isolates tested against adult females of T. urticae and
	<i>T. evansi</i> (% viability ± SE)53
Table 5.2:	Percent mortality, LT_{50} and correlation between the fungal radial
	growth and LT ₅₀ values of adult female <i>T. urticae</i> 10 days post-
	treatment at 26 ± 2 °C
Table 5.3:	Percent mortality, LT_{50} and correlation between the fungal radial
	growth and LT ₅₀ values of adult female <i>T. evansi</i> 10 days post-
	treatment at 26 ± 2 °C
Table 5.4:	Fungal radial growth (mm day ⁻¹ \pm SE) at 26 \pm 2°C56
Table 6.1:	Effect of temperature on germination (%) of Beauveria bassiana
	and Metarhizium anisopliae isolates64
Table 6.2:	Effect of temperature on radial growth of Beauveria bassiana and
	Metarhizium anisopliae isolates65
Table 6.3:	Effect of temperature on virulence of Beauveria bassiana and
	Metarhizium anisopliae isolates on Tetranychus urticae (% Mean \pm
	SE)67
Table 6.4:	Effect of temperature on virulence of Beauveria bassiana and
	Metarhizium anisopliae to the two-spotted spider mite, Tetranychus

- Table 6.5: Effect of temperature on virulence of *Beauveria bassiana* and *Metarhizium anisopliae* isolates on adult *Tetranychus urticae*:
 Lethal time to 90% mortality (LT₉₀) (in days) (95% fiducial limits).69

- Table 6.8: Effect of temperature on virulence of *Beauveria bassiana* and
 Metarhizium anisopliae isolates on adult *Tetranychus evansi*:
 Lethal time to 90% mortality (LT₉₀) (in days) (95% fiducial limits)72

- Table 7.3:Susceptibility of *T. urticae* motile stages to infection byMetarhizium anisopliae and Beauveria bassiana 10 days after

treatment at 26 ± 2 °C: Leth	al concentration to 90% mortality
(LC_{90}) (95% fiducial limits))

Table 7.4:	Susceptibility of <i>T. evansi</i> motile stages to infection by
	Metarhizium anisopliae and Beauveria bassiana 10 days after
	treatment at $26 \pm 2 \ ^{\circ}C$ (% mortality \pm SE)

Table 7.6:	Susceptibility of <i>T. evansi</i> motile stages to infection by	
	Metarhizium anisopliae and Beauveria bassiana 10 days after	
	treatment at 26 ± 2 °C: Lethal concentration to 50% mortality	
	(LC ₅₀) (95% fiducial limits)	

- Table 8.2:Effect of pesticides on fungal germination (% viability ± SE).......96
- Table 8.3:Effect of pesticides on fungal radial growth (mm/day)97
- Table 9.1:
 Effect of fungal formulations on bean (*P. vulgaris*) production

 parameters
 106

Table 10.1:	Effect of different treatments on T. urticae-infested common bean	
	(P. vulgaris L.) production parameters (number of pods/plant,	
	number of seeds/pod, weight of dry 100 seeds and weight in	
	metric ton/Ha) during season I and during season II118	

Table 10.2:	Effect of different treatments on <i>T. evansi</i> -infested <i>L. esculentum</i>
	production parameters (number of tomatoes/plant and weight of
	tomatoes/Ha) during season I and season II

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1:	Worldwide distribution of <i>Tetranuchus urticae</i> 11
Figure 2.2:	Map of the world, illustrating predictive modelling of the tomato
	spider mite, Tetranychus evansi, potential worldwide distribution.13
Figure 3.1:	Map of Kenya showing the locations of the survey sites29
Figure 3.2:	B. bassiana (a) and M. anisopliae (b) cultures grown on
	Sabouraud Dextrose Agar (SDA)33
Figure 3.3:	Burgerjon's spray tower
Figure 3.4:	Set up of leaf disc on soaked-cotton wool in Petri dish (a) placed
	in plastic box (b) and placed in an incubator (c) for a laboratory
	pathogenicity test
Figure 3.5:	The greenhouse (a) and bean plants in the greenhouse (b)
Figure 3.6:	Bean (a) and Tomato (b) fields
Figure 4.1:	Photos of fungal isolates found42
Figure 7.1:	Effect of B. bassiana and M. anisopliae infection on T. urticae egg
	hatchability80
Figure 7.2:	Effect of B. bassiana and M. anisopliae infection on T. evansi egg
	hatchability81
Figure 9.1:	Effect of fungal infection on T. urticae population densities on top
	(A) and middle (B) bean (<i>P. vulgaris</i>) leaves105

Figure 10.1:	Effect of the <i>M. anisopliae</i> strain ICIPE78 formulations on the
	population density of <i>T. urticae</i> infesting bean top leaves (A) and
	middle leaves (B) during season I

Figure 10.2:	Effect of the M. anisopliae strain ICIPE78 formulations on the
	population density of <i>T. urticae</i> infesting bean top leaves (A) and
	middle leaves (B) during season II116

Figure 10.3:	Effect of the M. anisopliae strain ICIPE78 formulations on	
	fluctuation of <i>T. evansi</i> population density on tomato top (A) and	
	middle (B) leaves during season I121	
Figure 10.4:	Effect of the M. anisopliae strain ICIPE78 formulations on	
	fluctuation of <i>T. evansi</i> population density on tomato top (A) and	

middle (B) leaves during season II122

LIST OF ABREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BCA	Biological Control Agents
df	Degree of freedom
EPPO	European and Mediterranean Plant Protection
	Organization
FBCA	Fungal Biological Control Agents
GPS	Global Position System
ICIPE	International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology
IPM	Integrated Pest Management
JKUAT	Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology
KARI	Kenya Agriculture Research Institute
L:D	Light-Darkness photoperiod proportion
RH	Relative humidity
SAS	Statistical Analysis System software
SDA	Sabouraud Dextrose Agar
SE	Standard Error
SNK	Student-Newman-Keuls means separation test

ABSTRACT

The two-spotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae* Koch, and the tomato spider mite, *T. evansi* Baker & Pritchard (Acari: Tetranychidae), are among the most important pest of horticultural crops, such as tomato, beans, cur flowers, eggplants and several other vegetables. While *T. urticae* has been known as a worldwide pest of a wide range of horticultural crops both outdoors and in the greenhouses, the importance of *T. evansi* has dramatically increased during the last decade. In Africa, farmers largely rely on synthetic acaricides to control these two pests. However, due to problems related to the use of synthetic acaricides in controlling *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* (mite resistance and environmental contamination), the control of this pest is still a major problem for farmers and attract a strong attention in the world or researchers. Thus non chemical control of the two pests. They include improved crop management, screening for resistance in commercial and wild tomato germplasm and biological control using predatory mites and entomopathogenic fungi.

The aim of this study is to investigate the potential of the entomopathogenic fungi, *Beauveria bassiana* (Balsamo) Vuillemin and *Metarhizium anisopliae* (Metchnikoff) Sorokin (Ascomycotina: Hypocreales), to control the two-spotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae* Koch, and the tomato spider mite, *Tetranychus evansi* Baker & Pritchard (Acari: Tetranychidae), pests of horticultural crops.

Field surveys were carried out in Kerugoya, Kakamega, Machakos, Kitui, Makueni, Kajiado and Taita-Taveta Districts in order to prospect for new fungal isolates for use in the biological control of spider mites. One isolate of *B. bassiana* and three isolates of *M. anisopliae* were found to be associated with spider mite species in the field in Kakamega and in Kerugoya districts, respectively, during the rainy season.

Twenty-six isolates of entomopathogenic mitosporic fungi *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae*, from the ICIPE (International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology) culture collection, were tested in the laboratory to determine their pathogenicity to adult *T. urticae* and *T. evansi*. All the fungal isolates were pathogenic to the two spider mite species, causing mortality ranging between 95.2 to 99.0% (*B. bassiana*) and 36.5 to 100% (*M. anisopliae*) in *T. urticae* and between 83.0 to 95.2% (*B. bassiana*) and 30.4 to 90.5 (*M. anisopliae*) in *T. evansi*. The lethal time to 50% mortality (LT₅₀) values varied from 3.0 to 8.3 days with *T. urticae* and from 4.7 to 8.2 days with and *T. evansi*. The radial growth of *B. bassiana* isolates was lower than *M. anisopliae* ones. The radial growth varied from 2 to 2.6 mm day⁻¹ for *B. bassiana* isolates and from 3.3 to 5.8 mm day⁻¹ for *M. anisopliae* isolates.

The effect of temperature on germination, radial growth and virulence of two isolates of *B. bassiana* and nine of *M. anisopliae* selected during the screening against *T. urticae* and *T. evansi*, was studied in the laboratory. Temperature had significant effects on germination, radial growth and virulence of the various isolates. Over 65.8% of conidia germinated at 20, 25 and 30 °C while between 15.1 and 84.3% germinated at 35 °C. Radial growth was slow at 20 and 35 °C for all isolates, except *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE7 at 35 °C. The optimum temperature for fungal germination was 25 and 30 °C, while the optimum temperature for fungal

radial growth was 30 °C. All the *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* isolates were virulent to both *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* at all the temperatures but the virulence varied with isolates and temperatures. Fungal isolates were more effective at 25, 30 and 35 °C than at 20 °C.

The susceptibility of T. urticae and T. evansi developmental stages to infection by B. bassiana and M. anisopliae was also evaluated in the laboratory. On one hand, the effect of B. bassiana (isolate ICIPE279) and the M. anisopliae (isolates ICIPE7, ICIPE78 and ICIPE84) were tested against T. urticae developmental stages, while on the other hand, the effect of B. bassiana (isolates ICIPE278 and ICIPE279) and M. anisopliae (isolates ICIPE78 and ICIPE84) were tested against T. evansi developmental stages. All stages of T. urticae and T. evansi were susceptible to infection by B. bassiana and M. anisopliae. An increment in the concentration reduced egg hatchability and increased mortality in motile stages. The lowest egg hatchability and the highest mortality occurred at the highest concentration of 1 x 10^7 conidia ml⁻¹. However mature stages (Deutonymphs and Adults) were more susceptible to fungal infection than the immature stages (Larvae and Protonymphs). The lethal concentration to 50% mortality (LC₅₀) values varied from 20.8 to 46.3 x 10^7 , from 0.3 to 0.7 x 10^7 , from 0.2 to 0.4 x 10^7 and from 0.06 to 0.2 x 10^7 conidia ml^{-1} in larvae, protonymphs, deutonymphs and adults, respectively in *T. urticae*, while they varied from 8 to 40.4, from 6.8 to 37.8, from 0.3 to 2.5 and from 0.1 to 0.3×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ in larvae, protonymphs, deutonymphs and adults, respectively, in T. evansi.

The compatibility between *B. bassiana* (isolate ICIPE279) and *M. anisopliae* (isolate ICIPE78) and synthetic acaricides (three insecticides and three fungicides) was studied in the laboratory. The effect of synthetic pesticides on fungal germination and fungal radial growth was evaluated for this purpose. All the synthetic fungicides inhibited the fungal germination, and are therefore not compatible with the two fungal isolates. The synthetic insecticides, however, showed a high compatibility between them and the fungal isolates, except in the case of *B. bassiana* and Malathion. The latter retarded the *B. bassiana* germination.

The effect of *M. anisopliae* (isolate ICIPE78) and Dynamec® (synthetic acaricide with abamectin as active ingredient) on the *T. urticae* population density and on the *T. urticae*-infested bean production parameters, in the greenhouse, was evaluated. There were significant differences in *T. urticae* population densities between the treatments at postal sampling dates post-spraying, in top and middle leaves. At 3 weeks post-spraying the mite densities were near zero in the treated leaves, compared to control (9.23 and 9.84 mites/cm² on top and middle leaves, respectively). At 5 weeks post-treatment, there were no more leaves in the control. There were also significant differences in the number of pods per plant, the number of seeds per pod and the dry weight of seeds per plant between the treatments. Yields were 10.5 and 10.8 more times than the control with fungal and acaricide treatments, respectively.

The effect of *M. anisopliae* (isolate ICIPE78) and the synthetic acaricide (Dynamec) on the population density of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* in the field was assessed. The

aqueous and emulsifiable fungal formulations reduced the population densities of *T*. *urticae* and *T. evansi* infesting bean and tomato plants, respectively. The two fungal formulations were as good control agents as the synthetic acaricide in controlling *T. urticae*. In tomato fields, however, the fungus in emulsifiable oil formulation provided a better control of *T. evansi* than the fungus in water formulation.

The results of this study underline the potential of the entomopathogenic fungi *B*. *bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* as alternative to acaricides for *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* management.

CHAPTER 1: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction

The two-spotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae* Koch, and the tomato spider mite, *Tetranychus evansi* Baker & Pritchard (Acari: Tetranychidae) are among the most economically important spider mite species (Fasulo and Denmark, 2000; Saunyama and Knapp, 2003). They have a world-wide distribution and attack a wide range of wild and cultivated plants including many fruits, cotton, cereals, legumes, vegetables and many ornamental plants (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975; Smith Meyer, 1996; Bolland *et al.*, 1998). They feed on the underside of leaves causing speckling and, in severe cases, premature leaf drop, resulting in yield loss and plant death (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975; Smith Meyer, 1981, 1996).

In Eastern and Southern Africa, the spider mites, *T. urticae* and *T. evansi*, are regarded as some of the serious pests of vegetables. They cause severe damage and crop losses in tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.), bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) and other vegetable fields (Smith Meyer, 1996; Bolland *et al.*, 1998; Knapp *et al.*, 2003a; Saunyama and Knapp, 2003).

Tetranychus urticae is the most important pest species in the family Tetranychidae (Pritchard and Baker, 1955; Bolland *et al.*, 1998). It frequently occurs in glasshouse and outdoor crops (van de Vrie, 1985; Kennedy and Store, 2000). It has been recorded on more than 200 host plants, including ornamental plants (arborvitae, azalea, camellia, citrus, evergreens, hollies, ligustrum, pittosporum, pyracantha, viburnum and roses), fruit plants (blackberries, blueberries and strawberries),

vegetables (tomatoes, beans, squash, eggplant and cucumber), as well as wild crops (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975; Smith Meyer, 1996; Bolland *et al.* 1998; Fasulo and Denmark, 2000; Waterhouse and Sands, 2001).

The tomato spider mite, T. evansi, is probably of South American origin (Gutierrez & Etienne, 1986) and was first recorded in Africa in Zimbabwe in 1979 (Blair, 1983) from where it spread northwards (Smith Meyer, 1996; Knapp et al., 2003b). More recently, it was also reported from Central, Western and Northern Africa (Bonato, 1999; Kreiter et al., 2002; Duverney et al., 2005). It has also been spreading in Southern Europe since 1991 (Ferreira and Carmona, 1995; Ferragut and Escudero, 1999; Castagnoli et al., 2006). Tetranychus evansi is a polyphagous species and has been reported as a destructive pest of Solanaceaous crops which include eggplant, potato, tobacco, nightshade and tomato (Blair, 1983; Moraes and McMurtry, 1985a; Smith Meyer, 1996; Knapp et al., 2003a; Saunyama and Knapp, 2003; Rosa et al., 2005; Fiaboe et al., 2006; Furtado et al., 2006). Tetranychus evansi has also been found feeding on crops such as beans, citrus, cotton, castor bean, ornamentals and on many weed species as Amaranthus, Chenopodium, Convolvulus, Conyza, Diplotaxis, Hordeum murinum, Lavatera, Sonchus (Moraes et al., 1987). In Eastern and Southern Africa, T. evansi is considered as the most important dry season pest of tomatoes and cause severe damage and crop losses in tomato fields (Knapp et al., 2003a,b; Saunyama and Knapp, 2003; Varela et al., 2003). When left uncontrolled in tomato field, for example, T. evansi can destroy plants within 3-5 weeks under hot and dry conditions (Qureshi et al., 1969) and the farmer can loose his production within a week's time (Keizer and Zuurbier, 2001).

For instance, yield losses of up to 90% due to *T. evansi* damage have been reported in Zimbabwe (Saunyama and Knapp, 2003).

The management of these pests has mainly relied on the use of synthetic acaricides (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975; Smith Meyer, 1996; Saunyama and Knapp, 2003; Machini, 2005; Toroitich, 2006). However, due to the excessive use of synthetic acaricides, the environmental and health related problems, and the ability of spider mites to rapidly develop resistance to synthetic acaricides (Cranham and Helle, 1985; van de Vrie, 1985; Hoy, 1998; Jacobson *et al.*, 2001; Herron *et al.*, 2004), there is an increased demand for alternatives that are sustainable and environmental-friendly. Several cultural techniques such as crop rotation, proper field sanitation, uprooting, burning of old crops, reducing the planting distance, use of resistant varieties can reduce the mite populations (Tindall, 1983; Knapp *et al.*, 2003b; Saunyama and Knapp, 2003; Wosula, 2007). In Zimbabwe for instance, the pruning and trellising associated with acaricides was reported to have a strong positive effect on yields and quality of tomatoes as well as the profitability of tomato production in high potential tomato growing areas (Saunyama and Knapp, 2003).

The use of biological control agents constitutes an alternative environmental friendly strategy to control these pests. Traditionally, biocontrol of spider mite species has utilised predatory mites and insects, and recently pathogens (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975; Smith Meyer, 1996; Chandler *et al.*, 2000; van der Geest *et al.*, 2000). For instance, the predatory mite *Phytoseiulus persimilis* Anthias-Henriot (Mesostigmata: Phytoseiidae) has severally been reported in the control of *T. urticae* (Moraes and McMurtry, 1985; Escudero and Ferragut, 2005; Nachman, 2006). Recently, studies

conducted by Collier *et al.* (2007) also showed that *Neoseiulus idaeus* Denmark & Muma (Acari: Phytoseiidae) is a suitable and potential biological control agent of *T. urticae*.

The control of *T. evansi* with the predatory mites, *Neoseiulus californicus* McGregor and *P. persimilis*, was not effective (Moraes and McMurtry, 1985ab, 1986; Escudero and Ferragut, 2005). However, a strain of the predatory mite, *Phytoseiulus longipes* Evans, has shown promising results in laboratory experiments (Ferrero *et al.*, 2007; Furtado *et al.*, 2007). *Stethorus tridens* Gordon (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae) has recently been reported to present a higher productive performance when feeding on *T. evansi*, and can maintain the *T. evansi* population under control (Fiaboe *et al.*, 2007).

Entomopathogenic fungi are the most common pathogens associated with spider mites in the field and have been widely tested in the laboratory (Chandler *et al.*, 2000; van der Geest *et al.*, 2000; Davidson *et al.*, 2001; Maniania *et al.*, 2008). Although little is known on the association between entomopathogenic fungi and *T. evansi* (Humber *et al.*, 1981; Wekesa *et al.*, 2005, 2007; Fiaboe, 2007), several reports on the association between entomopathogenic fungi and *T. urticae* have been reported (Carner and Canerday, 1970; Brandenburg and Kennedy, 1981; Tamai *et al.*, 2002; Irigaray *et al.*, 2003; Chandler *et al.*, 2005).

The entomopathogenic fungi *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* have been reported to cause mortality in several mite species (Barreto *et al.*, 2004; Oliveira *et al.*, 2004; Alves *et al.*, 2005; Brooks and Wall, 2005; Rossi-Zalaf and Alves, 2006), including

the two-spotted spider mite, *T. urticae* (Alves *et al.*, 2002; Tamai *et al.*, 2002; Chandler *et al.*, 2005) and the tomato spider mite, *T. evansi* (Wekesa *et al.*, 2005).

1.2 Justification

Because of their polyphagous nature, *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* are considered as serious pests of several crops all over the world (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975; Smith Meyer, 1996, Bolland *et al.*, 1998).

Application of synthetic acaricides is the most common strategy used to control arthropod pests, including spider mites (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975; Grantwick, 1992; Saunyama and Knapp, 2003). Synthetic acaricides have been used for several years to control spider mite species damage in the greenhouse and in the fields. However, these mite species not only have developed resistance to most of these synthetic acaricides (van de Vrie, 1985; Hoy, 1998; Jacobson *et al.*, 2001; Herron *et al.*, 2004), but they can also present negative effects to the environment (destruction of beneficial insects: natural enemies, honey bees and other pollinator insects; water and air pollution; toxic residue accumulation for people and animals), the users (poisoning) and the consumers (presence of residues in the produce destined for consumption). In addition, the cost of these chemical pesticides is high and they cannot be easily afforded by the small-scale farmers.

Entomopathogenic fungi which infect their hosts through the cuticle and do not need to be ingested like the other pathogens (Chandler *et al.*, 2000), are considered as alternatives to chemical insecticides/acaricides for the control of mouth-sucking arthropods such as spider mites (Strasser *et al.*, 2000). In addition, they are effective and can be produced using low-input technology (Prior, 1988). Entomopathogenic fungi are considered safe to mammals and other non-target organisms (Ferron, 1978; Goettel *et al.*, 1990; Strasser *et al.*, 2000; Goettel and Hajek, 2001; Lacey *et al.*, 2001).

On the other hand Acari are anticipated to be good hosts for fungal pathogens because of their soft body and many inhabit environments with humid microclimates which favour infection and disease transmission (Evans, 1992). Thus, entomopathogenic mitosporic fungi, especially *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae*, have been suggested as effective biological control agents of the spider mite *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* (Irigaray *et al.*, 2003; Chandler *et al.*, 2000, 2005; Wekesa *et al.*, 2005, 2007)

This study aims, therefore, at investigating the potential of the entomopathogenic fungi *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* to control the two-spotted spider mite, *T. urticae* and and the tomato spider mite, *T. evansi*.

1.3 Objectives

1.3.1 Overall objective

To investigate the potential of entomopathogenic fungi to control the economically important spider mite species, *Tetranychus urticae* and *Tetranychus evansi*.

1.3.2 Specific objectives

- a. Bioprospecting for new fungal isolates for use in the biological control of spider mite pests
- b. To assess the pathogenicity of *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* isolates to *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* in the laboratory
- c. To test the effect of temperature on germination, radial growth and virulence of *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* to *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* in the laboratory
- d. To assess the susceptibility of different developmental stages of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* to infection by *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae*
- e. To evaluate the effect of chemical pesticides on germination and radial growth of *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae*
- f. To test the effectiveness of entomopathogenic fungi under greenhouse and field conditions

1.4 Alternative hypotheses

- a) The entomopathogenic fungi, *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* are pathogenic to the economically important spider mite species, *T. urticae* and *T. evansi*
- b) The germination, radial growth and virulence of the entomopathogenic fungi*B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* are influenced by temperature
- c) All the different developmental stages of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* are susceptible to *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* infection
- d) The entomopathogenic fungi, *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* germination and radial growth are affected by chemical pesticides

e) The entomopathogenic fungus *M. anisopliae* cause significant mortality/reduction in the *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* populations under greenhouse and field conditions

CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1 Spider mite species

2.1.1 Taxonomic position

Mites of agricultural importance belong to five families, namely the Tetranychidae, Tenuipalpidae, Penthaleidae, Tarsonemidae and Eriophyidae (Jeppson et al., 1975; Smith Meyer, 1981, 1996). The two-spotted spider mite, Tetranychus urticae Koch, and the tomato spider mite, Tetranychus evansi Baker & Pritchard, belong to the class Arachnida, super order Actinotrichida, order Acari, suborder Prostigmata, super family Tetranychoidae, and to the family Tetranychidae (Jeppson et al., 1975; Smith Meyer, 1996; Bolland et al., 1998; Chandler et al., 2000). Tetranychid mites form the family of phytophagous Acari with the most severe economic effect on agriculture. Several of these mites are injurious to many crops all over the world (Jeppson et al., 1975; Smith Meyer, 1981, 1996; Bolland et al., 1998; Migeon and Dorkeld, 2006). Among the genera that belong to this family, Tetranychus constitutes the most important with a large number of species (Smith Meyer, 1996; Bolland et al., 1998; Migeon and Dorkeld, 2006). From Africa, 40 genera and 319 species of phytophagous tetranychid mites are recognised (Smith Meyer, 1987), and 11 species are known to feed on vegetables in southern Africa (Smith Meyer, 1996; Bolland et al., 1998; CAB International, 2000).

2.1.2 Origin, geographic distribution and host plants of T. urticae and T. evansi

2.1.2.1 Tetranychus urticae

The two-spotted spider mite, T. urticae, was originally described from European specimens and it is considered to be a temperate zone species. However, it is also found in the subtropical regions (Fasulo and Denmark, 2000). Tetranychus urticae is worldwide distributed and has been recorded on more than 200 host plants, including ornamental plants (arborvitae, azalea, camellia, citrus, evergreens, hollies, ligustrum, pittosporum, pyracantha, viburnum and roses), fruit crops (blackberries, blueberries and strawberries), vegetables (tomatoes, beans, squash, eggeplant and cucumber), as well as wild crops (Jeppson et al., 1975; Smith Meyer, 1996; Bolland et al., 1998; Fasulo and Denmark, 2000; Migeon and Dorkeld, 2006). It frequently occurs in glasshouse and outdoor crops (van de Vrie, 1985; Kennedy and Store, 2000). Wind plays an important role in its dispersal. As a consequence, other crops such as wild plants or weeds can serve as a source of infestation. In the greenhouse this mite is dispersed on clothing and implements. Tetranychus urticae mites feed and breed throughout the year, except in areas of extreme cold where they remain quiescent in winter and hibernate as females on the ground under leaves, in cracks, crevices, and other sheltered places. They are most numerous in hot, dry weather, with population often declining after rain (Smith Meyer, 1996).



Figure 2.1: Worldwide distribution of *T. urticae* (Yellow dots) (Source: CAB International 2000).

2.1.2.2 Tetranychus evansi

Tetranychus evansi, also known as tobacco spider mite or tomato spider mite, originated from South American and was accidentally introduced into other parts of the world (EPPO, 2004). Found for the first time in Brazil, it was identified as *Tetranychus mariane* McGregor (Moraes *et al.*, 1987). An account of the world distribution of these two related species up to the mid 1980s and redescriptions of both was given by Moraes *et al.* (1987). In Africa, *T. evansi* was first recorded from tobacco in Zimbabwe in 1979 (Blair, 1983) from where it spread northwards (Smith Meyer, 1996; Knapp *et al.*, 2003b). Since then *T. evansi* has been reported in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), Ethiopia, Gambia, Kenya, Malawi, Maurice isle, Morocco, Mozambique, Namibia, Seychelles, Somalia, South Africa, Tanzania, Tunisia and Zambia (Gutierez and Etienne, 1986; Mingochi and Jensen, 1986; Smith

Meyer, 1996; El-jaouani, 1988; Bolland *et al.*, 1998; Bonato, 1999; Kreiter *et al.*, 2002; EPPO, 2004; Duverney *et al.*, 2005; Migeon and Dorkeld, 2006; Knapp, personal communication). It has also been reported in the USA and Puerto Rico (Moraes *et al.*, 1987), Portugal (Ferreira & Carmona, 1995), Spain (Ferragut & Escudero, 1999) and France (Migeon, 2005).

Tetranychus evansi is a polyphagous mite species, but seems to have a strong preference for solanaceous plants. The most frequent host plants are: Capsicum frutescens L. (= annum L.) (sweet pepper), Lycopersicon esculentum Mill. (tomato), Nicotiana tabacum L. (tobacco), Nicotiana galuca Grah. (tree or wild tobacco), Solanum tuberosum L. (potato), Solanum douglasii Dun., Solanum melongena L. (eggplant = aubergine), Solanum nigrum L. (black or deadly nightshade) (Moraes and Flechtmann, 1981; Blair, 1983; Moraes et al., 1987; EPPO, 2004; Rosa et al. 2005; Migeon and Dorkeld, 2006; Fiaboe, 2007). However, several other studies have reported T. evansi from Acanthaceae, Amaranthaceae, Anacardiaceae, Araceae, Aristolochiaceae, Asparagaceae, Asteraceae (Compsitae), Bixaceae, Brassicaceae (cruciferae), Chenopodiaceae, Convolvilaceae, Cupressaceae, Fabaceae (leguminosae), Fumariaceae, Geraniaceae, Hydrophyllaceae, Malvaceae, Myrtaceae, Passifloraceae, Poaceae, Scrophylariaceae, Tiliaceae and Urticaceae families (Bolland et al., 1998; Keizer and Zuurbier, 2001; EPPO, 2004; Migeon and Dorkeld, 2006). Tetranychus evansi is nowadays one of the major constraints in tomato production in Mozambique, Malawi, Namibia and Zambia (Saunyama and Knapp, 2003), and in Kenya where it was detected in 2001 (Knapp et al., 2003b; Varela et al., 2003).



Figure 2.2: Map of the world, illustrating predictive modelling of *Tetranychus evansi* worldwide distribution. Red areas in the map indicate higher probability of potential distribution; the darker the area, the higher the probability (Source: Fiaboe, 2007)

2.1.3 Biology of T. urticae and T. evansi

The development of both *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* passes through 5 stages, namely egg, lava, protonymph, deutonymph and adult. Males are usually smaller than females and are straw-coloured. The body of females is oval and up to about 0.3-0.5 mm long. Both *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* prefer laying their eggs on the lower leaf surface at the junction of veins. High humidities result in increased oviposition. Apart from their sexual reproduction, arrhenotoky, where unfertilised females give rise to only male progeny, is also common (Smith Meyer, 1996).

Tetranychus urticae mites are oval and up to about 0.5 mm in length. Adult females are brownish red, straw-coloured or green, with a dark blotch on each side. Legs are
pale to yellowish. Larvae and nymphs (protonymphs and deutonymphs) are usually straw-coloured but can vary from light orange to yellow or reddish green, with a dark spot on each side (where the common name of two spotted red spider mite originated). The eggs are pearly-pink, light red or ivory-white and spherical. Under optimal conditions the eggs hatch after 3-5 days. Initially larvae are orange, but turn green after feeding. When 2-3 days old, larvae undergo a short quiescent period and then moult to the protonymphs. After a further 2-3 days and a short period of quiescence the protonymphs moult to the deutonymphs, which after 2 days and a short period of quiescence emerge into adults. Larvae have six legs while protonymphs, deutonymphs and adults are eight-legged. The entire life is completed in 10-14 days, depending on temperature and relative humidity (Smith Meyer, 1996). Males typically mate more than once while for the females only the first mating is effective. The adult females live two to four weeks and are capable of laying several hundred eggs during their life (100 to 150 eggs in 20-30 days) (Smith Meyer, 1996; Fasulo and Denmark, 2000).

Adult females of *T. evansi* are orange-red with reddish legs. Adult males are strawto orange-coloured. Unlike *T. urticae*, the spots on the prodorsum for *T. evansi* are indistinct. Oviposition begins a day after emergence and females reach their maximum egg-laying capacity on the fourth day. At this time they may oviposit up to 30 eggs per day, after which the rate of oviposition decreases (Qureshi *et al.*, 1969; Smith Meyer, 1996). At 23°C and 49-50% RH, within 3-4 days, the eggs hatch. Larvae are cream-coloured and turn greenish-yellow after feeding. After 2-3 days with a short period of quiescence, the larvae moult into protonymphs, which after 2-3 days and a short quiescent period moult into deutonymphs. Again after 3 days and short resting period, deutonymphs moult into adults; the whole process, resulting in a shorter life cycle of 9-12 days (Smith Meyer, 1996). *Tetranychus evansi*'s life cycle can be shorter or longer depending on temperature conditions. For instance Bonato (1999) reported developmental times from egg to adult of 13.6, 9.8, 7.8 and 6.3 days at 21, 26, 31 and 36 °C, respectively. Moraes and McMurtry (1987) reported developmental times between 46.3 and 6.5 days at 15 and 35 °C, respectively. The longevity of fertilised females is 13-32 days whereas unfertilised females live 27-39 days. Reproduction continues throughout the year, resulting in 24-30 generations per year (Smith Meyer, 1996).

2.1.4 Damage and yield loss due to *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* infestation

Tetranychus urticae and *T. evansi* mites initially feed on the lower surface but as the population increases, they spread over the entire plant. The first symptoms of injury are chlorotic stipples on the leaves; large areas subsequently turn yellow and leaves become convex. In severe infestations the leaves become bronzed, dry out and fall off (Smith Meyer, 1996; ICIPE, 2004).

Consequently, chlorophyll content, photosynthetic activity, CO_2 assimilation and transpiration are reduced. It has been estimated that 18 to 20 cells are destroyed per minute (Fasulo and Denmark, 2000). Disturbance of metabolic process results in decreased growth, flowering and cropping (Mathews and Tanstall, 1994). Mites and their webbing can clearly be seen on the underside of the leaf, and in severe infestations, on the entire plant (Smith Meyer, 1996; Craemer *et al.*, 1998).

Therefore a reduction in yield production is observed. In Zimbabwe, for example, a yield loss of up to 90% in tomato field was attributed to *T. evansi* damage (Knapp *et al.*, 2003a). In bean, however, *T. urticae* has been reported to cause reduction in plant height, flowering, pod number and length, number of seeds per pod and mean seed weight (Papaioannou-Souliotis, 1979).

2.1.5 Control of Tetranychid mites

2.1.5.1 Cultural control

Several cultural techniques such as crop rotation, proper field sanitation, uprooting, burning of old crops, reducing the planting distance, use of resistant varieties can reduce the mite populations (Tindall, 1983). However they vary between production zones and depend on the environmental conditions of production areas. In Zimbabwe for example, the pruning and trellising associated with acaricides was reported to have a strong positive effect on yields and quality of tomatoes as well as the profitability of tomato production in high potential tomato growing areas (Saunyama and Knapp, 2003). Since water stress favours the development of spider mite population, plants should adequately be irrigated during the dry season.

2.1.5.2 Chemical control

Synthetic acaricides are the most common strategies used for control of spider mite species (Cranham and Helle, 1985; Grantwick, 1992; Smith Meyer, 1996; Jacbson *et al.*, 2001; Herron *et al.*, 2004). In Kenya, several synthetic acaricides are used for the control of spider mite species. Among them dicofol, lambda-cyhalothrin,

dimethoate, cypermethrin, bifenthrin, propargite and sulphur are the most used (Machini, 2005; Toroitich, 2006). Spider mites, however, rapidly develop resistance to these pesticides, particularly when they are used for several consecutive seasons (van de Vrie, 1985; Smith Meyer, 1996; Hoy, 1998; Varela *et al.*, 2003).

Tetranychus urticae, for example, has been reported to be resistant to several insecticides/acaricides (Whalon and Mota-Sanchez, 2000) including bifenthrin (Kolmes *et al.*, 1994), dicofol (Kolmes *et al.*, 1994; Rossi and Conti, 1997; Karban and Zalom, 1998), propargite (Goodwin *et al.*, 1995), and dimethoate (Jensen and Mingochi, 1988). Bynum *et al.* (1997) reported that metabolic degradation and target site insensitivity may be involved in mite resistance. General esterase and glutathione- S-Transferases (GST) are related to, and possibly responsible for changes in susceptibility of *T. urticae* to several insecticides particularly the synthetic pyrethroids (Yang *et al.*, 2001).

Rotation of acaricides with different chemical compositions is necessary to avoid or delay development of resistance. Preventive application of dosages lower than recommended should be avoided since this may lead to resistance. Use of specific acaricides at appropriate doses and times of application are essential, and use of broad spectrum insecticides should be avoided as much as possible (Smith Meyer, 1996; Varela *et al.*, 2003).

Up to now, there are no published data on the effectiveness of the principle acaricides used in the control of *T. evansi*. In Africa, several products in different

formulations have been tested in laboratory in order to determine their effect on the pest (Blair, 1989; Machini, 2005; Toroitich, 2006).

2.1.5.3 Biological control

Natural enemies (predatory mites, insects, spiders and pathogens) are very important agents in reducing and/or regulating populations of plant-feeding mites (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975; Helle and Sabelis, 1985ab; Smith Meyer, 1996) and are being used to control spider mite species.

2.1.5.3.1 Predatory mites

Mites of the family Phytoseiidae are the most effective and widespread predators of injurious plant-feeding mites (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975; Moraes *et al.*, 2004). These predators present a big interest for the integrated pest management, and some of them are effective for the control of mite populations, especially of Tetranychidae and Eriophyidae families (Kreiter & Brian, 1986; McMurtry & Croft, 1997).

The control of *T. urticae* by the Phytoseiidae mites is currently practiced in protected crops in Europe, Asia, Africa, Australia and North America. The common predators used are *P. persimilis* and *N. californicus*. They are used either separately or in association (Gerson *et al.*, 2003; Zhang, 2003). Introduced in the USA for the control of *T. urticae* on strawberry at the end of 1970s, *Phytoseiulus persimilis*'s establishment was successful and gave the satisfactory results in reducing the pest

population (Moraes, 2002). Similar results were obtained in Florida (van de Vrie & Price, 1994). In Brazil, Watanabe *et al.* (1994) demonstrated, under field conditions, the effectiveness of two native species, *N. idaeus* Denmark & Muma and *Phytoseiulus macropilis* (Banques) in reducing *T. urticae* population on strawberry when released at the beginning of the infestation by the pest. These predators have also been reported to be effective in the control of *T. urticae* on vegetables (Pickett and Gilstrap, 1986, Smith Meyer, 1996).

For *T. evansi*, there are no indications that the use of *P. persimilis* can significantly reduce its population (Moraes and McMurtry, 1985b, 1986). However, the association between T. evansi and the following predatory mites has been reported in Brazil and in Argentina Furtado (2006). In Brazil: Euseius citrifolius Denmark & Muma, Euseius concordis (Chant), Euseius ho (De Leon), Euseius inouei (Ehara & Moraes), Galendromus annectens (De Leon), Neoseiulus californicus (McGregor), Neoseiulus idaeus Denmark & Muma, Phytoseiulus fragariae Denmark & Schicha, Phytoseiulus longipes Evans, P. macropilis (Banks), Proprioseiopsis mexicanus (Garman), Proprioseiopsis ovatus (Garman), and Typhlodromalus aripo De Leon. In Argentina: Euseius caseariae De Leon, E. citrifolius, E. concordis, N. Californicus, N. Idaeus, Neoseiulus tunus (De Leon), P. Fragariae and Proprioseiopsis cannaensis (Muma). This may explain the reason why the population of T. evansi population was low in the field. However, among all these predators found in Brazil and Argentina, P. longipes was reported to be the most frequent and the most abundant predator associated with T. evansi. An assessment of the acceptance of T. evansi as prey for P. longipes was then studied in the laboratory and the results

revealed that *P. longipes* presents a higher productive performance than other phytoseiid mites when feeding on *T. evansi*. According to Furtado (2006), *P. longipes* prefers *T. evansi* than *T. urticae*, even when it has been fed by the latter for 77 days, and concluded that *P. longipes* is a potential biological control agent of *T. evansi*.

Predatory mites other than the Phytoseiidae family include certain species in the families Bdellidae, Anystidae, Cheyletidae, Erythreidae, Stigmaeidae, Tarsonemidae and Tydeidae (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975). There are also several known mite predators among the family Stigmaeidae. For instance, *Zetzellia mali* (Ewing) is a predator of *T. urticae*, *P. ulmi*, the brown mite and other mites on fruit trees in North America, Europe, and Israel (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975).

2.1.5.3.2 Spiders

Spiders are almost ubiquitous and have been known to prey on insects. More than 30 species of spiders are known to feed on phytophagous mites in apple orchards in Canada; also as many species of spiders are known in Japan to be mite predators. The small or young spiders feed on mites, but evidence on the use of spiders as biocontrol agents of mites is still lacking (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975; Knapp, pers. comm.).

2.1.5.3.3 Insects

Orders Coleoptera, Neuroptera, Hemiptera, and Diptera contain mite predators (Jeppson et al., 1975). Stethorus species (Coleoptera: Coccinallidae) have been reported to control mites such as Eotetranychus sexmaculatus, Eutetranychus banksi, Oligonychus pratensis, P. ulmi. For example, Stethorus japonicus is considered to be an important predator of T. urticae and the Kanzawa spider mite, T. kanzawai in apple, citrus, tea, pear, hydrangea and kudzu vine (Gotoh and Gomi, 2000; Kishimoto, 2000). Stethorus punctillum is also reported to feed on T. urticae, but the prey preference varies with the stage of S. pinctillum. The predation appeared to be higher in the adult than in all larval stages of S. punctillum (Ragkou et al., 2004). The high rate of T. urticae consumption by S. punctillum adults suggests that this species has certain advantages as a potential biocontrol agent, due to their dispersal characteristics during augmentation releases of this species. Oligota species (Coleoptera: Staphylinidae) were also reported as control agents of mites such as P. citri, P. ulmi, Apple mites, Subtropical fruit mites, deciduous fruit mites. Amthocorus musculus Say (Hemiptera: Anthocoridae) was reported to feed on P. ulmi (Koch) in Nova Scotia, while A. nemorum L. on T. utricae living on beans in England. Recently Fiaboe (2007) found Stethorus tridens Gordon associated with T. evansi in the field, and reported the insect as a promising potential biological control agent of the mite species.

2.1.5.3.4 Pathogens

Pathogens have been reported to reduce populations of some mites including hibernating populations of *T. urticae* (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975). A bacterial toxin, thuringiensin, a toxin produced by *Bacillus thuringiensis* Berliner was tested against *T. urticae* and was found to have potential as an acaricide (Royalty *et al.*, 1990). The toxic effect of thuringiensin on reduction of oviposition of *T. urticae* was also demonstrated by Guo *et al.* (1993).

Viral diseases are known in only a few mites, namely, the European red mite, *P. ulmi* and the citrus red mite, *P. citri* (van der Geest *et al.*, 2000) where they play an important role in the regulation of mite populations in citrus and peach orchads. Although the first viral disease in mites was reported by Muma (1955), the application of viruses as inundative biological control agents does not seem practicable.

Until now, there are yet no reports on the association of microsporidia with T. *urticae* and *T. evansi*. However, protozoa associated with mites are found in the phylum Apicomplexa, in the classes Gregarinia and Coccidia, and the phylum Microspora (Purrin *et al.*, 1979).

Entomopathogenic fungi are the most common pathogens infecting mites naturally in the field. One of the first observations of a fungus infecting Tetranychid mites dates form 1951 by Fisher in Florida. Reviews on entomopathogenic fungi on spider mites are the ones by Chandler *et al.* (2000) and van der Geest *et al.* (2000). More recently, Maniania *et al.* (2008) reviewed the role of entomopathogenic fungi in the control of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi.* Chandler *et al.* (2000) divided the fungal pathogens into three functional groups as follows: Acari-specific pathogens (some of which are important natural regulations of phytophagous mites); "No-specialist" species of fungi which infect a range of insects and Acari; and finally "Minor" species which are rarely reported as pathogens of Acari and not been studied for biological control.

2.2 Entomopathogenic fungi

The characteristics that are needed before an entomopathogenic fungus can be considered as a potential microbial pesticide include: high virulence, rapid mode of action, a broad host range, stability in culture and storage, amenability to submerged fermentation, amenability to quantitative bioassay, and safety to workers (McCoy, 1990). Acari are anticipated to be good hosts for fungal pathogens because they are soft bodied and many inhabit environments with humid microclimates which favour infection and disease transmission (Evans, 1992). About 750 species of entomopathogenic fungi, attacking arthropods are distributed approximately throughout the whole kingdom of fungi (Hawksworth *et al.*, 1995). In spite of this great number, only about 90 species have received more attention and have been studied intensively for use against important agricultural pests and medical vectors (Gillespie and Moorhouse, 1990). Entomopathogenic fungi, in common with other insect natural enemies, can be employed under broad biological control strategies,

namely classical biological control, augmentation and conservation (Goettel *et al.*, 2001; Shah and Pell, 2003).

2.2.1 Abiotic factors affecting the efficacy of entomopathogenic fungi

2.2.1.1 Temperature

Temperature not only regulates the physiology of the fungus and insect, but also the ability of the fungus to infect the host. It is one of the principal factors affecting the effectiveness of entomopathogenic fungi. It also affects the progression of disease and the time of death (Benz, 1987; Inglis *et al.*, 2001). For example, Ekesi *et al.* (1999) assessed the effect of four temperatures (15, 20, 25 and 30 °C) on germination, radial growth and virulence of fungal isolates of *M. anisopliae* and *B. bassiana* on the legume flower thrips, *Megalurothrips sjostedti* (Trybom). They found that germination, radial growth and the virulence does not vary only with isolates but also with the temperature, fungal isolates being most effective at 25 and 30 °C. Dimbi *et al.* (2004) also reported that the susceptibility of the three species of African tephritid fruit flies, *Ceratitis corysa* (Walker), *C. capitata* (Wiedemann) and *C. fsciventris* (Bezzi) to *M. anisopliae* infection varies with temperature. In general, optimum temperatures for the germination, growth, sporulation and virulence of entomopathogenic mitosporic fungi range between 20-30 °C (Ferron, 1978; Hall and Papierock, 1982).

2.2.1.2 Relative humidity

High humidity is essential for spores of entomopathogenic fungi to germinate, penetrate the cuticle and sporulate on cadavers (Benz, 1987; Hajek *et al.*, 1990; Inglis *et al.*, 2001). However, Fargues *et al.* (1997) reported that *M. anisopliae* var. *acridum* can infect the desert locust at relative humidities as low as 13% and the fungus can even produce spores within cadavers under dry weather conditions. Water, either liquid or vapour, has been recognised as essential for the germination of spores of most fungi, and furthermore, high atmospheric humidities are known to favour development of epizootic mycosis (Ferron, 1978). However, many studies on the effect of the relative humidity on the virulence of fungal strains against arthropod pests have not yet been conducted (Maniania, personal communication).

2.2.1.3 Solar radiation and light

Solar radiation constitutes one of the most important factors affecting propagules persistence in the environment. Conidia of entomopathogenic fungi are susceptible to solar radiation, especially ultra-violet radiation (Inglis *et al.*, 2001). For instance, exposure of conidia formulated in oil for 2 hours to radiation below 320 nm reduced germination from 99.0% to 37.5% after incubation for 48 hours (Moore *et al.*, 1993) However, in spite of the detrimental effects of ultra-violet radiation, light has been reported to stimulate mycelial growth, intensity of sporulation and germination of spores of *B. bassiana* (Benz, 1987). Tang and Hou (2001) reported that the virulence of *N. rileyi* against the larval stage of *H. armigera* was higher when incubated under full (24 hours) and half-light (12 hours) than under full darkness.

2.2.2 Biotic factors affecting the efficacy of entomopathogenic fungi

2.2.2.1 The pathogen properties

Major biological properties of a pathogen involved in causing diseases are method of infection, virulence, pathogenicity (infectivity), and replication. Pathogen properties, however, vary with different types of pathogens (viruses, bacteria, fungi, protozoa, and nematodes). Virulence and infectivity are the most important properties and are essential elements in the selection of a suitable candidate for microbial control (Tanada and Fuxa, 1987).

2.2.2.2 The host population

The susceptibility of arthropods to entomopathogenic fungi can be influenced by different factors such as the population density, behaviour, age, genetics, exposure to injury and nutrition (Tanada and Fuxa, 1987; Inglis *et al.*, 2001). Maniania *et al.* (1998) reported that when reared on different cultivars of *Sorghum bicolor* (Linnaeus), the time to 50% mortality (LT_{50}) of larvae of the stem borer, *Chilo partellus* (Swinhoe), when infested by *M. anisopliae* varies significantly. All the developmental stages of the host are not, at all time, equally susceptible to entomopathogenic fungi. For example, Wekesa *et al.* (2006) reported that adults and deutonymphs of *T. evansi* are more susceptible to *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* than larvae and protonymphs. Similar phenomenon was observed in the cassava

green mite, *Mononychellus tanajoa* Bondar, when infested by *Neozygites floridana* (Oduor, 1995).

2.2.3 Infection Process

Pathogenic fungi infect their host through the external integument (cuticle). Some Hyphomycetes have also been reported to infect their host through the digestive tract and the respiratory system (Ferron, 1978; Goettel and Inglis, 1997; Inglis and Goettel, 2001; Maniania *et al.*, 2002). Three phases are recognised in the development of fungal infection process and disease development: adhesion and germination, penetration of the host integument and intra-haemocoelian development of the fungus (Ferron, 1978; Inglis and Goettel, 2001).

2.3 Safety of entomopathogenic fungi

Several studies have shown that Fungal Biological Control Agents (FBCAs) can be used effectively and safely to control invertebrate pests with minimal adverse effects on non-target organisms. They have reduced inputs of harmful synthetic chemical pesticides in agricultural, horticultural and forest systems. They are in most of cases host specific and do not secrete copious metabolites in the environment (Strasser *et al.*, 2000; Goettel and Hajek, 2001; Vestergaard *et al.*, 2003; Zimmermann, 2007). Although FBCAs are considered to be environmentally-friendly, they could potentially pose some risks in the form of toxicity, allergies or direct infection to non-target organisms (humans, domestic animals and wildlife), and to the environment (Vestergaard *et al.*, 2003). For instance, a human patient with empyema caused by *B. bassiana* was recently reported (Gürcan *et al.*, 2006). Consequently, even if risks are limited and are not well known, care should be taken into account, when applying FBCAs in crop protection programmes.

CHAPTER 3: GENERAL MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Field surveys

Field surveys were conducted in Kerugoya, Kakamega, Kitui, Machakos, Makueni, Kajiado, and Taita-Taveta Districts (Figure 3.1) for collection of spider mite species. Mites were collected from tomato, bean and any other alternative host plant of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi*.



Figure 3.1: Map of Kenya showing the locations of the survey sites.

3.2 Test crops and Study sites

Bean, *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. and Tomato, *Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill., were grown in the greenhouse at the International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology (ICIPE), Headquarters, Duduville, Nairobi, and used for rearing *T. urticae* and *T. evansi*, respectively. Laboratory and greenhouse experiments were conducted

at the ICIPE Headquarters while field experiments were conducted at the Kenya Agriculture Research Institute (KARI), Thika station, Thika, Kenya.

3.3 Spider mite and fungal cultures

Stock cultures of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* were maintained at room temperature of 23-30 °C and 40-70% RH under a photoperiod of L:D 12:12. They were established in the laboratory at the ICIPE Headquarters.

The fungal isolates of *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* used in the different experiments were sourced from the ICIPE Arthropod Germplasm centre where they were preserved at -20 °C. Their accession number, host/substrate, locality and year of isolation are given in Table 5.1 (see Chapter 5). The fungal isolates were then maintained on Sabouraud Dextrose Agar (SDA) in Petri dishes at room temperature of 23-30 °C and 40-70 % RH after they were retrieved from freezer (Figure 3.2).

3.4 Preparation of conidial suspensions

Conidia were harvested from 3 week-old cultures by scrapping the surface using a sterile rubber. Spores were suspended in 20 ml sterile 0.05% Triton X-100 water solution in universal glass bottles containing 3 mm glass beads. Bottles were then vortexed for 5 min to produce a homogenous conidial suspension. Conidial concentration was determined by using a haemocytometer and the desired concentration was obtained by serial dilutions. Viability of conidia was determined before every bioassay by spread-plating 0.1 ml of conidial suspension (titrated to 3×10^6 conidia ml⁻¹) on SDA plates. A sterile cover slip was placed on each plate and

incubated at 26 ± 2 °C. The percentage germination was determined after 15 hours from 100-spore counts on each plate, using a compound microscope at $400 \times$ magnification.

3.5 Bioassays

3.5.1 Pathogenicity tests

A single dose of 1.0×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ was used to evaluate the pathogenicity of the 26 fungal strains on the adult stage of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi*. Ten (10) ml of conidial suspension was sprayed onto both sides of bean and tomato leaf discs (25 mm diameter) using Burgerjon's spray tower (Burgerjon, 1956) (Figure 3.3). Leaf discs were allowed to dry for 20 minutes and transferred to Petri dishes. Mites (20) were then introduced to the treated leaf discs (Figure 3.4). Petri dishes were sealed with Parafilm membrane and incubated at 26 ± 2 °C (Figure 3.4). Controls were treated with sterile distilled water containing 0.05 % Triton X-100. Mortality was recorded daily for 10 days (see Chapter 5).

3.5.2 Fungal radial growth

A conidia suspension of 1×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ was spread-plated on SDA plates. Plates were then incubated at 26 ± 2 °C for 3 days in order to obtain mycelial mats. The unsporulated mycelial mats were cut from culture plates into round agar plugs using an 8-mm diameter cork borer (Rapilly, 1968). Each agar plug was then transferred singly onto the centre of a fresh SDA plate. Plates were sealed with Parafilm membrane and incubated in complete darkness at 26 ± 2 °C. Radial growth was then recorded daily for 10 days (see Chapter 6).

3.5.3 Susceptibility of T. urticae and T. evansi stages to fungal infection

The susceptibility of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* developmental stages (eggs, larvae, protonymphs, deutonymphs and adults) to infection by selected isolates of *B. bassiana* (isolates ICIPE278, ICIPE279) and *M. anisopliae* (isolates ICIPE7, ICIPE78, ICIPE84) was assessed. These isolates were chosen because of their virulence to *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* at broad range of temperature. The treatments consisted of four concentrations: 3×10^5 , 1×10^6 , 3×10^6 and 1×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹. Controls were treated with sterile distilled water. Egg hatchability and mortality in motile stages were monitored daily for 7 and 10 days, respectively (see Chapter 7).

3.6 Effect of chemical pesticides on fungal germination and radial growth

The effect of synthetic pesticides on germination and radial growth of two fungal isolates (*B. bassiana* isolate ICIPE279 and *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE78) was studied in the laboratory (see Chapter 8).

3.7 Greenhouse and field experiments

3.7.1 Greenhouse experiment

Potted-bean plants (Figure 3.5) were artificially infested with *T. urticae*. The *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE78 in aqueous and emulsifiable (oil) formulations and an acaricide solution were sprayed on infested plants. A concentration of 1×10^8 conidia ml⁻¹ was used for both fungal formulations (Wekesa et al., 2005). The *T.*

urticae population densities on top and middle leaves, was evaluated 2 days before, and weekly after the first spraying. Spraying was done 3 times at the interval of 10 days. The production parameters (number of pods per plant, number of seeds per pod and weight of dry seeds per plant) were also evaluated (see chapter 9).

3.7.2 Field experiments

The procedure for field experiments was similar to that of the greenhouse experiment. The only difference is that there were two different fields, one with bean plants, infested by *T. urticae*, and another one with tomato plants infested by *T. evansi* (Figure 3.6). For more details, see chapter 10.



Figure 3.2: (a) Beauveria bassiana and (b) Metarhizium anisopliae pure cultures



Figure 3.3: Burgerjon's spray tower



(a)

(b)



Figure 3.4: (a) set up of leaf disc on soaked-cotton wool in Petri dish (b) placed in plastic box (c) and placed in an incubator for a laboratory pathogenicity test.



(a)



(b)

Figure 3.5: Potted bean plants in the greenhouse





Figure 3.6: (a) Bean and (b) Tomato fields

CHAPTER 4: PROSPECTING FOR DISCOVERY OF NEW FUNGAL ISOLATES FOR BIOLOGICAL CONTROL OF SPIDER MITE SPECIES

4.1 Introduction

Entomopathogenic fungi are promising alternatives to chemical insecticides. There is significant interest in developing fungal biological control agents (FBCAs) for use in crop protection programmes (Strasser *et al.*, 2000). Fungi have one of the widest host ranges among the pathogens of arthropods (Inglis *et al.*, 2001). They exhibit a very wide range of host specificity. Some species are very host-specific (Chandler *et al.*, 2000; Strasser *et al.*, 2000; Goettel *et al.*, 2001), while others are generalists and are known from a wide range of hosts (Goettel *et al.*, 2001). Fungal BCAs have reduced inputs of harmful synthetic chemical pesticides in agricultural, horticultural and forest systems. Considerable progress has been made in the development of fungal BCAs for the control of pests (arthropods, nematodes), weeds and plant diseases (Butt *et al.*, 1999; Goettel *et al.*, 2001). Butt *et al.* (1999) reported that most fungal BCAs are found world-wide and exotic strains can be efficacious for indigenous pests.

Mycopesticides have features that provide ecologically sound pest control compared to chemical pesticides (Moore and Prior, 1993). They are safe to humans and other non-targets, selective to varying degrees, often suitable for integrated pest control programmes, may provide extended periods of control by remaining in the environment or even establish permanently and are biodegradable (Goettel and Johnson, 1992; Lacey *et al.*, 2001). Strasser *et al.* (2000) reported that BCAs do not pose a health risk because they are host specific and do not secrete copious

metabolites in the environment. Acari are anticipated to be good hosts for fungal pathogens because they are soft bodied and many inhabit environments with humid microclimates which favour infection and disease transmission (Evans, 1992; Hajek & St Leger, 1994; Chandler *et al.*, 2000).

Although few field trials have been undertaken to evaluate the effect of entomopathogenic fungi against spider mite species, several reports have been published on natural incidence of entomopathogenic fungi on tetranychid mites (Humber *et al.*, 1981; Brandenburg and Kennedy, 1981; Smitley *et al.*, 1986; Chandler *et al.*, 2000; van der Geest *et al.*, 2000; Fiaboe 2007; Furtado *et al.*, 2007; Maniania *et al.*, 2008). The aim of this study was therefore to prospect for new fungal isolates, potential natural enemies of spider mite species, for the use in their biological control; and the reasons of prospecting for new isolates were due to the fact that it has generally been reported that fungal strains isolated from specific hosts are more virulent to the same hosts than to the others (Maniania 1992; Pena *et al.*, 1996; Meikle *et al.*, 2005), and can therefore be used in an IPM programs for the pest ("specific hosts") control.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Field surveys and collection of spider mite species

Field surveys were conducted in Kerugoya, Kakamega, Machakos, Kitui, Makueni, Kajiado and Taita-Taveta Districts (Figure 3.1) for collection of spider mite species. Collections were focused on tomato and bean growing farms though this was extended to other alternative spider mite host plants, such as *Amaranthus* spp., water melon, cassava, potatoes, eggplants, Cowpea, roses and several weeds. Mites were collected from 10 plants, randomly chosen per field. Both live and dead spider mites found on leaves were collected and kept in brown paper bags, which were then transferred to separate plastic paper bags and kept in a cool box (containing ice blocs) to minimise stress on the organisms and retard unwanted saprophytic growth until examination in the laboratory (Lacey and Brooks, 1997). On each brown paper bag, there was a label on which the name of the host plant, the name of the location/sub location and the GPS coordinates (plus altitude) were indicated. Samples were later kept in a cold room at ICIPE. The field trips were organised at random, but it happened that in some places, it was raining, and in some other places it was dry.

4.2.2 Isolation and purification of fungal isolates in the laboratory

In the laboratory, dead mites were collected and transferred in Petri dishes (90 mm diameter) lined with damp filter paper. Petri dishes were sealed by Parafilm membrane and maintained in an incubator at $26 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C for 14 days in order to determine the cause of the spider mite death. Mortality due to fungal infection was determined and confirmed by microscopic examination of the fungal growth (mycosis) on the cadavers. Conidia from mycosed mites were isolated and transferred onto *Beauveria* (2% oatmeal infusion, 2% agar, 550 µg/ml dodine (*N*-dodecylguanidine monoacetane, 5 µg/ml chlortetracycline and 10 µg/ml crystal violet) (Chase *et al.*, 1986) and *Metarhizium* (1% glucose, 1% peptone, 1.5% oxgall,

3.5% agar, 10 μ g/ml dodine (*N*-dodecylguanidine monoacetate, 250 μ g/ml cycloheximide (actidione) and 500 μ g/ml chloramphenicol) (Veen and Ferron, 1966) selective media, which inhibits saprophytic fungi, and then incubated at 28 ± 2 °C for minimum two weeks.

4.2.3 Identification of isolates

Pure cultures of isolated fungal isolates were subcultured on SDA medium for identification, using an improved identification technique (Humber, 1997). Sterile cover slips were inserted into the media at an angle of 45° to allow growth of aerial hyphae on the slide and to maintain morphological characteristics of the fungi for identification. The plates were sealed by Parafilm membrane and incubated at 26 ± 2 °C. After 72 hours, fungi were identified by the observation of both conidia and conidiogenous cells (Humber, 1997) using a compound microscope. The examination was conducted after every 24 hours until sporulation.

4.3 Results

Spider mite species were collected from 80 different sites (Table 4.1). In the laboratory, mites were collected from 182 leaves. Among all the 80 sites surveyed, spider mite species were found to be associated with fungal species in only 4 sites (Table 4.2). A *B. bassiana* isolate was isolated from *Tetranychus* spp. In Shinyalu (Kakamega District) and given the accession number of ICIPE318 (Figure 4.1). Three *M. anisopliae* isolates, named ICIPE315, and ICIPE316 and ICIPE317 (Figure 4.1), were isolated from *T. urticae* and *Tetranychus* spp. in Mwea, Kirinyaga

and Kutus, respectively (Table 4.2). The three latter sites are situated in Kerugoya District. Although spider mites were collected in the areas surveyed during dry season, no fungal strain was isolated from the collected mites.

			GPS coordinates				
No	Districts	Localities	Altitude (in meters)	Latitude	Longitude	NS	
1	Kerugova	Kutus	1339	S00° 32.770'	E037° 18.806'	2	
2	8.9	Kutus	1281	S00° 34.860'	E037° 19.439'	1*	
3		Kutus	1268	S00° 35.213'	E037° 19.727'	1	
4		Kutus	1271	S00° 35.382'	E037° 19.468'	2	
5		Kanyei	1516	S00° 31.064'	E037° 15.313'	1	
6		Kanyei	1475	S00° 31.522'	E037° 15.137'	3	
7		Kathare	1427	S00° 32.268'	E037° 15.312'	3	
8		Kianjege	1380	S00° 33.520'	E037° 15.983'	4	
9		Kiaja	1302	S00° 34.328'	E037° 15.496'	1	
10		Kanyei	1321	S00° 34.192'	E037° 16.909'	2	
11		Kirinyaga	1598	S00° 30.296'	E037° 14.488'	3*	
12		Kirunda	1641	S00° 29.803'	E037° 14.546'	1	
13		Waigir	1841	S00° 26.505'	E037° 15.235'	1	
14		Waigiri	1690	S00° 28.558'	E037° 14.873'	2	
15		Mwea	1187	S00° 38.320'	E037° 22.349'	3	
16		Mwea	1174	S00° 38.984'	E037° 22.884'	1	
17		Mwea	1160	S00° 39.766'	E037° 23.425'	2*	
18		Nyangate	1280	S00° 35.078'	E037° 21.216'	2	
19		Nyangate	1251	S00° 35.042'	E037° 21.373'	1	
20		Nyangate	1234	S00° 36.632'	E037° 21.647'	1	
21		Nyangate	1223	S00° 36.809'	E037° 21.992'	2	
22		Guchui	1211	S00° 36.611'	E037° 22.553'	2	
23		Guchui	1205	S00° 36.837'	E037° 22.906'	3	
24		Kirundiro	1180	S00° 38.750'	E037° 22.647'	1	
25		Guchui	1161	S00° 38.153'	E037° 23.526'	1	
26		Muthangauka	1187	S00° 38.342'	E037° 22.338'	1	
27		Muthangauka	1197	S00° 37. 887'	E037° 22.148'	1	
28		Kiarukungu	1178	S00° 39.621'	E037° 21.898'	2	
29		Kiarukungu	1174	S00° 39.631'	E037° 21.624'	5	
30	Kakamega	Virembe	1627	N00° 14.093'	E034° 51.788'	4	
31	0	Ikuya	1650	N00° 12.441'	E034° 55.381'	3	
32		Chikovani	1636	N00° 15.143'	E034° 44.207'	1	
33		Shasaba	1577	N00º 12.771'	E034° 48.273'	3*	
34		Shasaba	1494	N00° 14.889'	E034° 44.207'	2	
35		Ingotsi	1516	N00° 21.117'	E034° 42.171'	1	
36		Lurambi	1549	N00° 18.127'	E034° 45.895'	3	
37		Shikangania	1532	N00º 18.344'	E034° 45.536'	2	
38		Shikangania	1503	N00° 19.300'	E034° 44.536'	2	
39		Simuli	1501	N00° 22.900'	E034° 44.211'	2	
40		Lukume	1540	N00° 23.792'	E034° 48.764'	2	
41		Matia	1544	N00° 21.648'	E034° 45.469'	4	
42	Machakos	Masii	1349	S01° 26.788'	E037° 26.690'	3	
43		Ikasala	1275	S01° 25.122'	E037° 33.443'	1	
44		Ikasala	1253	S01° 35.163'	E037° 41.416'	1	

Table 4.1: Survey sites, GPS coordinates, Number of plants sampled per site

45		Unkown	1063	S01° 23.805'	E037° 37.758'	3
46		Mach Town	1641	S01° 30.922'	E034° 16.162'	1
47		Matuu	1273	S01° 10.053'	E034° 31.680'	2
48		Matuu	1272	S01° 10.011'	E037° 31.245'	1
49		Kithimani	1267	S01° 09.823'	E037° 30.640'	2
50		Kithimani	1275	S01° 10.202'	E037° 30.531'	5
51		Kithimani	1257	S01° 10.531'	E037° 27.483'	1
52		Kithimani	1267	S01° 10.984'	E037° 27.801'	3
53		Kithimani	1270	S01° 10.915'	E037° 28.730'	1
54		Kithimani	1277	S01° 10.561'	E037° 28.730'	2
55		Kithendu	1231	S01° 09.111'	E037° 29.318'	2
56	Kitui	Kyanika	1116	S01° 24.256'	E038° 00.973'	4
57		Kyanika	1078	S01° 24.272'	E038° 01.617'	2
58		Kyagwuthye	1129	S01° 21.578'	E038° 00.718'	3
59		Kyahwithye	1143	S01° 20.473'	E038° 00.186'	1
60		Munuvemuma	1151	S01° 20.212'	E037° 59.782'	1
61		Kyagwuthye	1139	S01° 20.638'	E037° 56.949'	5
62	Makueni	Ngulu	708	S02° 11.416'	E038° 03.241'	4
63		Ngulu	712	S02° 12.501'	E038° 03.596'	5
64		Athi	724	S02° 10.523'	E038° 03.205'	2
65	Kajiado	Rombo	1154	S03° 03.172'	E037° 41.947'	1
66	U U	Rombo	1101	S03° 03.850'	E037° 42.902'	1
67		Rombo	1106	S03° 04.015'	E037° 42.805'	2
68		Rombo	1044	S03° 04.854'	E037° 44.805'	1
69		Kimana	1338	S02° 49.335'	E037° 31.539'	5
70		Kimana	1302	S02° 48.485'	E037° 31.803'	1
71		Kimana	1308	S02° 48.999'	E037° 32.010'	2
72		Kimana	1227	S02° 44.893'	E037° 30.568'	6
73		Kimana	1232	S02° 44.640'	E037° 30.479'	2
74		Kuku	1475	S02° 54.700'	E037° 34.845'	5
75		Kuku	1450	S02° 54.332'	E037° 35.208'	5
76		Kuku	1440	S02° 53.882'	E038° 35.259'	1
77		Kimana	1438	S02° 51.565'	E037° 32.284'	3
78	Taita-	Wundanyi	1387	S03° 24.281'	E038° 21.623'	1
	Taveta	-				
79		Wundanyi	1562	S03° 25.277'	E038° 20.533'	5
80		Wundanyi	1629	S03° 25.546'	E038° 20.142'	2

No= Number of sites surveyed; **NS**= Number of leaves where mites were collected from in the laboratory; *Location where fungus were found to be associated with spider mites.



Figure 4.1: (a) *Beuaveria bassiana* isolate from *Tetranychus* sp.

(b) Metarhizium anisopliae isolate from Tetranychus urticae and (c) and

(d) from M. anisopliae isolates Tetranychus sp.

The characteristics followed for identification of *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* are as follows:

Baeuveria bassiana: Dense white and covering exoskeleton; conidiogenous cells usually dense clustered (or whorled or solidary), colorless, with globose or flask-like base and dentriculate apical extension bearing one conidium per denticle; Conidia are separate.

Metarhizium anisopliae: Usualy mummify/cover the whole host, conidiophores in compact patches, individual conidiophore broadly branched (candelabrum-like), densely intertwined; conidiogenous cells with rounded to conidial apices, arranged in dense hymenium; conidia aseparate, cylindrical or ovoid, columns or solid mass parallel chains, pale to bright green, to yellow green, olivaceous.

Isolates	Species	Host	Host plant	Location	District	GPS Coordinates	Altitude
ICIPE318	Beauveria bassiana	Tetranychus spp.	Unknown weed	Shinyalu	Kakamega	N00°12.771'E034°48.273'	1579m
ICIPE315	Metarhizium	Tetranychus urticae	Phaseolus	Mwea	Kerugoya	S00°39.766'E037°23.425'	1161m
	anisopliae		vulgaris L.				
ICIPE317	Metarhizium	Tetranychus spp.	Amaranthus spp.	Kirinyaga	Kerugoya	S00°29.803'E037°14.546	1641m
	anisopliae						
ICIPE316	Metarhizium	Tetranychus spp.	Lycopersicon	Kutus	Kerugoya	S00°34.86'E037°19.439'	1281m
	anisopliae		esculentum Mill.				

Table 4.2: New fungal isolates recovered from a survey of Western, Central and Eastern Kenya

4.4 Discussion

The surveys yielded one isolate of *B. bassiana* from *Tetranychus* spp. and three isolates of *M. anisopliae*, two from *Tetranychus* spp. and one from *Tetranychus urticae*. These isolates were found in the areas surveyed during rainy season (Kakamega and Kerugoya). However mites were found in all the sites surveyed. , they Although mites were in Kakamega and Kerugoya, they did not present a severe level of infestation, and this may be attributed not only to the pesticides used by farmers, but also to the associated natural enemies, including entomopathogenic fungi, that maintain their populations below economic damage levels. Rainfall has been also reported to reduce mite population in the field (Humber *et al.*, 1981; Fiaboe 2007). Studies indicate that the pathogenic effect of the fungus together with the direct effect of the rain play an important role in reducing mite populations. We therefore suspect that this might have been the case in Kakamega and Kerugoya districts where we observed low populations of mite.

It is generally admitted that fungal strains isolated from a host are more virulent than that isolated from non-host (Maniania 1992, Pena *et al.*, 1996; Meikle *et al.*, 2005). For example, Maniania (1992) found a strain of *M. anisopliae* on the maize stem borer, *Busseola fusca* Fuller, which was more virulent to *B. fusca* than those originating from other sources. Similar observations were reported by Meikle *et al.* (2005) who found that *Isaria fumosorosea* (= *Paecilomyces fumosoroseus*) (Holmsk.) Fr. isolate obtained from the Formosan subterranean termite, *Coptotermes formosanus* Shiraki, was highly virulent to this termite species than the commercial strain of *M. anisopliae*, BioBlast[®], isolated from another host. Natural association between entomopathogenic fungi and tetranychid mites has been reported in several studies (Carner and Canerday, 1970; Humber et al., 1981; van der Geest, 1985; Chandler et al., 2000; Fiaboe, 2007). For instance Carner and Canerday (1970) observed epizootics caused by Entomophthora sp. in the two spotted spider mite, T. urticae. Natural association between T. urticae with several other entomopathogenic fungi such as Basidiobolus sp. (van der Geest, 1985), Conidiobolus obscurus (Andreeva and Shternshis, 1995), Neozygites floridana (Weiser and Muma, 1966; Kenneth et al. 1972, Smitley et al. 1986; Mietkiewski et al. 1993), N. sp. near floridana (Ramaseshiah, 1971), N. tetranychi (Weiser, 1968) has been reported. However, little information is available on the interaction between tetranychid mites and the entomopathogenic fungi, B. bassiana and M. anisopliae under natural conditions (Chandler et al. 2000; Maniania et al., 2008). Nevertheless Wright and Kennedy (1996) reported the association between B. bassiana and T. urticae in the field. Although many samples of mites were collected during the surveys, no association could be found between mites and entomopathogenic fungi. For T. evansi, Humber et al. (1981) and Fiaboe (2007) reported the natural infection of the said spider mite by *Neozugites* sp. and *N*. *floridana*, respectively. Apart from these two reports, there is no other report on the natural infection of *T. evansi* by entomopathogenic fungi in the field.

The new isolates found are promising biological control agents of spider mite species and can therefore be incorporated in spider mites IPM strategies. However, further studies are important for their assessment. We suggest that they are tested at different weather conditions levels and different concentrations. Nevertheless results of this study highlight the importance and interest of prospecting for new fungal isolates and their use as biological control agents of spider mite pests.

CHAPTER 5: PATHOGENICITY OF *BEAUVERIA BASSIANA* AND *METARHIZIUM ANISOPLIAE* TO ADULT *TETRANYCHUS URTICAE* AND *TETRANYCHUS EVANSI*

5.1 Introduction

The two-spotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae* Koch and the tomato spider mite, T. evansi Baker & Pritchard (Acari: Tetranychidae) are among the most economically important spider mite species (Jeppson et al., 1975; Fasulo and Denmark, 2000; Saunyama and Knapp, 2003). They have a world-wide distribution and attack a wide range of wild and cultivated plants including many fruits, cotton, cereals, legumes, vegetables and ornamental plants (Jeppson et al., 1975; Smith Meyer, 1996; Bolland et al., 1998). The management of these pests has mainly relied on the use of synthetic acaricides (Meyer, 1996; Knapp et al., 2003b). However, due to the excessive use of synthetic acaricides and the related problems of synthetic acaricide resistance (Cranham and Helle, 1985; Hoy, 1998; Herron et al., 2004) and environmental contamination (van de Vrie, 1985), there is an increased demand for alternatives that are sustainable and environmental-friendly. Several studies have reported predatory mites as potential biological control agents of T. urticae (Moraes and McMurtry, 1985a; Escudero and Ferragut, 2005; Oliveira et al., 2007). Entomopathogenic fungi are the most common pathogens associated with T. urticae and T. evansi in the field (Brandenburg and Kennedy, 1981; Humber et al., 1981; Maniania et al., 2008) and have been widely tested in the laboratory (Gardener et al., 1982; Tamai et al., 2002; Chandler et al., 2005; Wekesa et al., 2005, 2007; Maniania et al., 2008). They could be therefore used in biological control programme of T. urticae and T. evansi either as a stand-alone solution in replacement of synthetic acaricides that are currently in use or as a component of integrated mite management. The objective of this study was to assess the pathogenicity of different isolates of *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* to adults of the two spider mite species, *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* in order to select the most pathogenic fungal isolates for further studies.

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Mite cultures

The spider mite species, *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* were reared on bean, *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. variety GLP2, and tomato, *Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill. Variety Cal-J, respectively, in a rearing room maintained at 25 ± 2 °C, 60-70% RH and a photoperiod 12:12 L:D at the International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology (ICIPE) Headquarters, Nairobi, Kenya. The initial cultures of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* originated from mites collected on rose plants in a screenhouse in Naivasha, Kenya, in 2004 and from mites collected on tomato plants in Mwea Irrigation Scheme, Kenya, in 2001, respectively. Quiescent deutonymps of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* were collected from the mite cultures using a fine camel hairbrush and transferred to bean and tomato leaf discs, respectively. After two days, newly emerged adult female mites (1-2 day-old) were selected and used for the experiments.
5.2.2 Fungal Isolates

Three isolates of *B. bassiana* and 23 isolates of *M. anisopliae*, originating from different hosts were obtained from the *icipe* Arthropod Germplasm Centre (Table 5.1). From the 26 isolates, 2 (ICIPE315 and ICIPE316) were isolated from mites collected from the field (see Chapter 4), and the other 23 originated from the ICIPE germplasm. Conidia were harvested by scrapping the surface of 3 week-old sporulating cultures grown on Sabouraud Dextrose Agar (SDA) in Petri dishes at 26 \pm 2 °C and 40-70 % RH. Conidia were suspended in 20ml sterile distilled water containing 0.05% Triton X-100 in universal bottles containing glass beads. The suspension was vortexed for 5 minutes to produce homogenous conidial suspension. The viability of conidia was then determined by spread-platting 0.1ml of the suspension (titrated to 3.0 x 10^6 conidia ml⁻¹) on SDA plates. Sterile microscope cover slip was placed on each plate. Plates were incubated at 26 \pm 2 °C and examined after 24 hours. Percentage germination was determined by counting 100 spores for each plate.

5.2.3 Bioassays

Ten millilitres (10 ml) of standard concentration of 1.0×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ was sprayed on both sides of bean and tomato leaf discs (25 mm diameter) using the Burgerjon's spray tower (Burgerjon, 1956) (INRA, Dijon, France). In the control treatments, mites were sprayed with sterile distilled water containing 0.05 % Triton X-100. The leaf discs were then air-dried under the laminar flow cabinet for 20 minutes and placed on wet cotton wool in Petri dishes (60 mm diameter). Twenty young adult females of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* (1-2 day-old) were then placed onto the treated bean and tomato leaf discs, respectively, and maintained for 4 to 5 days, after which they were transferred to untreated leaves. Test-mites were maintained in an incubator at 26 ± 2 °C. Mortality was recorded daily for 10 days. Dead mites were transferred to Petri dishes lined with moist filter paper to allow the growth of fungus on the surface of the cadaver. Mortality caused by fungus was confirmed by microscopic examination. Each treatment was replicated six times.

5.2.4 Radial growth

Conidial suspension of 1×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ was spread-plated on SDA plates (90 mm diameter), which were then incubated at 26 ± 2 °C for 3 days in order to obtain mycelial mats. The unsporulated mycelial mats were cut from culture plates into round agar plugs using an 8-mm diameter cork borer (Rapilly, 1968). Each agar plug was then transferred singly onto the centre of a fresh SDA plate. Plates were sealed with Parafilm M and incubated in complete darkness at 26 ± 2 °C. Radial growth was then recorded daily for 10 days by measuring colony cardinal diameters, through two orthogonal axes previously drawn, using a simple plastic ruler (15 cm long), on the bottom of each Petri dish to serve as a reference. The experiment was replicated six times.

5.2.5 Statistical analysis

Mortality data was corrected for natural mortality (Abbott, 1925) and arcsinetransformed to normalize the data before ANOVA analysis (SAS, 1999-2001). Means were separated by Student-Newman-Keuls test at p=0.05. Probit analysis was used to estimate the lethal time to 50% mortality (LT_{50}) (SAS, 1999-2001). Correlation between the fungal radial growths and LT_{50} *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* mortality was established using SAS (SAS, 1999-2001).

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Pathogenicity of fungal isolates against T. urticae and T. evansi

In the viability tests, 86.9-96.3 % of spores germinated (Table 5.1). All the fungal isolates tested were pathogenic to the adult females of *T. urticae* (Table 5.2) and *T. evansi* (Table 5.3). However, mortality depended on isolate/species. *Metarhizium anisopliae* isolates ICIPE25, ICIPE7 and ICIPE315 were the most virulent to *T. urticae* causing mortality of 100.0%, while *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE43 was the least virulent causing 36.5% (F = 51.38; df = 26, 135; P < 0.0001) (Table 5.2). In the case of *T. evansi*, *B. bassiana* isolate ICIPE279 was the most virulent inducing mortality of 95.2 % whilst *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE20 was the least virulent causing mortality 30.4% (F = 20.49; df = 26, 135; P < 0.0001) (Table 5.3). The LT₅₀ values ranged from 3.0 to 8.3 for *T. urticae* (Table 5.2) and from 4.7 to 8.3 days for *T. evansi* (Table 5.3).

Among the 4 new isolates (see chapter 4), 2 (ICIPE315 and ICIPE316) were tested for their pathogenicity against *T. urticae* and *T. evansi*. They caused mortality of 100 and 71.8% in *T. urticae* (5.2) and 54.6 and 54% in *T. evansi* (Table 5.3). However, *T. evansi* was more susceptible to the two fungal isolates than *T. urticae*.

Species	Isolates	Year of	Host/Substrate	Locality	Country	%Viability (± S.E)
-		isolation			-	
Beauveria	ICIPE279	1996	Soil	Mombasa	Kenya	96.3 ± 0.7
bassiana	ICIPE278	2005	Cyclocephala sp. (Coleoptera)	Kericho	Kenya	93.8 ± 0.6
	ICIPE273	2004	Soil	Mbita	Kenya	91.5 ± 0.9
Metarhizium	ICIPE18	1989	Soil	Mbita	Kenya	92.0 ± 0.4
anisopliae	ICIPE20	1989	Soil	Migori	Kenya	90.9 ± 1.0
-	ICIPE21	1999	Lacusta gregaria	Port-Sudan	Sudan	86.9 ± 1.0
	ICIPE30	1989	Busseola fusca Fuller (Lepidoptera)	Mbita	Kenya	92.9 ± 0.7
	ICIPE41	1990	Soil	Lemba	DR Congo	94.4 ± 0.4
	ICIPE49	2005	Soil	Mount Kenya	Kenya	92.3 ± 0.5
	ICIPE62	1990	Soil	Matete	DR Congo	90.2 ± 0.6
	ICIPE69	1990	Soil	Kinshasa	DR Congo	94.3 ± 0.4
	ICIPE78	1990	Temnoschoita nigroplagiata (Curculionidae)	Ungoye	Kenya	90.0 ± 0.5
	ICIPE84	2003	Ornithacris turbidda cavroisi	Kaffraine	Senegal	94.0 ± 0.4
	ICIPE315*	2005	Tetranychus urticae	Mwea	Kenya	96.0 ± 0.4
	ICIPE316*	2005	Tetranychus spp.	Kutus	Kenya	90.9 ± 0.9
	ICIPE55	2005	Soil	Embu	Kenya	93.2 ± 0.6
	ICIPE51	2005	Soil	Embu	Kenya	94.6 ± 0.4
	ICIPE24	1999	Soil	Kitui	Kenya	92.0 ± 0.4
	ICIPE25	1999	Sandy Soil	Kitui	Kenya	91.3 ± 0.3
	ICIPE43	2005	Soil	Meru	Kenya	96.2 ± 0.5
	ICIPE48	2005	Unknown	Unknown	Kenya	93.6 ± 0.8
	ICIPE7	1996	Amblyomma variegatum	Homabay	Kenya	92.5 ± 0.5
	ICIPE97	2005	Unknown	Unknown	Kenya	94.0 ± 0.4
	ICIPE95	2005	Soil	Unknown	Kenya	90.7 ± 1.2
	ICIPE8	1990	Galleria melonella (Linnaeus) (Lepidoptera)	Matete	DR Congo	92.6 ± 0.4
	ICIPE59	2005	Cartepillar	Nairobi	Kenya	88.5 ± 1.2

Table 5.1. Fungal isolates tested against adult females of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* (% viability ± SE)

*Isolates recovered in this study (see chapter 4)

Fungal species	Isolates	% mortality \pm S.E	LT ₅₀ (day) (95% Fiducial limits)	Correlation RG-LT ₅₀ (r-value)
Beauveria	ICIPE278	$99.0 \pm 1.0a$	4.7 (4.6-4.8)	-0.25149
bassiana	ICIPE273	$95.5 \pm 1.6a$	5.2 (5.1-5.3)	-0.791811
	ICIPE279	$95.2 \pm 3.9a$	4.5 (4.4-4.6)	0.01168
Metarhizium	ICIPE25	$100.0 \pm 0.0a$	6.1 (6.0-6.1)	0.62792
anisopliae	ICIPE7	$100.0 \pm 0.0a$	3.1 (3.0-3.2)	0.46487
	ICIPE315	$100.0 \pm 0.0a$	3.0 (2.9-3.2)	0.07714
	ICIPE24	$99.1 \pm 0.9a$	5.5 (5.4-5.6)	0.27801
	ICIPE8	$98.3 \pm 1.0a$	3.2 (3.1-3.3)	-0.35654
	ICIPE51	$98.2 \pm 1.1a$	3.6 (3.5-3.7)	0.35293
	ICIPE78	$97.2 \pm 1.9a$	5.3 (5.2-5.4)	-0.49737
	ICIPE84	$95.6 \pm 1.6a$	3.2 (3.1-3.4)	0.01448
	ICIPE20	$95.2 \pm 6.1a$	4.8 (4.7-4.9)	0.17774
	ICIPE62	$95.1 \pm 2.8a$	4.5 (4.4-4.7)	0.74176
	ICIPE59	$92.9 \pm 3.8a$	3.2 (3.1-3.4)	-0.12450
	ICIPE48	$92.8 \pm 3.0a$	3.5 (3.4-3.6)	0.03130
	ICIPE49	$92.0 \pm 4.4a$	4.5 (4.5-4.7)	0.25188
	ICIPE41	$91.2 \pm 3.7a$	4.7 (4.6-4.8)	-0.08317
	ICIPE21	87.3 ± 3.9 ab	5.5 (5.4-5.6)	0.06280
	ICIPE18	$85.6 \pm 3.6 ab$	5.4 (5.3-5.5)	0.20294
	ICIPE316	$71.8 \pm 4.1 bc$	7.4 (7.3-8.0)	0.91279*
	ICIPE30	63.4 ± 8.8 cd	7.9 (7.8-8.0)	0.69389
	ICIPE97	52.0 ± 6.2 de	8.3 (8.1-8.5)	-0.59453
	ICIPE55	$43.3 \pm 13.0e$	-	-
	ICIPE95	$38.6 \pm 8.1e$	-	-
	ICIPE69	$37.7 \pm 12.7e$	-	-
	ICIPE43	$36.5 \pm 8.1e$	-	-
	CONTROL	$11.5 \pm 8.1f$	-	-

Table 5.2. Percent mortality, LT_{50} and correlation between the fungal radial growth and LT_{50} values of adult female *T. urticae* 10 days post-treatment at 26 ± 2 °C

Means with the same letter are not significantly different (P = 0.05); * Significant difference (P < 0.05). (–) LT_{50} was not determined because mortality was lesser than 50%

Table 5.3.	. Percent mortality	, LT_{50} and correlation	on between the fu	ungal radial grow	th and LT ₅₀ value	es of adult female	T. evansi 10 c	lays post-treatment
at 26 ± 2 °	°C							

Fungal species	Isolates	% mortality \pm S.E	LT ₅₀ (day) (95% Fiducial limits)	Correlation RG-LT ₅₀ (r-value)
Beauveria bassiana	ICIPE279	$95.2 \pm 2.3a$	4.7 (4.6-4.8)	-0.01978
	ICIPE273	83.3 ± 5.6 abcd	6.6 (6.5-6.7)	-0.12461
	ICIPE278	83.0 ± 7.7 abcd	5.8 (5.7-5.9)	-0.30263
Metarhizium anisopliae	ICIPE24	90.5 ± 3.8ab	6.4 (6.3-6.5)	0.42003
-	ICIPE84	$89.4 \pm 3.7 abc$	6.6 (6.5-6.6)	0.41343
	ICIPE78	$86.8 \pm 8.8 abc$	5.9 (5.8-6.0)	-0.37699
	ICIPE43	84.8 ± 5.7 abcd	6.4 (6.3-6.6)	0.24519
	ICIPE55	$81.7 \pm 9.2abcd$	6.3 (6.2-6.4)	0.12728
	ICIPE59	79.9 ± 7.1 abcd	7.0 (7.0-7.2)	-0.51871
	ICIPE8	$79.3 \pm 8.8abcd$	6.9 (6.7-7.0)	0.52012
	ICIPE51	73.0 ± 7.2 abcde	7.7 (7.6-7.8)	0.04288
	ICIPE7	70.9 ± 6.3 abcdef	8.0 (7.9-8.0)	-0.26565
	ICIPE25	68.4 ± 8.0 abcdef	7.4 (7.3-7.6)	-0.51871
	ICIPE48	60.1 ± 7.9 bcdefg	7.8 (7.7-8.0)	-0.46221
	ICIPE49	57.9 ± 9.0 cdefg	8.3 (8.1-8.6)	-0.21817
	ICIPE315	$54.6 \pm 6.3 defg$	7.6 (7.4-7.8)	0.71150
	ICIPE316	$54.0 \pm 10.5 defg$	8.2 (8.1-8.4)	0.46961
	ICIPE95	$44.3 \pm 11.5 efg$	-	-
	ICIPE62	$43.8 \pm 10.4 efg$	-	-
	ICIPE21	$43.7 \pm 8.2 efg$	-	-
	ICIPE30	$42.4 \pm 12.5 efg$	-	-
	ICIPE41	$40.6 \pm 3.5 \text{fg}$	-	-
	ICIPE18	37.0 ± 9.4 gh	-	-
	ICIPE97	35.8 ± 7.3 gh	-	-
	ICIPE69	35.0 ± 4.3 gh	-	-
	ICIPE20	$30.4 \pm 4.5 \mathrm{gh}$	-	-
	CONTROL	$12.9 \pm 0.9 \tilde{h}$	-	-

Means with the same letter are not significantly different (P = 0.05). (-) LT_{50} was not determined because mortality was lesser than 50%

5.3.2 Radial growth

There were significant differences in radial growth between the fungal isolates (F = 15.18; df = 25, 130; P < 0.0001) (Table 5.4). *Metarhizium anisopliae* isolates grew faster than *B. bassiana* isolates. The mean radial growth recorded after 10 days varied between 2.0 mm day⁻¹ for the lowest (*B. bassiana* isolate ICIPE279) and 5.8 mm day⁻¹ for the fastest (*M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE25). Positive and negative correlations were observed between fungal radial growth and the LT₅₀ values (Table 5.2 and 5.3). However, the significant difference was only observed in the correlation between the *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE316 and the LT₅₀ *T. urticae* mortality (P < 0.05) (Table 5.2).

Fungal species	Isolates	Mean radial growth \pm S.E
Metarhizium	ICIPE25	$5.8 \pm 0.2a$
anisopliae	ICIPE51	5.6 ± 0.3 ab
	ICIPE48	5.6 ± 0.0 abc
	ICIPE316	5.4 ± 0.8 abcd
	ICIPE43	5.1 ± 0.0 abcde
	ICIPE24	$4.8 \pm 0.0abcdef$
	ICIPE62	$4.7 \pm 0.0 bcdefg$
	ICIPE21	4.6 ± 0.1 cdefgh
	ICIPE7	$4.4 \pm 0.1 defghi$
	ICIPE30	4.3 ± 0.4 defghi
	ICIPE59	$4.2 \pm 0.4 efghi$
	ICIPE95	$4.2 \pm 0.2 efghi$
	ICIPE20	$4.2 \pm 0.6 efghi$
	ICIPE49	4.1 ± 0.1 efghi
	ICIPE8	$4.1 \pm 0.2 efghi$
	ICIPE41	$4.0 \pm 0.2 efghi$
	ICIPE69	$4.0 \pm 0.0 efghi$
	ICIPE55	4.0 ± 0.1 efghi
	ICIPE18	3.9 ± 0.3 fghi
	ICIPE315	3.6 ± 0.3 ghi
	ICIPE97	3.5 ± 0.2 ghij
	ICIPE78	3.4 ± 0.2 hij
	ICIPE84	$3.3 \pm 0.2 i j$
Beauveria bassiana	ICIPE273	$2.6 \pm 0.1 jk$
	ICIPE278	$2.1 \pm 0.1 k$
	ICIPE279	$2.0 \pm 0.0 k$

Table 5.4: Fungal mean radial growth (mm day⁻¹ \pm SE) at 26 \pm 2°C

Means with the same letter are not significantly different (P = 0.05)

5.4 Discussion

All the 26 isolates tested were pathogenic to T. urticae and T. evansi in the laboratory, but there were significant variations between the isolates. Beauveria bassiana and M. anisopliae have previously been reported to be pathogenic to other mite species (Tamai et al., 2002; Barreto et al., 2004; Oliveira et al., 2004; Alves et al., 2005; Brooks and Wall, 2005; Chandler et al., 2005; Rossi-Zalaf and Alves, 2006). Intranspecific differences in pathogenic activity of fungal isolates have been reported against many arthropods (Fargues and Remaudière, 1977; Maniania, 1992; Vestergaard et al., 1995; Ekesi et al., 1998, 2002; Dimbi et al., 2003; Davidson and Chandler, 2005; Lecuona et al., 2005b; Wekesa et al., 2005; Marannino et al., 2006). This factor is very important and has to be taken into account in strain selection (Soper and Ward, 1981; Ekesi, 1999). The pathogenicity of B. bassiana and M. anisopliae has already been reported in Tetranychus urticae (Alves et al., 2002; Tamai et al., 2002; Irigaray et al., 2003; Chandler et al., 2005) and T. evansi (Wekesa et al., 2005). The pathogenicity of other fungal species has also been reported in T. urticae (Carner and Canerday, 1970; Brandenburg and Kennedy, 1981; Rosas-Acevedo et al., 2003) and in T. evansi (Humber et al., 1981; Fiaboe, 2007; Wekesa et al., 2007).

It is generally admitted that the most virulent fungal isolates are the ones isolated from the host. For example, Pena *et al.* (1996) showed that fungal isolates originating from *Polyphagotarsonemus latus* Banks were more pathogenic to this mite species than those isolated from other hosts. This was demonstrated in this study where the *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE315 that originated from *T. urticae* was highly pathogenic to *T. urticae* causing 100% mortality and had a the shortest lethal time to 50% mortality (LT_{50}) of 3 days. However, this was not the case for *T. evansi* where the most pathogenic isolates did not originate from acarine hosts.

All the fungal isolates grew at 26 °C, but the radial growth varied with isolates. Compared to *M. anisopliae* isolates, *B. bassiana* isolates showed a low radial growth rate. Based on the coefficients of correlation values, the fungal radial growth appeared to have no relationship with fungal infection in the two spider mite species. For example, B. bassiana isolate ICIPE279 had the slowest growth (2.0 mm/day) but caused 95.5% mortality with a LT₅₀ of 4.7 days, while *M. anisopliae* ICIPE43 with a growth rate of 5.1 mm/day could only achieve mortality of 36.5% in T. urticae. However the same isolate (M. anisopliae isolate ICIPE43) caused up to 84.8% mortality in T. evansi with a LT₅₀ of 6.4 days. The lack of correlation between fungal growth and infection has been reported in other insects such as Spodoptera littoralis (Boisduval) with isolates of I. fumosorosea (Wize) (Maniania and Fargues, 1992). Moreover, the optimum temperature for fungal growth is not necessarily the same as that for fungal infection of arthropods (Fargues *et al.*, 1992). The findings of this study confirm the pathogenicity of B. bassiana and M. anisopliae against T. evansi and T. urticae as reported by many other workers (Tamai et al. 2002; Chandler et al. 2005; Wekesa et al., 2005).

Tetranychus urticae appeared to be more susceptible to infection by *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* than *T. evansi.* This may be attributed to either their physico-

morphological features (e.g., cuticle composition) or to their physiological characteristics.

This study highlights the importance of strain selection and confirms the potential of the entomopathogenic fungi *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* for possible use in biological control programmes of the two spider mite species. Based on LT_{50} values of the 26 isolates, 11 isolates were selected for bioassays on the effect of temperature on germination, radial growth and virulence.

CHAPTER 6: EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE ON GERMINATION, RADIAL GROWTH AND VIRULENCE OF *BEAUVERIA BASSIANA* AND *METARHIZIUM ANISOPLIAE* TO *TETRANYCHUS URTICAE* AND *TETRANYCHUS EVANSI*

6.1 Introduction

Tetranychid mites form the family of phytophagous Acari with the most severe economic effect on agriculture and several of these mites are injurious to many crops all over the world (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975; Smith Meyer, 1996; Bolland *et al.*, 1998). They attack both wild and cultivated crops. In eastern and southern Africa, the spider mites *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* are regarded as one of the most serious enemies of vegetables. They cause severe damage and crop losses in tomato and other vegetable fields (Smith Meyer, 1996; Saunyama and Knapp, 2003).

Due to the problems related to the excessive use of the chemical acaricides, biological control agents, including entomopathogenic fungi, are being developed as possible alternatives to chemical pesticides for the control of Tetranychid mites (Oduor, 1995; Chandler *et al.*, 2000, 2005; Davidson *et al.*, 2001; Irigaray *et al.*, 2002; Delalibera and Hajek, 2004; Wekesa *et al.*, 2005). However, entomopathogenic fungi are exposed to a number of biotic and abiotic factors that influence their survival and capability to cause mortality (Benz, 1987; Goettel and Inglis, 1997; Inglis *et al.*, 2001). Temperature, humidity and solar radiation are probably the most severe environmental factors that affect entomopathogenic fungi (Inglis et al., 2001).

Temperature affects the germination, growth, survival, pathogenicity of the pathogen, the host susceptibility and the host-pathogen interactions (Fargues *et al.*, 1992; Maniania and Fargues, 1992; Ekesi *et al.*, 1999; Dimbi *et al.*, 2004; Cuthberson *et al.*, 2005; Devi *et al.*, 2005; Lecuona *et al.*, 2005a; Kiewnick, 2006). In general, optimum temperatures for germination, growth, sporulation and pathogenicity of entomopathogenic fungi range between 20-30 °C (Ferron, 1978; Hall and Papierock, 1982; Ekesi *et al.*, 1999; Tefera and Pringle, 2003; Dimbi *et al.*, 2004; Kiewnick, 2006). However, variation in temperature tolerance within an isolate can be significant (Fargues *et al.*, 1992; Ekesi *et al.*, 2005; Lecuona *et al.*, 2005a). This study aimed therefore at evaluating the effect of temperature on germination, radial growth and virulence of selected isolates of *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* to the two spider mite species, *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* in order to select isolates with broad temperature range.

6.2 Materials and Methods

6.2.1 Mite cultures

Stock cultures of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* were established as described in chapter five (section 5.2.1). One to 2-day old female adults were used for this experiment.

6.2.2 Fungal cultures

Based on mortality and the LT_{50} values from the test of pathogenicity of the 26 isolates against *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* (see chapter 5), 15 isolates (2 *B. bassiana*

isolates and 13 *M. anisopliae* isolates) were selected for the assessment of temperature on their germination and radial growth. However, only 11 isolates were tested for their virulence against the two spider mite species. The selected isolates were tested at 20, 25, 30 and 35 °C. Germination, radial growth and virulence were observed at all temperatures tested, but varied with isolate and temperature. Two isolates of *B. bassiana* (ICIPE278 and ICIPE279) and 13 of *M. anisopliae* (ICIPE7, ICIPE8, ICIPE24, ICIPE25, ICIPE43, ICIPE48, ICIPE49, ICIPE55, ICIPE59, ICIPE62, ICIPE78, ICIPE84 and ICIPE315) Isolates were maintained as outlined in Chapter 5 (section 5.2.2).

6.2.3 Effect of temperature on germination

Conidial suspension (0.1 ml of 3×10^6 conidia ml⁻¹) was spread on SDA plates in Petri dishes (90 mm diameter). Sterile microscope cover slips were placed on each plate and the inoculated plates were sealed with Parafilm membrane and incubated at 20, 25, 30 and 35 °C in complete darkness. At 24 hours post inoculation, 1 ml formaldehyde (0.5%) was transferred onto each plate to halt germination. Percentage germination was then determined from 100-spore counts for each plate at \times 40 magnification. Each treatment was replicated four times.

6.2.4 Effect of temperature on radial growth

A conidia suspension of 1×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ was spread-plated on SDA plates (90 mm diameter). Plates were then incubated at 26 ± 2 °C for 3 days in order to obtain mycelial mats. The unsporulated mycelial mats were cut from culture plates into

round agar plugs using an 8-mm diameter cork borer (Rapilly, 1968). Each agar plug was then transferred singly onto the centre of a fresh SDA plate. Plates were sealed with Parafilm M and incubated in complete darkness at 20, 25, 30 and 35 °C. Radial growth was then recorded daily for 10 days. The experiment was replicated four times (Dimbi *et al.*, 2004).

6.2.5 Effect of temperature on virulence

The procedures are similar to that described in section 5.2.3 of chapter 5, but the only difference is that mites were maintained at different temperatures (20, 25, 30 and 35 °C) and the treatment was replicated four times.

6.2.6 Statistical analysis

Germination and growth data were analysed by using ANOVA procedures of SAS (SAS Institute, 1999-2001) after arcsine transformation to normalize the data (Gomez & Gomez, 1984). Mortality data was corrected for natural mortality (Abbott, 1925) and arcsine-transformed to normalize the data before ANOVA procedure of SAS. Means were separated by Student-Newman-Keuls test at p=0.05. Probit analysis was used to estimate the lethal time to 50 % mortality (LT₅₀) and the lethal time to 90 % mortality (LT₉₀) (SAS, 1999-2001). Parallelism X was used to determine whether a common slope was adequate for isolates within species. The effect of temperature on germination, radial growth and virulence was analysed using ANOVA procedures of SAS (SAS, 1999-2001).

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Effect of temperature on germination

Significant differences in germination between fungal isolates were observed at 20 °C (F = 22.45; df = 14, 45; P < 0.0001), 25 °C (F = 30.18; df = 14, 45; P < 0.0001), 30 °C (F = 20.66; df = 14, 45; P < 0.0001) and at 35 °C (F = 98.85; df = 14, 45; P < 0.0001). The germination for all isolates was above 50% at the four temperatures except at 35 °C where *B. bassiana* isolates ICIPE279 and ICIPE278 were very low (20.6 and 15.1%, respectively) (Table 6.1).

The optimum temperature for germination was between 25 and 30 °C for all the isolates.

Table 6.1: Effect of temperature on germination (%) of Beauveria bassiana andMetarhizium anisopliae isolates

Species	Isolates	Germination (Mean $\% \pm SE$)					
		20°C	25°C	30°C	35℃		
Beauveria	ICIPE279	$86.2 \pm 3.2 aB$	$93.5 \pm 0.6abAB$	$96.9 \pm 0.3 aA$	20.6 ± 3.5 cC		
bassiana	ICIPE278	$67.7 \pm 1.1 cdB$	$95.0 \pm 1.0 \mathrm{aA}$	$95.0 \pm 1.3 abA$	15.1 ± 1.7 cC		
Metarhizium	ICIPE24	$84.8 \pm 1.4 abB$	$91.8 \pm 0.5 abcA$	$93.0 \pm 0.3 abcdA$	$81.4 \pm 1.2aC$		
anisopliae	ICIPE59	$82.9 \pm 1.4 abA$	$88.2 \pm 1.0 bcA$	87.5 ± 1.7 cdefA	$77.2 \pm 1.5 aB$		
	ICIPE7	$73.3 \pm 2.0 bcdB$	86.3 ± 0.9 cA	81.7 ± 2.1 fA	$81.1 \pm 1.0 \mathrm{aA}$		
	ICIPE48	$74.0 \pm 0.7 abcdB$	$91.1 \pm 0.9 abcA$	69.2 ± 2.1 gC	$75.5 \pm 1.2 aB$		
	ICIPE55	$76.1 \pm 2.5 abcC$	$91.5 \pm 0.4 abcA$	$88.6 \pm 1.3 bcdeA$	$81.0\pm0.9aB$		
	ICIPE84	$79.0 \pm 3.5 abcdB$	$86.9 \pm 1.4 \text{cB}$	93.6 ± 1.6abcA	$84.2 \pm 1.3 aB$		
	ICIPE78	$74.7 \pm 1.4abC$	$91.4 \pm 1.4 abcA$	$89.6 \pm 1.6abcdA$	$84.2 \pm 1.1 aB$		
	ICIPE8	$65.8 \pm 0.7 dC$	91.4 ± 1.6abcA	$81.2 \pm 2.1 \mathrm{fB}$	$81.6 \pm 1.3 aB$		
	ICIPE49	$84.0\pm3.0abBC$	$89.6 \pm 2.2 abcAB$	$95.6 \pm 0.3 abA$	$80.6 \pm 1.3 \mathrm{aC}$		
	ICIPE43	$75.2 \pm 3.0abcdB$	$74.9 \pm 1.6 \text{dB}$	86.1 ± 3.9defA	$85.6\pm0.3aA$		
	ICIPE62	$35.6 \pm 4.6eC$	71.9 ± 2.0 dB	$82.4 \pm 0.2 efA$	$67.9 \pm 1.4 \text{bB}$		
	ICIPE25	$73.2 \pm 1.4 bcdC$	$92.0 \pm 0.2 abcA$	$91.0 \pm 0.5 abcdA$	$81.7 \pm 1.4 aB$		
	ICIPE315	79.9 ± 3.2abA	$95.0 \pm 0.9 aA$	$95.4 \pm 0.6abA$	$78.9 \pm 6.7 aA$		

Means (SE) within column followed by the lower case letter and within row bearing the same upper case letter are not significantly different (Student-Newman-Keuls test, P=0.05)

6.3.2 Effect of temperature on radial growth

All isolates grew at all temperatures but for most isolates, the radial growth rate was slower at 20 and 35 °C than at 25 and 30 °C. The two isolates of *B. bassiana* recorded the least radial growth. There were significant differences in radial growth between the isolates at 20 °C (F = 41.18; df = 14, 45; P < 0.0001), 25 °C (F = 30.58; df = 14, 45; P < 0.0001), 30 °C (F = 16.70; df = 14, 45; P < 0.0001) and at 35 °C (F = 32.42; df = 14, 45; P < 0.0001) (Table 6.2). The optimum temperature for fungal radial growth was 30 °C.

Table 6.2: Effect of temperature on radial growth of *Beauveria bassiana* and *Metarhizium anisopliae* isolates

	Fungal radial growth (mm/day \pm SE)						
Fungal	Isolates	20°C	25℃	30°C	35°C		
Species							
Beauveria	ICIPE279	$0.6\pm0.0\text{dC}$	$1.2\pm0.1hB$	$1.6 \pm 0.0 \text{ghA}$	$0.7 \pm 0.1 eC$		
bassiana	ICIPE278	$0.8\pm0.1\text{dC}$	$1.5\pm0.1\text{ghA}$	$1.2\pm0.1hB$	$0.8\pm0.1eC$		
Metarhizium	ICIPE315	$2.3 \pm 0.2 aB$	$3.6 \pm 0.1 aA$	$2.7 \pm 0.3 defB$	$1.5\pm0.0 bcdC$		
anisopliae	ICIPE55	$2.1 \pm 0.1 abA$	$2.4\pm0.1 cdA$	$2.3\pm0.1 fgA$	2.2 ± 0.0 aA		
	ICIPE49	$1.3 \pm 0.1 \text{cC}$	$2.1 \pm 0.1 cdefB$	$3.5 \pm 0.3 bcdA$	$1.3 \pm 0.1 dC$		
	ICIPE59	$1.2 \pm 0.1 \text{cC}$	2.0 ± 0.0 cdefB	$4.3 \pm 0.1 aA$	$1.8\pm0.1bB$		
	ICIPE62	$1.5 \pm 0.0 \text{cD}$	$2.3 \pm 0.0 \text{cB}$	$3.0 \pm 0.1 cdefA$	$1.7 \pm 0.0 bcC$		
	ICIPE78	$1.2 \pm 0.1 \text{cB}$	$1.9 \pm 0.1 defgB$	$3.3 \pm 0.5 bcdeA$	$1.4\pm0.1 \text{cdB}$		
	ICIPE84	$1.3 \pm 0.0 \text{cB}$	$1.7 \pm 0.1 \mathrm{fgB}$	$3.9 \pm 0.3 abcA$	$1.4 \pm 0.1 cdB$		
	ICIPE24	1.3 ± 0.0 cC	$2.1\pm0.1 cdeB$	$2.6 \pm 0.1 defA$	$1.3 \pm 0.2 dC$		
	ICIPE25	$1.4 \pm 0.0 \text{cC}$	$1.9 \pm 0.0 defgB$	$2.4\pm0.2 fgA$	$1.3 \pm 0.0 \text{dC}$		
	ICIPE48	$1.9 \pm 0.2 bBC$	$3.0\pm0.2bA$	$2.3\pm0.3 fgB$	$1.5 \pm 0.0 cdC$		
	ICIPE8	1.5 ± 0.1 cC	$2.4 \pm 0.1 cdB$	3.2 ± 0.2 bvdeA	$2.3 \pm 0.1 aB$		
	ICIPE43	$1.3 \pm 0.0 \text{cC}$	$2.4\pm0.2cB$	$4.0\pm0.3abA$	$1.7 \pm 0.1 bcdC$		
	ICIPE7	$1.1 \pm 0.2 \text{cC}$	$1.8 \pm 0.1 efgB$	$2.5 \pm 0.1 \text{efA}$	$2.2\pm0.1 aA$		

Means (\pm SE) within column followed by the lower case letter and within row bearing the same upper case letter are not significantly different (Student-Newman-Keuls test, P = 0.05)

6.3.3 Effect of temperature on virulence

Effect of temperature on virulence of fungal isolates to T. urticae

All the 11 fungal isolates tested were virulent to the two-spotted spider mite species at all temperatures, but mortality varied with fungal isolate and temperature (Table 6.3). All the isolates performed well at 30 and 35 °C. There was no significant difference in virulence between fungal isolates at 30 °C (F = 1.87; df = 10, 33; P = 0.0861) and at 35 °C (F = 2.07; df = 10, 33; P = 0.0574). Significant differences were, however, observed at 20 °C (F = 2.17; df = 10, 33; P = 0.0463) and 25 °C (F = 3.36; df = 10, 33; P = 0.0041). Mortality occurred at all temperatures, but it was generally lower at 20 °C (Table 6.3). At all the temperatures, mortality was less than 15% in the controls. The LT₅₀ ranged from 6.7 to 9.9, 4.2 to 6.9, 2.1 to 4.6 and 1.6 to 3.0 for 20, 25, 30 and 35°C, respectively (Table 6.4). The LT₉₀, however, ranged from 10.2 to 16.3, 6.8 to 11.1, 5.0 to 8.3 and 3.6 to 7.0 for 20, 25, 30 and 35°C, respectively (Table 6.4).

		Mortality (Mean % ± SE)					
Species	Isolates	20 °C	25 °C	30 °C	35 ℃		
Beauveria	ICIPE279	$80.0\pm7.2abB$	$98.5 \pm 1.5 a \text{A}$	95.7 ± 2.8aA	100aA		
bassiana	ICIPE278	54.7 ± 13.4abB	$92.8 \pm 2.7 abA$	$89.7\pm6.9aA$	100aA		
Metarhizium	ICIPE315	$58.1 \pm 11.0 abB$	$91.6 \pm 2.8 abA$	$93.4\pm2.4aA$	100aA		
anisopliae	ICIPE49	$57.8 \pm 9.2 abB$	$95.6\pm2.8aA$	91.5 ± 5.3aA	$89.7\pm4.4aA$		
	ICIPE62	$57.8\pm7.6abB$	$93.3\pm2.5abA$	100aA	$91.1\pm5.1aA$		
	ICIPE78	$84.2\pm5.6aAB$	$71.5\pm8.3bB$	100aA	$97.2\pm2.8aA$		
	ICIPE84	$68.5\pm8.1abB$	$93.0\pm5.2abA$	100aA	$97.2\pm2.8aA$		
	ICIPE25	$54.0\pm 6.9abB$	$77.4 \pm 10.4 abA$	$88.9\pm3.8aA$	100aA		
	ICIPE48	$38.8 \pm 11.4 bC$	$77.1 \pm 0.4 abB$	97.1 ± 1.7aA	100aA		
	ICIPE8	$62.5\pm11.0abB$	$91.4\pm3.8abA$	100aA	$98.5 \pm 1.5 aA$		
	ICIPE7	$77.8 \pm 2.8 abB$	84.4 ±2.5abB	$98.5 \pm 1.5 \mathrm{aA}$	97.1±2.9aA		

Table 6.3: Effect of temperature on virulence of *Beauveria bassiana* and *Metarhizium* anisopliae isolates on *Tetranychus urticae* (% Mean \pm SE)

Means (\pm SE) within column followed by the lower case letter and within row bearing the same upper case letter are not significantly different (Student-Newman-Keuls test, P = 0.05)

	209	°C	2:	5℃	3	0°C	3	5℃
Isolates	LT ₅₀	Slope (± SE)						
Beauveria bas	ssiana							
ICIPE279	7.3 (7.1-7.4)	0.28 ± 0.01	4.2 (4.0-4.3)	0.38 ± 0.01	2.1 (3.8-4.1)	0.35 ± 0.01	2.3 (2.2-2.4)	0.27 ± 0.01
ICIPE278	9.8 (9.5-10.1)	0.26 ± 0.01	5.4 (5.3-5.6)	0.40 ± 0.01	3.5 (3.4-3.7)	0.45 ± 0.01	2.5 (2.4-2.6)	0.32 ± 0.01
Metarhizium d	nisopliae							
ICIPE49	8.4 (8.2-8.6)	0.37 ± 0.01	5.6 (5.5-5.7)	0.31 ± 0.01	4.6 (4.5-4.7)	0.51 ± 0.02	2.3 (2.1-2.5)	0.55 ± 0.02
ICIPE62	8.2 (8.0-8.4)	0.29 ± 0.01	5.6 (5.5-5.7)	0.35 ± 0.01	4.0 (3.9-4.1)	0.61 ± 0.02	2.8 (2.6-3.0)	0.70 ± 0.02
ICIPE78	6.7 (6.6-6.9)	0.24 ± 0.01	6.9 (6.8-7.1)	0.31 ± 0.01	3.1 (3.0-3.2)	0.61 ± 0.01	2.3 (2.2-2.4)	0.72 ± 0.02
ICIPE84	8.6 (8.4-8.8)	0.37 ± 0.01	5.1 (4.9-5.2)	0.48 ± 0.01	3.3 (3.2-3.4)	0.42 ± 0.01	2.7 (2.6-2.8)	0.87 ± 0.03
ICIPE315	8.4 (8.2-8.7)	0.28 ± 0.01	5.1 (5.0-5.3)	0.36 ± 0.01	3.9 (3.8-4.1)	0.38 ± 0.01	3.0 (2.9-3.1)	1.14 ± 0.04
ICIPE25	8.5 (8.3-8.8)	0.24 ± 0.01	5.7 (5.5-5.8)	0.24 ± 0.01	4.2 (4.0-4.3)	0.30 ± 0.01	2.5 (2.4-2.6)	0.96 ± 0.04
ICIPE48	9.9 (9.5-10.3)	0.20 ± 0.01	6.3 (6.1-6.4)	0.28 ± 0.01	2.8 (2.6-2.9)	0.32 ± 0.01	2.3 (2.3-2.4)	0.96 ± 0.04
ICIPE8	8.6 (8.4-8.8)	0.38 ± 0.01	5.3 (5.2-5.4)	0.35 ± 0.01	3.4 (3.3-3.5)	0.82 ± 0.03	1.6 (1.4-1.7)	0.49 ± 0.02
ICIPE7	7.4 (7.3-7.5)	0.40 ± 0.01	5.9 (5.8-6.1)	0.33 ± 0.01	3.3 (3.1-3.4)	0.53 ± 0.02	2.8 (2.6-2.9)	0.49 ± 0.01

Table 6.4: Effect of temperature on virulence of *Beauveria bassiana* and *Metarhizium anisopliae* to the two-spotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae*: Lethal time to 50% mortality (in days) (95% fiducial limits), Slope (\pm SE)

Table 6.5: Effect of temperature on virulence of *Beauveria bassiana* and *Metarhizium anisopliae* isolates on adult *Tetranychus urticae*: Lethal time to 90% mortality (LT_{90}) (in days) (95% fiducial limits).

Isolates	20°C	25°C	30°C	35°C		
Beauveria bassiana						
ICIPE279	10.7 (10.5-11.0)	6.8 (6.7-7.0)	5.5 (5.3-5.7)	3.8 (3.7-3.9)		
ICIPE278	14.4 (13.8-15.1)	9.0 (8.8-9.3)	7.8 (7.6-8.1)	3.6 (3.5-3.7)		
Metarhizium d	anisopliae					
ICIPE315	13.9 (13.3-14.5)	9.3 (9.0-9.6)	7.0 (6.8-7.2)	4.8 (4.7-4.9)		
ICIPE49	13.0 (12.6-13.5)	9.0 (8.8-9.2)	8.3 (8.1-8.5)	7.0 (6.7-7.2)		
ICIPE62	13.1 (12.7-13.7)	8.9 (8.7-9.1)	6.8 (6.7-7.0)	6.8 (6.6-7.0)		
ICIPE78	10.2 (10.0-10.5)	11.1 (10.8-11.4)	5.6 (5.5-5.8)	4.6 (4.5-4.8)		
ICIPE84	12.9 (12.5-13.4)	8.8 (8.6-9.0)	5.4 (5.3-5.6)	4.5 (4.4-4.6)		
ICIPE25	13.8 (13.3-14.4)	10.9 (10.6-11.3)	8.1 (7.9-8.4)	3.8 (3.7-3.9)		
ICIPE48	16.3 (15.4-17.2)	10.8 (10.5-11.2)	6.0 (5.9-6.2)	3.7 (3.6-3.8)		
ICIPE8	12.0 (11.7-12.4)	8.9 (8.7-9.2)	5.0 (4.8-5.1)	4.2 (4.0-4.3)		
ICIPE7	10.6 (10.4-10.8)	9.7 (9.5-10.0)	5.7 (5.5-5.9)	5.4 (5.3-5.6)		

Effect of temperature on virulence of fungal isolates to T. evansi

All the 11 fungal isolates tested were virulent to the tomato spider mite species at all temperatures, but mortality varied with fungal isolate and temperature (Table 6.6). There was no significant difference in mortality between fungal isolates at 30 °C (F = 0.98; df = 10, 33; P = 0.4762) and 35 °C (F = 1.15; df = 10, 33; P = 0.3607). However, significant differences were observed at 20 °C (F = 2.43; df = 10, 33; P = 0.0267) and 25 °C (F = 2.62; df = 10, 33; P = 0.0181). *B. bassiana* isolate ICIPE279 was the best in causing mortality at 20 °C while *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE84 was the best at 25 °C (Table 6.6). In the controls, at all the temperatures, mortlity was lesser than 13%.

The LT_{50} values ranged from 7.3 to 12.6, 5.5 to 9.5, 3.0 to 6.0 and 1.5 to 3.8 days for 20, 25, 30 and 35°C, respectively (Table 6.7). The LT_{90} values, however, ranged

from 10.9 to 25.6, 9.0 to 13.6, 5.5 to 8.7 and 3.5 to 7.7 days, respectively for 20, 25, 30 and 35°C (Table 6.8)

Table 6.6: Effect of temperature on virulence of the selected fungal isolates on *Tetranychus* evansi (Mean $\% \pm SE$)

		Temperature			
Species	Isolates	20°C	25°C	30°C	35°C
Beauveria	ICIPE279	72.5 ± 15.1aA	88.5 ± 4.3abA	100aA	98.5 ± 1.5aA
bassiana	ICIPE278	$50.5 \pm 15.8 abB$	90.4 ± 4.1abA	$98.5\pm4.4aA$	97.1 ± 1.7aA
Metarhizium	ICIPE55	26.3 ± 10.1abC	$54.4 \pm 9.8 bB$	100aA	97.2 ± 1.6aA
anisopliae	ICIPE59	$8.8\pm2.4bB$	$75.0\pm10.2 bA$	$93.8\pm4.4aA$	$91.5\pm3.7aA$
	ICIPE78	$50.9 \pm 12.1 abB$	$72.7 \pm 7.8 abAB$	100aA	100aA
	ICIPE84	$37.8 \pm 12.1 abB$	97.1 ± 1.7aA	100aA	$86.8 \pm 11.4 aA$
	ICIPE24	$43.8\pm 6.6abB$	$77.3 \pm 13.3 abA$	100aA	$93.8\pm4.4aA$
	ICIPE25	$21.3\pm8.8abB$	$90.3\pm 6.2 abA$	$93.8\pm 6.3aA$	100aA
	ICIPE8	$42.5\pm10.6abC$	$66.5\pm6.5abB$	100aA	100aA
	ICIPE43	$30.4 \pm 12.3 abB$	$65.4 \pm 12.3 ab$	$98.6 \pm 1.4 aA$	100aA
	ICIPE7	$64.8 \pm 13.4 abB$	$83.7\pm2.8abAB$	$98.6 \pm 1.4 aA$	$91.4\pm5.0aAB$

Means (\pm SE) within column followed by the lower case letter and within row bearing the same upper case letter are not significantly different (Student-Newman-Keuls test, *P* = 0.05)

	20°C		25°C		30°C		35°C	
Isolates	LT ₅₀	Slope (± SE)						
Beauveria ba	ssiana							
ICIPE279	7.3 (7.1-7.4)	0.35 ± 0.01	7.6 (7.5-7.7)	0.51 ± 0.02	4.3 (4.2-4.4)	0.70 ± 0.02	1.5 (1.3-1.7)	0.37 ± 0.01
ICIPE278	9.0 (8.8-9.1)	0.27 ± 0.01	5.5 (7.5-7.8)	0.37 ± 0.00	3.0 (2.9-3.2)	0.50 ± 0.02	1.9 (1.7-2.0)	0.42 ± 0.01
Metarhizium d	anisopliae							
ICIPE59	18.1 (16.1-21.2)	0.17 ± 0.02	7.5 (7.3-7.6)	0.37 ± 0.11	6.0 (5.8-6.1)	0.47 ± 0.01	3.8 (3.7-3.9)	0.40 ± 0.01
ICIPE78	8.8 (8.6-9.1)	0.26 ± 0.00	8.5 (8.4-8.7)	0.34 ± 0.01	4.5 (4.4-4.6)	0.72 ± 0.20	2.8 (2.7-2.9)	0.73 ± 0.02
ICIPE84	10.3 (10.1-10.6)	0.36 ± 0.02	6.4 (6.3-6.6)	0.46 ± 0.01	4.6 (4.5-4.7)	0.60 ± 0.02	3.7 (3.6-3.9)	0.32 ± 0.00
ICIPE55	11.6 (11.2-12.2)	0.43 ± 0.03	9.5 (9.3-9.8)	0.32 ± 0.01	3.9 (3.9-4.0)	0.82 ± 0.23	3.1 (3.0-3.2)	0.55 ± 0.16
ICIPE24	10.4 (10.0-10.9)	0.19 ± 0.00	7.6 (7.5-7.8)	0.39 ± 0.01	4.6 (4.5-4.7)	0.63 ± 0.02	3.3 (3.1-3.4)	0.44 ± 0.01
ICIPE25	12.8 (12.2-13.6)	0.31 ± 0.02	6.6 (6.5-6.7)	0.45 ± 0.01	5.5 (5.4-5.6)	0.48 ± 0.01	3.1 (3.0-3.2)	1.04 ± 0.04
ICIPE8	10.2 (9.8-10.5)	0.24 ± 0.01	8.2 (8.0-8.4)	0.31 ± 0.01	4.7 (4.6-4.7)	0.66 ± 0.02	2.5 (2.5-2.6)	0.84 ± 0.03
ICIPE43	12.6 (12.0-13.4)	0.35 ± 0.03	8.9 (8.7-9.0)	0.42 ± 0.02	3.8 (3.7-3.8)	0.62 ± 0.02	3.0 (2.9-3.0)	2.26 ± 0.12
ICIPE7	7.8 (7.7-8.0)	0.33 ± 0.31	7.1 (6.1-7.2)	0.46 ± 0.01	3.8 (3.7-3.9)	0.65 ± 0.02	3.5 (3.4-3.7)	0.34 ± 0.01

Table 6.7: Effect of temperature on virulence of *Beauveria bassiana* and *Metarhizium anisopliae* to the tomato spider mite, *Tetranychus evansi*: Lethal time to 50% mortality (LT_{50}) (in days) (95% fiducial limits), Slope (\pm SE)

Table 6.8: Effect of temperature on virulence of *Beauveria bassiana* and *Metarhizium anisopliae* isolates on adult *Tetranychus evansi*: Lethal time to 90% mortality (LT_{90}) (in days) (95% fiducial limits)

Isolates	20°C	25°C	30°C	35°C
Beauveria bassiana				
ICIPE279	10.9 (10.6-11.2)	10.1 (9.9-10.3)	6.1 (6.0-6.3)	5.0 (4.8-5.2)
ICIPE278	13.8 (13.3-14.4)	9.0 (8.7-9.2)	5.6 (5.4-5.8)	5.0 (4.8-5.1)
Metarhizium anisopliae				
ICIPE55	14.6 (13.9-15.6)	13.6 (13.1-14.1)	5.5 (5.4-5.6)	5.5 (5.3-5.6)
ICIPE59	25.6 (22.3-30.9)	10.9 (10.7-11.2)	8.7 (8.5-8.9)	7.0 (6.8-7.1)
ICIPE78	13.8 (13.3-14.4)	12.4 (12.0-12.8)	6.3 (6.2-6.4)	4.5 (4.4-4.7)
ICIPE84	13.9 (13.4-14.5)	9.2 (9.0-9.4)	6.7 (6.6-6.9)	7.7 (7.5-7.9)
ICIPE24	17.3 (16.4-18.5)	10.9 (10.7-11.2)	6.6 (6.5-6.7)	6.2 (6.0-6.4)
ICIPE25	17.0 (15.8-18.5)	9.5 (9.3-9.7)	8.2 (8.0-8.4)	4.3 (4.2-4.4)
ICIPE8	15.6 (14.9-16.5)	12.3 (11.9-12.3)	6.6 (6.5-6.8)	4.1 (3.9-4.2)
ICIPE43	16.2 (15.1-17.8)	11.9 (11.6-12.2)	5.8 (5.7-6.0)	3.5 (3.4-3.6)
ICIPE7	11.7 (11.4-12.1)	9.9 (9.7-10.1)	5.8 (5.7-5.9)	7.3 (7.1-7.6)

6.4 Discussion

Conidia of both *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* isolates germinated at all temperatures, but the optimum temperature of germination for most of the isolates was 25 and 30 °C. This is in accordance with the results of many workers who found that the optimum temperature for germination of *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* isolates varies between 25 and 30 °C (Fargues *et al.*, 1997; Ekesi *et al.*, 1999; Tefera and Pringle, 2003; Dimbi *et al.*, 2004; Kienwnick, 2006). Compared to *M. anisopliae* isolates, germination of *B. bassiana* isolates was low at 35 °C (Table 6.1).

Although all the fungal isolates grew at all temperatures, the optimum temperature of most isolates was 30 °C. Similar results have been reported in a study conducted

by Tefera and Pringle (2003). However, Ekesi *et al.* (1999) and Dimbi *et al.* (2004) reported that the optimum temperature for radial growth of most *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* isolates used in their studies lie between 25 and 30 °C. Ouedraogo et al. (1997) reported that the optimum temperature for vegetative growth of *M. anisopliae* isolates is between 25 and 32 °C, but with 25 °C for most of isolates. The growth rate of fungal isolates did not necessarily relate to virulence. An isolate could grow faster than others but did not necessarily cause higher mortality. For example, the *B. bassiana* isolate ICIPE279 that had a radial growth rate of 0.6 mm/day at 20 °C caused 72.5% mortality in *T. evansi* while the *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE55 with a higher radial growth rate (2.1 mm/day) induced 26.3% mortality in the same population of *T. evansi* at the same temperature.

All the selected isolates were pathogenic to the two spider mite species, but mortality varied with isolate and temperature. The susceptibility of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* to *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* infection increased as temperature increased. Most fungal isolates were more pathogenic at 25, 30 and 35 °C than at 20 °C. Several fungal isolates have been reported to be more pathogenic to arthropod pests at a temperature range of 25 to 35 °C (Hsiao *et al.*, 1992; Fargues *et al.*, 1997; Thomas and Jenkins, 1997; Ekesi *et al.*, 1999; Milner *et al.*, 2003; Dimbi *et al.*, 2004; Cuthbertson *et al.*, 2005). Dimbi *et al.* (2004) reported similar results with a higher pathogenicity of *M. anisopliae* isolates in three species of African tephritid fruit flies, *Ceratitis capitata*, *C. cosyra* and *C. fasciventris* at 25, 30 and 35 °C. However, Ekesi *et al.* (1999) showed that *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* isolates were highly pathogenic at 20 °C to the legume flower thrips, *Megalurothrips*

sjostedti. For instance the *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE62 that was among the more pathogenic to the two-spotted spider mite *T. urticae* at 25, 30 and 35 °C in this study, has already been reported to be more pathogenic to the three species of African tephritid fruit flies, *C. capitata*, *C. cosyra* and *C. fasciventris* at the same temperatures (Dimbi *et al.*, 2004), while Ekesi *et al.* (1999) reported that the same *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE62 was highly pathogenic to *M. sjostedti* at 15 and 20 °C.

From our findings, we selected one isolate of *B. bassiana* (ICIPE279) and three *M. anisopliae* isolates (ICIPE7, ICIPE78 and ICIPE84) as potential biological control agents for *T. urticae*, and on the other hand we selected two *B. bassiana* isolates (ICIPE278 and ICIPE279) and two isolates of *M. anisopliae* (ICIPE7 and ICIPE78) as potential biological control agents of *T. evansi*. These isolates were selected because their ability to infect and cause a high rate of mortality between 20 and 35 °C, which is the range of temperature where the pest is found.

CHAPTER 7: SUSCEPTIBILITY OF *TETRANYCHUS URTICAE* AND *TETRANYCHUS EVANSI* DEVELOPMENTAL STAGES TO INFECTION BY *BEAUVERIA BASSIANA* AND *METARHIZIUM ANISOPLIAE*

7.1 Introduction

The two-spotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae* Koch and the tomato spider mite, *Tetranychus evansi* Baker & Pritchard are polyphagous and attack a large number of cultivated and wild plants (Smith Meyer, 1996; Bolland *et al.*, 1998). In southern Africa, *T. urticae* has been reported on more than 200 host plants (Smith Meyer 1996). In Kenya, *T. urticae* is considered as the second-most important mite pest of tomatoes after *T. evansi* (ICIPE, 2004; Varela *et al.*, 2003). *Tetranychus evansi*, however, has been reported on several vegetables and ornamental crops such as roses as well as on many weeds, but with preference to Solanaceous (Bolland *et al.*, 1998; Keizer and Zuurbier, 2001; EPPO, 2004). The control of these pests relies on the use of synthetic acaricides. However, a problem in controlling these spider mite species is their ability to rapidly develop resistance to acaricides after only a few applications. This has prompted research for alternative control measures with an emphasis on biological control (Escudero and Ferragut, 2005; Collier *et al.*, 2007; Oliveira *et al.*, 2005; Wekesa *et al.*, 2005; Maniania et al., 2008).

The entomopathogenic fungi *Beauveria bassiana* and *Metarhizium anisopliae* have been reported to be pathogenic to various mites, and are being developed as components of integrated pest management (IPM) programmes (Chandler *et al.*, 2000, 2005; Tamai *et al.*, 2002; Davidson *et al.*, 2001; Barreto *et al.*, 2004; Oleivera *et al.*, 2004; Alves *et al.*, 2005; Wekesa *et al.*, 2005).

The susceptibility of arthropods to entomopathogenic fungi is influenced by several factors such as the pathogen and host population properties, as well as environmental conditions (Benz, 1987; Inglis et al., 2001). Among the host factors, developmental stage has mostly been reported to influence arthropod susceptibility to the entomopathogenic fungi (Ferron, 1985; Feng et al., 1985; Ekesi and Maniania; 2000; Samish et al., 2001; Dimbi et al., 2003; Wekesa et al., 2006). Oduor (1995) found that immature stages of the cassava green mite, Mononychellus tanajoa Bondar were more susceptible to fungal infection than mature stages. Similar results were reported in T. urticae (Irigaray et al., 2003) and in T. evansi (Wekesa et al., 2006). It is therefore important, in an assessment of the biological control potential of an entomopathogenic fungus, to test it against more than one developmental stage of its host because according to Oduor (1995), a pathogen that attacks and kills more than one stage effectuates better control on the host population. This study is aimed at studying the susceptibility of different developmental stages of T. urticae and T. evansi (eggs, larvae, protonymphs, deutonymphs and adults) to infection by B. bassiana and M. anisopliae and their implication in the control of these pests.

7.2 Materials and Methods

7.2.1 Mite cultures

The developmental stages (eggs, larvae, protonymphs, deutonymphs and adults) were obtained from *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* colonies, reared in the laboratory as described in chapter 3 (section 3.3).

7.2.2 Entomopathogenic fungal isolates

In this experiment *B. bassiana* isolate ICIPE279 and *M. anisopliae* isolates ICIPE7, ICIPE78 and ICIPE84 were used against *T. urticae*; while *B. bassiana* isolates ICIPE279 and ICIPE278, and *M. anisopliae* isolates ICIPE7 and ICIPE78 were used against *T. evansi*. These isolates were selected because of their virulence to *T. urticae* and *T. evansi*, respectively, at broad range of temperature. The fungi were grown for 2-3 weeks on Sabouraud Dextrose Agar (SDA) plates at $26 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C. Viability of conidia was determined before carrying out bioassays as described in chapter 3 (section 3.4). Conidial suspensions were prepared as described in the same chapter 3 (section 3.4).

7.2.3 Inoculation of eggs

Twenty freshly laid eggs (24 hours old) of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* were transferred to bean and tomato leaf discs (25 mm diameter), respectively, in Petri dishes (60 mm diameter) lined with wet cotton wool. Ten (10) ml of conidial suspensions was then sprayed on the leaf discs with eggs using Burgerjon's spray tower (Burgerjon,

1956). Four concentrations $(3 \times 10^5, 1 \times 10^6, 3 \times 10^6 \text{ and } 1 \times 10^7 \text{ conidia ml}^{-1})$ were used. Controls were treated with sterile distilled water containing 0.05% Triton X-100. Petri dishes containing eggs were kept in an incubator at 26 ± 2°C at 60-70% RH in a completely randomised design. Egg hatchability was observed daily for 7 days. The experiment was replicated four times.

7.2.4 Inoculation of larvae, protonymphs, deutonymphs and adults

Fresh bean and tomato leaf discs (25 mm diameter) were placed in a 60-mm diameter Petri dish lined with wet cotton wool and were sprayed with 10 ml of conidial suspensions using Burgerjon's spray tower as described in chapter 5 (section 5.2.3). Twenty *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* mites were then transferred to the treated bean and tomato leaf discs, respectively, using a fine camel hairbrush. Concentrations of 3×10^5 , 1×10^6 , 3×10^6 and 1×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ were used on each developmental stage. Control lots were treated with sterile distilled water containing 0.05 Triton X-100. Mites were exposed to treated bean and tomato leaf discs for 5 days (*T. urticae*) and 4 days (*T. evansi*); after which they were removed and replaced with fresh, and untreated ones. Mites were maintained in an incubator at 26 ± 2°C and 80-95% RH in a completely randomised design. Mortality was recorded daily for 10 days. Treatments were replicated four times.

7.2.5 Statistical Analysis

Percentage egg hatchability and percentage mortality in the motile stages were corrected for natural mortality (Abbott, 1925) and arcsine-transformed to normalize the data before being subjected to ANOVA (SAS, 1999-2001). Means were separated by Student-Newman-Keuls test at p=0.05. Probit analysis was used to estimate the lethal concentration causing 50% mortality (LC₅₀) and the lethal concentration inducing 90% mortality (LC₉₀) (SAS, 1999-2001).

7.3 Results

7.3.1 Effect of fungal infection on T. urticae and T. evansi egg hatchability

In both species, all the eggs (100%) hatched in the controls. However, the percentage of egg hatchability reduced with increased fungal concentration and fungal isolate. The lowest egg hatchability for the two spider mite species occurred at the highest concentration of 1×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ at 7 days post treatment (Figures 7.1 and 7.2).

In *T. urticae*, significant differences in egg hatchability were observed between isolates at the concentrations of 3×10^5 conidia ml⁻¹ (F=3.32; df= 3, 12; P= 0.0567), 3×10^6 conidia ml⁻¹ (F=12.19; df=3, 12; P=0.0006) and 1×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ (F=5.60; df=3, 12; P=0.0123). However there was no significant difference between isolates at the concentration of 1×10^6 conidia ml⁻¹ (F=0.61; df= 3, 12; P=0.6214) (Figure 7.1). Significant differences were also observed between concentrations in all isolates: ICIPE279 (F=343.42; df=4, 15; P< 0.0001); ICIPE78 (F=590.96; df=4, 15; P< 0.0001); ICIPE84 (F=186.33; df=4, 15; P< 0.0001) and ICIPE7 (F=220.86; df=4, 15; P< 0.0001) (Figure 7.1).



Figure 7.1: Effect of *B. bassiana* (Bb) and *M. anisopliae* (Ma) infection on *T. urticae* egg hatchability

In *T. evansi*, there were also significant differences in egg hatchability among isolates at all the concentrations: 3×10^5 conidia ml⁻¹ (F=20.44; df=3, 12; P< 0.0001); 1×10^6 conidia ml⁻¹ (F=4.96; df=3, 12; P= 0.0182); 3×10^6 conidia ml⁻¹ (F=6.65; df=3, 12; P= 0.0068) and 1×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ (F=9.16; df=3, 12; P< 0.0001) (Figure 7.2). Lower hatchability was observed in the highest fungal concentrations. There were also significant differences in *T. evansi* egg hatchability between concentrations in all isolates: ICIPE279 (F=965.54; df=4, 15; P < 0.0001); ICIPE78 (F=430.71; df=4, 15; P< 0.0001); ICIPE278 (F=419.45; df= 4, 15; P < 0.0001) and ICIPE7 (F=570.73; df=4, 15; P< 0.0001) (Figure 7.2).



Figure 7.2: Effect of *B. bassiana* (Bb) and *M. anisopliae* (Ma) infection on *T. evansi* egg hatchability

7.3.3 Effect of fungal infection on T. urticae and T. evansi motile stages

Mortality in the control treatments was 3.8, 3.8, 2.5 and 8.8% in larvae, protonymphs, deutonymphs and adults of *T. urticae*, respectively; and 2.5, 2.5, 5.0 and 8.8% in larvae, protonymphs, deutonymphs and adults of *T. evansi*, respectively. Mortality of motile stages in fungus treatments increased with increase in concentration in both *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* (Tables 7.1 and 7.4). The highest *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* mortality occurred at the highest concentration of 1×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ at 10 days post treatment. However, deutonymphs and adults were more susceptible to fungal infection than larvae and protonymphs. In both species, larvae

were the least susceptible to fungal infection than all the other motile stages (Tables 7.1 and 7.4).

Mortality was dose-dependent within all developmental stages with the highest concentration causing the highest mortality. There were significant differences in mortality between concentrations in all developmental stages, namely larvae (F=24.39; df=16, 51; P < 0.0001), protonymphs (F=140.64; df=16, 51; P < 0.0001), deutonymphs (F=133.88; df=16, 51; P < 0.0001) and adults (F=85.84; df=16, 51; P < 0.0001) of *T. urticae* (Table 7.1). The LC₅₀ values varied from 20.8 to 46.3 × 10⁷ conidia ml⁻¹, from 0.3 to 0.7×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹, from 0.2 to 0.4×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ and from 0.06 to 0.2×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ in larvae, protonymphs, deutonymphs and adults, respectively (Table 7.2). LC₉₀ values varied from 2.11 to 25.50 × 10⁸ conidia ml⁻¹ in larvae, from 0.40 to 3.77×10^8 conidia ml⁻¹ in deutonymphs and from 0.08 to 5.24×10^8 conidia ml⁻¹ in adults (Table 7.3).

Table 7.1: Susceptibility of *T. urticae* motile stages to infection by *Metarhizium anisopliae* and *Beauveria bassiana* 10 days after treatment at 26 ± 2 <u>°C (% mortality ± SE)</u> <u>Percent mortality (+ SE)</u>

				Percent n	nortality $(\pm SE)$	
Fungal species	Isolates	Concentrations (conidia ml ⁻¹)	Larvae	Protonymphs	Deutonymphs	Adults
Beauveria	ICIPE279	3×10^5	9.6 ± 1.5efB	19.5 ± 1.3fAB	$24.3 \pm 1.1 hijA$	26.0 ± 2.3 gA
bassiana		1×10^{6}	$17.9 \pm 2.8 bcdB$	35.1 ± 1.2dA	34.6 ± 1.1 fgA	39.6 ± 1.6fA
		$3 imes 10^{6}$	$25.2 \pm 3.2 abB$	54.6 ± 2.0 cA	51.3 ± 2.2 dA	57.2 ± 3.8 cdeA
		1×10^7	$29.2\pm2.4aC$	$63.6 \pm 3.3 \text{bB}$	$73.2 \pm 3.7 \text{bAB}$	$76.8 \pm 3.8 \text{bA}$
Metarhizium	ICIPE7	3×10^{5}	$5.3 \pm 0.0 \mathrm{fC}$	15.5 ± 1.9fB	19.1 ± 2.2jB	27.2 ± 2.5gA
anisopliae		1×10^{6}	14.4 ± 1.9 cdeC	$24.6 \pm 2.2 \text{eB}$	29.5 ± 1.6 ghB	39.6 ± 1.6 fA
		3×10^{6}	$23.3 \pm 2.8 abcC$	$35.1 \pm 1.7 \mathrm{dB}$	53.8 ± 2.2 dA	$50.7 \pm 2.1 \text{deA}$
		1×10^7	$27.1\pm2.1abB$	57.2 ± 0.7 cA	65.4 ± 3.8 cA	$62.9\pm2.0 cdA$
	ICIPE78	3 ×10 ⁵	8.2 ± 1.7efC	$14.2 \pm 2.3 \mathrm{fC}$	25.6 ± 1.8 hijB	$40.0 \pm 4.0 \mathrm{fA}$
		1×10^{6}	17.6 ± 0.0 bcdC	$16.9 \pm 1.4 \mathrm{fC}$	37.2 ± 1.0 fB	$49.2 \pm 4.0 \text{efA}$
		$3 imes 10^{6}$	$27.1 \pm 2.1 abD$	$38.9 \pm 1.3 dC$	$53.8 \pm 3.9 \text{dB}$	68.5 ± 2.7 cA
		1×10^7	$29.2\pm2.4aD$	$71.4 \pm 1.7aC$	$82.0\pm1.5aB$	$100.0\pm0.0aA$
	ICIPE84	3×10^5	$6.7 \pm 1.5 \mathrm{fB}$	5.2 ± 0.1 gB	21.8 ± 1.1ijA	23.1 ± 2.1gA
		1×10^{6}	$11.3 \pm 2.5 \text{defC}$	25.9 ± 1.8 eB	26.9 ± 1.1 hjB	39.8 ± 4.2 fA
		3×10^{6}	$19.5 \pm 1.8 \mathrm{abcD}$	$33.8 \pm 2.5 dC$	$43.6 \pm 0.8 \text{eB}$	$53.4 \pm 2.3 \text{deA}$
		1×10^7	25.2 ± 3.2 abC	51.9 ± 1.6 cB	60.3 ± 1.1 cA	65.7 ± 1.1 cdA
Control	Control	0	3.8 ± 1.3gA	3.8 ± 1.3hA	2.5 ± 1.4 kA	$8.8 \pm 2.4 hA$

Means (\pm SE) within column followed by the lower case letter and within row bearing the same upper case letter are not significantly different (SNK test, P = 0.05)

Species/Isolates	T. urticae Stages	LC_{50} (95% fiducial limits) conidia ml ⁻¹	Slope ± SE	Intercept	Chi-Square (χ^2)	<i>P</i> values
Beauveria bassia	ana	,				
ICIPE279	Larvae	46.3 (41.8-53.2) $\times 10^7$	0.25 ± 0.03	-4.99	7.52	< 0.0001
	Protonymphs	$0.3 (0.2-0.3) \times 10^7$	0.55 ± 0.03	-8.08	15.86	< 0.0001
	Deutonymphs	$0.2 (0.2-0.3) \times 10^7$	0.59 ± 0.05	-8.63	12.79	< 0.0001
	Adults	$0.1 (0.1-0.3) \times 10^7$	0.58 ± 0.06	-8.14	9.36	< 0.0001
Metarhizium anisopliae						
ICIPE7	Larvae	$20.8 (10.3-42.3) \times 10^7$	0.33 ± 0.03	-6.28	10.71	< 0.0001
	Protonymphs	$0.6 (0.5-0.8) \times 10^7$	0.52 ± 0.03	-8.13	15.11	< 0.0001
	Deutonymphs	$0.3 (0.2-0.3) \times 10^7$	0.62 ± 0.04	-9.24	14.58	< 0.0001
	Adults	$0.2 (0.2-0.3) \times 10^7$	0.38 ± 0.02	-5.50	19.70	< 0.0001
ICIPE78	Larvae	25.5 (20.9-31.1) ×10 ⁷	0.28 ± 0.01	-5.42	21.34	< 0.0001
	Protonymphs	$0.4 (0.2-0.6) \times 10^7$	0.78 ± 0.01	-11.86	55.85	< 0.0001
	Deutonymphs	$0.2(0.2-0.2) \times 10^7$	0.69 ± 0.05	-9.86	14.59	< 0.0001
	Adults	$0.06 (0.05 - 0.07) \times 10^7$	0.82 ± 0.04	-10.91	18.83	< 0.0001
ICIPE84	Larvae	$39.5 (17.3-90.2) \times 10^7$	0.30 ± 0.02	-5.98	12.33	< 0.0001
	Protonymphs	$0.7 (0.6-0.8) \times 10^7$	0.59 ± 0.02	-9.39	29.26	< 0.0001
	Deutonymphs	$0.4 (0.4-0.5) \times 10^7$	0.49 ± 0.02	-7.55	23.29	< 0.0001
	Adults	$0.2 (0.1-0.2) \times 10^7$	0.47 ± 0.02	-6.68	21.05	< 0.0001

Table 7.2: Susceptibility of *T. urticae* motile stages to infection by *Metarhizium anisopliae* and *Beauveria bassiana* 10 days after treatment at 26 ± 2 °C: Lethal concentration to 50% mortality (LC₅₀) (95% fiducial limits)

Table 7.3: Susceptibility of *T. urticae* motile stages to infection by *Metarhizium anisopliae* and *Beauveria bassiana* 10 days after treatment at 26 ± 2 °C: Lethal concentration to 90% mortality (LC₉₀) (95% fiducial limits)

Isolates	T. urticae stages	LC_{90} (95% fiducial limits) conidia ml ⁻¹
ICIPE279	Larvae	$6.93(6.87-7.10) \times 10^8$
	Protonymphs	$1.35(0.80-2.30) \times 10^8$
	Deutonymphs	$0.86(0.40-1.85) \times 10^8$
	Adults	$0.54 (0.25 - 1.17) \times 10^8$
ICIPE7	Larvae	$25.50(24.34-26.79) \times 10^8$
	Protonymphs	$4.10(1.99-8.47) \times 10^8$
	Deutonymphs	$0.95(0.55-1.63) \times 10^{8}$
	Adults	5.24 (2.77-9.92) ×10 ⁸
		0
ICIPE78	Larvae	$2.11(2.10-2.15) \times 10^{8}$
	Protonymphs	$0.66(0.58-0.75) \times 10^8$
	Deutonymphs	$0.40(0.25-0.65) \times 10^8$
	Adults	$0.08~(0.07-0.10) \times 10^8$
		9
ICIPE84	Larvae	$7.72(7.70-7.74) \times 10^{8}$
	Protonymphs	$2.84(2.09-3.84) \times 10^8$
	Deutonymphs	$3.77(2.58-5.50) \times 10^8$
	Adults	$1.86(1.09-3.17) \times 10^8$
	Isolates ICIPE279 ICIPE7 ICIPE78 ICIPE84	IsolatesT. urticae stagesICIPE279Larvae Protonymphs Deutonymphs AdultsICIPE7Larvae Protonymphs Deutonymphs AdultsICIPE78Larvae Protonymphs Deutonymphs AdultsICIPE78Larvae Protonymphs Deutonymphs Deutonymphs AdultsICIPE84Larvae Protonymphs Deutonymphs Adults

Mortality was also dose-dependent within each developmental stage of *T. evansi* with high mortality recorded at the higher concentrations. There were significant differences between concentrations in all the motile stages: larvae (F=23.27; df=16, 51; P <0.0001), protonymphs (F=24.36; df=16, 51; P< 0.0001), deutonymphs (F=51.52; df=16, 51; P< 0.0001) and adults (F=70.48; df=16, 51; P< 0.0001) (Table 7.4). The LC₅₀ values ranged from 8.0 to 40.4×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹, from 6.8 to 37.8×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹, from 0.3 to 2.5×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ and from 0.1 to 0.3×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ for larvae, protonymphs, deutonymphs and adults, respectively (Table 7.5). LC₉₀ values, however, ranged from 1.82 to 18.6×10^{10} conidia ml⁻¹ in larvae, from 1.88 to 29.7×10^{10} conidia ml⁻¹ in protonymphs, from 0.009 to 0.78×10^{10} conidia ml⁻¹ in deutonymphs, and from 0.0009 to 0.03×10^{10} conidia ml⁻¹ in adults (Table 7.6).
Table 7.4: Susceptib	oility of <i>T. evansi</i> r	notile stages to infect	ion by <i>Metarhizium</i>	anisopliae and E	Beauveria bassiand	10 days after trea	atment at 26 ± 2
°C (% mortality ± S	E)						

			Percent mortality in motile stages $(\pm SE)$					
Species	Isolates	Concentrations	Larvae	Protonymphs	Deutonymphs	Adults		
		(conidia ml ⁻¹)						
B. bassiana	ICIPE278	3×10^5	$11.5 \pm 1.2 eA$	$15.8 \pm 1.5 \text{fA}$	$16.4 \pm 1.6 hA$	17.2 ± 2.5 iA		
		$1 imes 10^{6}$	$15.3 \pm 1.9 deB$	24.4 ± 1.0 bcdeA	24.6 ± 2.3 gA	$25.9 \pm 1.7 hA$		
		$3 imes 10^{6}$	20.9 ± 1.1 cdC	23.1 ± 1.5 cdeC	$28.0 \pm 2.7 \mathrm{fgB}$	53.2 ± 1.7 cA		
		1×10^7	$26.7 \pm 1.9 abcD$	32.0 ± 1.1abC	43.7 ± 2.3 dB	$80.5 \pm 1.1 \text{bA}$		
	ICIPE279	3×10^5	$14.0 \pm 2.3 deB$	$21.6 \pm 1.2 def A$	22.3 ± 1.1 gA	$24.0\pm0.9\text{hA}$		
		$1 imes 10^{6}$	$24.3 \pm 2.1 bcB$	31.9 ± 1.9abA	$33.3 \pm 1.6 \text{efA}$	$38.3 \pm 1.4 fA$		
		$3 imes 10^{6}$	$26.7 \pm 1.9 abcC$	$29.5 \pm 1.6 bcC$	54.1 ± 1.3 cB	$76.9 \pm 0.9 bcA$		
		1×10^7	$33.6 \pm 1.6aC$	$37.2 \pm 2.4aC$	$68.4 \pm 1.4 aB$	$90.6 \pm 1.7 aA$		
M. anisopliae	ICIPE7	3×10^{5}	$14.0 \pm 2.3 deB$	$20.6 \pm 2.4 def A$	24.4 ± 1.0 gA	26.8 ± 1.7 ghA		
		1×10^{6}	$23.8 \pm 2.3 bcB$	$25.6 \pm 1.8 bcdAB$	$32.5 \pm 1.0 \text{efA}$	32.3 ± 2.5 gA		
		3×10^{6}	$25.8 \pm 1.6 bcD$	$32.0 \pm 2.1 \text{abC}$	52.2 ± 1.4 cB	73.0 ± 1.5 cdA		
		1×10^{7}	33.6 ± 1.1aD	$38.5 \pm 1.6aC$	$67.3 \pm 1.3 \mathrm{aB}$	$86.5\pm0.7aA$		
	ICIPE78	3×10^5	$10.2 \pm 2.0 eC$	17.3 ± 1.3efB	23.4 ± 0.0 gA	$23.9 \pm 0.2 hA$		
		$1 imes 10^6$	$15.3 \pm 2.7 \text{deB}$	$21.8 \pm 1.8 defAB$	28.1 ± 1.8 fgA	27.4 ± 3.4 ghA		
		$3 imes 10^{6}$	$23.9 \pm 1.8 bcC$	$25.5 \pm 2.6 bcdC$	$34.1 \pm 2.4 eB$	54.4 ± 1.4eA		
		1×10^7	$31.2 \pm 0.7 abC$	32.0 ± 2.1 abC	$58.5 \pm 1.5 \text{bB}$	$70.0 \pm 1.2 \text{dA}$		
Control	Control	0	2.5 ± 1.4 fB	2.5 ± 1.4gB	5.0 ± 0.0iB	8.8 ± 1.3jA		

Means (\pm SE) within column followed by the lower case letter and within row bearing the same upper case letter are not significantly different (Student-Newman-Keuls test, P = 0.05)

Table 7.5: Susceptibility of *T. evansi* motile stages to infection by *Metarhizium anisopliae* and *Beauveria bassiana* 10 days after treatment at 26 ± 2 °C: Lethal concentration to 50% mortality (LC₅₀) and 95% fiducial limits

Fungal species	Isolates	Stages	LC_{50} (95% fiducial limits) conidia ml ⁻¹	Slope \pm SE	Intercept	Chi-square (χ^2)	P values
<i>Beauveria</i>	ICIPE278	Larvae	40.4 (36.1-47.6) ×10 ⁷	0.39 ± 0.07	-3.3210	34.19	< 0.0001
bassiana		Protonymphs	$37.8(34.4-41.4) \times 10^7$	0.31 ± 0.06	-2.6487	24.92	< 0.0001
		Deutonymphs	$2.5(1.5-5.9) \times 10^7$	0.52 ± 0.06	-3.8155	71.45	< 0.0001
		Adults	0.3 (0.2-0.3) ×10 ⁷	1.23 ± 0.06	-7.8464	363.82	< 0.0001
	ICIPE279	Larvae	10.4 (3.9-19.2) ×10 ⁷	0.40 ± 0.07	-3.1686	40.48	< 0.0001
		Protonymphs	$19.6(4.3-36.1) \times 10^7$	0.26 ± 0.06	-2.1330	19.03	< 0.0001
		Deutonymphs	0.3 (0.2-0.3) ×10 ⁷	0.85 ± 0.06	-5.4372	201.16	< 0.0001
		Adults	0.1 (0.1-0.1) ×10'	1.42 ± 0.07	-8.5814	431.80	< 0.0001
Motarhizium	ICIPE7	Larvaa	$80(37274) \times 10^{7}$	0.52 ± 0.07	1 1/63	63.02	< 0.0001
anisoplia		Protonymphs	$35.8(7.7.63.0) \times 10^7$	0.32 ± 0.07 0.31 + 0.06	2 6314	24.95	< 0.0001
unisopiue		Deutonymphs	$0.7 (0.5, 1, 1) \times 10^7$	0.51 ± 0.00 0.61 ± 0.06	1 1557	105 77	< 0.0001
		Adulta	$0.7 (0.3 - 1.1) \times 10^{-10}$	0.01 ± 0.00 0.88 ± 0.06	-4.1337	215 24	< 0.0001
		Aduits	0.3 (0.2-0.3) ×10	0.88 ± 0.00	-5.0551	213.24	< 0.0001
	ICIPE78	Larvae	10.9 (4.0-68.3) ×10 ⁷	0.40 ± 0.06	-3.1878	40.59	< 0.0001
		Protonymphs	6.8 (2.6-42.7) ×10 ⁷	0.35 ± 0.06	-2.7545	34.87	< 0.0001
		Deutonymphs	0.3 (0.2-0.3) ×10 ⁷	0.78 ± 0.06	-5.0449	175.26	< 0.0001
		Adults	0.1 (0.1-0.1) ×10 ⁷	1.24 ± 0.06	-7.5728	369.62	< 0.0001

Table 7.6: Susceptibility of *T. evansi* motile stages to infection by *Metarhizium anisopliae* and *Beauveria bassiana* 10 days after treatment at 26 ± 2 °C: Lethal concentration to 50% mortality (LC₅₀) (95% fiducial limits)

Fungal species	Isolates	Stages	LC ₉₀ (95% fiducial limits) conidia ml ⁻¹
Beauveria	ICIPE278	Larvae	8.47 (3.76-12.23) ×10 ¹⁰
bassiana		Protonymphs	5.34 (3.57-7.88) ×10 ¹⁰
		Deutonymphs	$0.78~(0.2-0.97) \times 10^{10}$
		Adults	0.03 (0.02-0.04) ×10 ¹⁰
	ICIPE279	Larvae	$1.82(1.2-2.99) \times 10^{10}$
		Protonymphs	$1.88(1.12-2.27) \times 10^{10}$
		Deutonymphs	$0.009(0.005-0.02) \times 10^{10}$
		Adults	$0.0009 (0.0008 - 0.001) \times 10^{10}$
			10
Metarhizium	ICIPE7	Larvae	$2.2 (0.4-4.4) \times 10^{10}$
anisopliae		Protonymphs	$5.25 (2.98-7.62) \times 10^{10}$
		Deutonymphs	$0.09 (0.03 - 0.4) \times 10^{10}$
		Adults	$0.008 (0.005 - 0.01) \times 10^{10}$
	ICIPE78	Larvae	18.6 (1.2-3052.6) ×10 ¹⁰
	ich 270	Protonymphs	$29.7 (1.5-47.2) \times 10^{10}$
		Deutonymphs	$0.01 (0.006-0.03) \times 10^{10}$
		Adults	$0.001 (0.001 - 0.002) \times 10^{10}$

7.4 Discussion

The reduction in egg hatchability of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* following infection with entomopathogenic fungi observed in the present study is similar to the one reported by other authors in *T. urticae* (Irigaray *et al.*, 2003), *T. cinnabarinus* (Shi and Feng, 2004) and *T. evansi* (Wekesa *et al.*, 2006). Infection by *B bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* has also been reported to reduce egg hatchability in other arthropods such as the tick *Amblyomma variegatum* Koch (Kaaya *et al.*, 1996), *M. sjostedti* (Ekesi and Maniania, 2000) and *Chilo partellus* (Maniania, 1991).

Altough all the different developmental stages of T. urticae and T. evansi were susceptible to B. bassiana and M. anisopliae infection, deutonymphs and adults were more susceptible to fungal infection than the others. Similar results have been reported in the cassava green mite, Mononychellus tanajoa (Barreto et al., 2004), the citrus rust mite *Phyllocoptruta oleivera* (Alves *et al.*, 2005), the cattle tick, Boophilus annulatus (Pirali-Kheirabadi et al., 2006), in T. urticae (Irigaray et al., 2003) and in T. evansi (Wekesa et al., 2006). The mentioned results may explain why mature stages are more susceptible to fungal infection that younger (immature) ones and epizootics are generally only observed in mature stage. For example, Carner and Canerday (1970) observed over 50% infection of field-collected deutonymphs and adult T. urticae by Entomophthora sp. compared to 1.6 and 25.6% of larvae and protonymphs, respectively. Similarly, Oduor (1995) reported that deutonymphs and adults of the cassava green mite, M. tanajoa were more susceptible to infection by *Neozygites floridana* than larvae and protonymphs. Ekesi and Maniania (2000) reported that adults of the legume flower thrips Megalurothrips sjostedti (Trybom) were more susceptible to M. anisopliae infection than larvae. The differences in susceptibility of the different developmental stages of arthropods to fungal infection may be attributed to the characteristics of their cuticle (Samish et al., 2001), the interaction between the arthropod integument being penetrated by the fungus, and to the moulting. It has been demonstrated that when the time interval between consecutive moulting is short, moulting plays a significant role in arthropod resistance to fungal infectivity (Vey and Fargues, 1977). Oduor (1995) speculated that the differences in susceptibility of different mite developmental stages to fungal infection may also be attributed to the smaller size

and more limited movement of the younger stages of mites, which reduce the encounters with the conidia.

Although, *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* are reported to be pathogenic to many arthropod pests, the LC₅₀ values vary with the fungal species, fungal isolate as well as the host properties. In this study, the LC₅₀ values also varied with isolates and developmental stages, which is in agreement with our results (Table 7.1 and 7.4). Mortality was dose-dependent in all the motile stages, with the highest concentration producing the highest mortality. Similar results have been reported by many workers (Feng and Curruthers, 1985; Fransen *et al.*, 1987; Feng *et al.*, 1990; Ekesi *et al.*, 1998; Ekesi, 1999; Ekesi and Maniania, 2000; Ekesi *et al.*, 2000, 2002; Barreto *et al.*, 2004; Alves *et al.*, 2005; Pirali-Kheirabadi *et al.*, 2006; Wekesa *et al.*, 2006; Yaginuma *et al.*, 2006). For example, Wekesa *et al.* (2006) reported that the highest concentration of *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* induced the highest mortality of motile stages of *T. evansi* than the lower concentration. According to the results of this study, it is advisable to target eggs, deutonymphs and adults while applying the fungi *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* for the control of these two mite species.

CHAPTER 8: EFFECTS OF CHEMICAL PESTICIDES ON GERMINATION AND RADIAL GROWTH OF *BEAUVERIA BASSIANA* AND *METARHIZIUM ANISOPLIAE*

8.1 Introduction

Although entomopathogenic fungi are reported to be effective for the management of various arthropod pests, their use will not surpass the need for synthetic pesticides in all commercial production systems but can, under several instances, be applied in conjunction with synthetic pesticides in integrated pest management (IPM) programmes (Maniania et al., 2008). Regardless of the way an entomopathogenic fungus is to be introduced in an environment as part of an IPM programme, it is very important to know how it might be affected by synthetic pesticides frequently used in the same environment in order to determine whether the pesticide application need to be temporarily or spatially separated from the most susceptible stages of the fungal pathogen (Pell et al., 2001) Unfortunately, in most cases, interactions between the different control methods are not taken into account before their application. The need to obtain information on the compatibility of specific fungal isolates to be used for the control of a specific pest with the agrochemicals used in the same agro-ecosystem can not be underestimated as such information is important in the development of application strategies for both the fungi and the chemical pesticides.

All classes of agrochemicals have been reported as potentially inhibitory to entomopathogenic hyphomycetes, including herbicides, insecticides and fungicides (Inglis *et al.*, 2001). However, the inhibitory effects of chemical pesticides on fungal

germination and growth vary among fungal species and isolates within a species, and also among chemical pesticides (Anderson *et al.*, 1989; Li and Holdom, 1994; Poprawski and Majchrocwicz, 1995; Dimbi, 2003). The aim of this research was, therefore, to evaluate the effects of chemical pesticides on germination and radial growth of the entomopathogenic fungi, *B. bassiana* isolate ICIPE279 and *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE78, reported earlier as the most virulent isolates to the two-spotted spider mite *T. urticae* and the tomato spider mite *T. evansi* (see chapter 6 and chapter 7).

8.2 Materials and Methods

8.2.1 Fungi

One *B. bassiana* isolate (ICIPE279) and one *M. anisopliae* isolate (ICIPE78) were used for this study. They were selected earlier as potential candidates for the control of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* (See Chapter 6)

8.2.2 Chemical pesticides

Three insecticides (Dimethoate[®], Karate[®] and Malathion[®]) and three fungicides (Antraco[®]l, Mancozeb[®] and Milraz[®]) were used in this experiment (Table 8.1). The three insecticides are commonly used by small-scale farmers for the control of insect pests, while the three fungicides are generally used for the control of fungal diseases in tomatoes and other vegetable crops where *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* are serious pests. All the synthetic pesticides were used at their recommended field concentrations (Table 8.1). The insecticide concentrations were 1.5 ml/litre, 0.9

gram/litre and 1.5 ml/litre of water for Dimethoate, Karate and Malathion, respectively. For the fungicides, concentrations were 2.25 grams/litre, 2.5 grams/litre and 2 grams/litre of water for Antracol, Mancozeb and Milraz, respectively.

Pesticides	Active ingredient content	formulati on	Field rate (in 1 litre of water)	Manufacturer
Insecticides				
Dimethoate (DANADIM)	Dimethoate 39% Cyclohexanone 43% Xylene 13% Emulsifiers 5%	EC	1.5-2.0 ml	Cheminova Agro A/s DK-7620 Lemvin, Denmark
Karate	25g/kg lambdacyhalothrin	WG	0.8-1.0 gram	Syngenta Crop Protection AG, Basle, Switzerland
Malathion	Malathion 50% Inert ingredients 50%	EC	1.0-2.0 ml	Southern Agricultural Insecticides, Inc., USA
Fungicides	·			·
Antracol	Propineb (70%) 700g/kg Hexamethylenetetramine 1% Others (\approx 30%)	WP	2.0-2.5 grams	Bayer CropScience, AG, Germany
Mancozeb (DITHANE* M- 45)	Manganese 16% Zinc 2% Ethylenebisdithiocabarmat e ion 62% Inert ingredients 20%	WP	2.5 grams	Dow AgroSciences, Switzerland
Milraz	Propineb 700g/kg Cymoxanil 60g/kg	WP	1.5-2.5 grams	Bayer CropScience, AG, Germany

Table 8.1: Chemical pesticides used to test effects on fungal germination and growth

EC= Emulsifiable Concentration; WP= Wettable Powder; WG= Water dispersible Granules

8.2.3 Media preparation

The methods described by Li and Holdom (1994) were used to evaluate the compatibility of fungi and pesticides. Sabouraud Dextrose Agar medium (SDA) was prepared and each 500 ml portion was dispensed into 1000ml medium bottles. The media was then autoclaved at 121 °C for 20 minutes and allowed to cool at about 50 °C. The pesticides were filter sterilized using a 0.2 µm syringe and then added into each bottle to make the field recommended concentrations. The bottle containing the mixture was shaken to allow uniform distribution and poured into 90 mm Petri dishes. Control consisted of SDA without pesticide (Dimbi, 2003).

8.2.4 Effect of chemical pesticides on fungal germination

The effect of pesticides on germination was evaluated by spread-plating 0.1 ml of conidial suspension containing 3×10^6 conidia ml⁻¹ onto SDA plates containing the pesticides and pesticide-free SDA plates as control. Sterile microscope cover slips were placed on each plate as described earlier (See chapter 3). Inoculated plates were sealed with Parafilm membrane and incubated at room temperature ($25 \pm 2^\circ$ C). At 20 hours post inoculation, germination was halted by adding 1 ml of formaldehyde (0.5%) onto each plate and percentage germination was determined by counting 100 spores for each plate at 200 × magnification. The treatment was replicated four times, and the experiment was repeated twice.

8.2.5 Effect of chemical pesticides on fungal radial growth

A conidial suspension of 1×10^7 conidia ml⁻¹ was spread-plated on SDA plates. The plates were sealed with Parafilm membrane and then incubated at 25 °C in total darkness for three days in order to obtain mycelial mats. The mycelial mats were then cut from the culture plates into round agar plugs using 8 mm-diameter cork borer. Each agar plug was transferred singly onto the centre of the SDA agar plates containing the different pesticides (each at its recommended field concentration), as well as in the control plates. Each plate was sealed with Parafilm membrane and incubated at room temperature (23-28 °C). Radial growth was then recorded daily for 10 days. Treatments were replicated 4 times, and the whole experiment was repeated twice.

8.2.6 Data analysis

Germination and vegetative growth data were subjected to one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) for a completely randomized design using the ANOVA procedures of SAS (SAS Institute, 1999-2001) after arcsine transformation of the percentage data. Means were separated using the SNK test.

8.3 Results

8.3.1 Effect of chemical pesticides on fungal germination

All the insecticides had an effect on fungal germination, but germination varied with insecticide and fungal species. *Metarhizium anisopliae* germination was greater or equal to 87.3% in all the insecticide treatments. However, *B. bassiana* germination

was considerably affected by the insecticides, except Karate (Table 8.2). Dimethoate and Malathion reduced the germination of *B. bassiana* by up to 80 and 90%, respectively. On the other hand, all the fungicides (Antracol, Mancozeb and Milraz) inhibited the germination of *M. anisopliae. Beauveria bassiana* germination was inhibited by Mancozeb and Milraz, but not by Antracol, However, germination of *B. bassiana* in the latter treatment was very low (19.0%)

	Metarhizium	Beauveria
	anisopliae isolate	bassiana isolate
	ICIPE78	ICIPE279
Control	$89.9\pm0.6a$	$92.3 \pm 0.1a$
Insecticides		
Dimethoate	$87.3 \pm 1.3a$	$20.1\pm2.8b$
Karate	$87.8\pm0.6a$	$90.8 \pm 0.7a$
Malathion	$88.2 \pm 1.0a$	$6.2 \pm 0.5c$
Fungicides		
Antracol	No germination	$19.0\pm3.0b$
Mancozeb	No germination	No germination
Milraz	No germination	No germination

Table 8.2: Effect of pesticides on fungal germination (% viability \pm SE)

Means (\pm SE) within column followed by the same lower case letter and within row bearing the same upper case letter are not significantly different (Student-Newman-Keuls test, *P* = 0.05).

8.3.2 Effect of chemical pesticides on fungal radial growth

The two fungal isolates (ICIPE78 and ICIPE279) grew in all insecticide treatments, but their growth was lower compared to the control. However, no fungal growth was recorded in fungicide treatments, except in Antracol treatment where fungal growth occurred (Table 8.3).

	Metarhizium	Beauveria
	anisopliae isolate	bassiana isolate
	ICIPE78	ICIPE279
Control	$5.0 \pm 0.3a$	2.3 ± 0.1a
Insecticides		
Dimethoate	$2.7 \pm 0.1b$	$1.5 \pm 0.1b$
Karate	$1.9 \pm 0.2b$	$1.5 \pm 0.0b$
Malathion	$2.3 \pm 0.2b$	$0.9 \pm 0.3b$
Fungicides		
Antracol	No growth	$1.1 \pm 0.1b$
Mancozeb	No growth	No growth
Milraz	No growth	No growth

Table 8.3: Effect of pesticides on fungal radial growth (mm/day)

Means (\pm SE) followed by the same letter are not significantly different (Student-Newman-Keuls test, P = 0.05).

8.4 Discussion

Considering germination as a compatibility parameter, as suggested by Nevez *et al.* (2001), generally all the insecticides in this study were compatible with the *M. anisopliae* strain ICIPE78, but not with the *B. bassiana* strain ICIPE279. The latter was only compatible with Karate. Many studies have been devoted to the compatibility between entomopathogenic fungi (Brandenburg and Kennedy, 1983; Boyklin *et al.*, 1994; Smitley *et al.*, 1986; Tamai *et al.*, 2002b; Irigaray *et al.*, 2003; Wenzel *et al.*, 2004; Shi *et al.*, 2005; Klingen and Westrum, 2007). For instance, Tamai *et al.* (2002b) found a large variability in the toxicity of 36 fungicides and 54 insecticides/acaricides to *B. bassiana*. Three of the 36 fungicides (propamocarb hydrochloride, sulphur and kasugamycin) and 24 out 54 insecticides/acaricides (including those with the following active ingredients: abamectin, acephate, acetamiprid, betacyfluthrin, bifenthrin, ciromazine, deltamethin, diafenthriuron, diflubenzuron, dimethoate, fenpropathrin, fenpyroximate, fenvalerate, imidacloprid,

metamidophos, propargite and tebufenozide etriclorfon) were compatible with B. bassiana. Wenzel et al. (2004) reported that the insecticides Provado Trigard700PM (cyromazine) were compatible (imidachloprid) and with Lecanicillium (=Verticillium) lecanii in terms of vegetative growth, sporulation, conidial viability and pathogenicity against T. urticae. Comparing the effect of different fungicides, insecticides and acaricides used in strawberry crops, Klingen and Westrum (2007) found that all the fungicides tested (tolyfluanid, fenhexamid, cyprodinil + fludioxonil) were harmful to N. floridana, while all the insecticides and acaricides were compatible. Dara and Hountondji (2001) reported that reduction in fungal germination results concomitantly in decrease of fungal infectivity on arthropod pests. However, they showed that the effect of pesticides on fungal effectiveness varies with the pesticide concentration used. For example, they demonstrated that when Imidacloprid (an insecticide) is combined with Hirsutella thompsonii (a spider mite pathogen) for mite control, at a concentration of 50 ppm, the insecticide significantly reduced the fungal germination. However, when used at a concentration of 100 ppm and above, the insecticide increased the *H. thompsonni* germination. This had been reported earlier by Anderson and Roberts (1983), who pointed out that insecticide formulation is more important than the active ingredient, and that wettable powder insecticide formulations usually do not cause inhibition but may increase the number of B. bassiana conidia. Synergic effect between wettable powder insecticides and *M. anisopliae* has also been reported (Duarte *et al.*, 1992). However, compatibility between water dispersible granule formulations with B. bassiana and M. anisopliae has also been confirmed (Moino and Alves, 1998). A formula for determination of an *in vitro* compatibility between pesticides and

entomopathogenic fungi was proposed by Alves *et al.* (1998). In the said formula, fungal growth and conidia production are the key factors used to determine the levels of compatibility between pesticides and entomopathogenic fungi. Nonetheless, this formula was later challenged by Neves *et al.* (2001). They suggested that *in vitro* compatibility tests should consider inhibition of conidia germination when mixed with formulations since that is an important factor at field conditions. Additionally, since the long term exposure of conidia to pesticide formulations can have adverse effects on the effectiveness of the fungi, the mode of preparation and application should be taken into account before.

In the present study, all the three fungicides tested (Antracol, Mancozeb and Milraz) were toxic to the *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE78. In the case of the *B. bassiana* strain ICIPE279, only Antracol was not toxic to it. It can be therefore concluded that on one hand, Dimethoate, Karate and Malathion have no effect on the *M. anisopliae* strain ICIPE78 germination, and on the other hand, Karate does not have an effect on the *B. bassiana* strain ICIPE78 germination. Therefore, in an IPM program, the above pesticides can be recommended for pest control in the same agro-ecosystems where these entomopathogenic fungal strains are used. However, it known that some other factors such as mode of preparation of formulations, mode of application of IPM since long exposure of conidia in formulations may have detrimental effects on fungus. Therefore, all these factors should be taken into account while studying the compatibility between fungi and synthetic pesticides.

CHAPTER 9: EFFICACY OF THE *METARHIZIUM ANISOPLIAE* STRAIN ICIPE78 ON *TETRANYCHUS URTICAE* INFESTATION ON BEAN PLANTS GROWN IN THE GREENHOUSE

9.1 Introduction

The two-spotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae* Koch (Acari: Tetranychidae), is one of the most important pests of many crops in temperate and tropical climates. It has been recorded on more than 200 hosts of some economic value throughout the world (Jeppson et al., 1975; Smith Meyer, 1996; Bolland et al., 1998). It is actually a serious pest of greenhouse crops. Chemical control is the main method of fighting this spider mite, but it is nowadays less preferred due to the development of resistance as well as environmental problems related to the use of chemical pesticides (Young-Joon et al., 1993; Tamai et al., 2002; Herron et al., 2004). Biological control has been tried as a rational alternative method for chemical control. Several species of natural enemies, including entomopathogenic fungi have been reported to prey on/kill and maintain T. urticae populations under control (Chandler et al., 2000, 2005; Maniania et al., 2008). Predatory mites constitute the most natural enemies studied and used for the control of this pest (Escudero and Ferragut, 2005; Opit et al., 2005; Oliveira et al., 2007). On the other hand, entomopathogenic fungi have been reported as good biological control agents of T. urticae (Tamai et al., 2002; Simova and Draganova, 2003; Chandler et al., 2005, Paz et al., 2007) and can induce a high mortality in this mite at a range of temperatures between 20 and 35 °C in the laboratory (see chapter 6). Therefore, the objective of this study was to evaluate the effect of the Metarhizium anisopliae

isolate ICIPE78 on the population density of *T. urticae* infesting common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) plants in the greenhouse.

9.2 Materials and methods

9.2.1 Mite culture

The *T. urticae* stock culture was established in the laboratory at the ICIPE Headquarters, Nairobi, Kenya. The initial culture originated from mites collected from rose plants in a greenhouse in Naivasha, Kenya, in 2004. The mites were reared on common bean, *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. variety GLP-2 at 25 ± 2 °C, 60-70 % RH and a photoperiod of 12:12 L:D.

9.2.2 Fungal pathogen

An isolate of *M. anisopliae* (ICIPE78) was used for this experiment. It was selected because of its virulence against *T. urticae* over a broad temperature range (see chapter 6, Table 6.3 and 6.6) and its virulence on all the developmental stages of *T. urticae* (see chapter 7, Table 7.1 and 7.4).

9.2.3 Production of fungal inoculum formulation

The *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE78 was produced on long white rice. Three kilograms of rice was weighed into polyethylene bags and autoclaved for 40 minutes at 121 °C. Erlenmeyer flasks containing 250 ml of Sabouraud dextrose medium were inoculated with conidial suspension of the fungus and incubated for 3 days in a

shaker incubator at 28 °C and 100 rpm. The aerated rice bags were inoculated with the broth and maintained in an incubation room (23-27 °C, 35-60% RH) for three weeks (21 days). The substrate containing conidia/mycelia was transferred into plastic basins and allowed to dry for 5 days at room temperature before the conidia were harvested by sieving. The conidia were stored for two weeks in the refrigerator (4-6 °C) before being used for the greenhouse experiments (Wekesa *et al.*, 2005). After 24 hours on SDA, 97.5 to 99.5 of conidia germinated.

Conidial suspension titrated at 1×10^8 conidia ml⁻¹ was formulated in two different formulations: water formulation at the ratio of 0.25:99.75 (0.25 ml of Silwet-L77 and 99.75 ml of water) and emulfsiable formulation at the ratio of 0.25:6:93.75 (0.25 ml of Silwet-L77, 6ml of oil and 93.75 of water).

9.2.4 Greenhouse experiment

9.2.4.1 Effect of fungal formulations on T. urticae population density

Sixty potted bean plants (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L., variety GLP-2) were artificially infested with *T. urticae* by placing three or four infested leaflets from the mite stock culture on each plant. The mites were given two weeks to establish and multiply before the treatments were applied. Ten plants were randomly assigned to each treatment and mite density was estimated two days before treatment by picking two leaves per bean plant (one from the top and one from the middle). All the motile developmental stages (larvae, protonymphs, deutonymphs and adults) of spider mites were counted in the laboratory using a dissecting microscope. Leaf area was

determined with a leaf area meter (Li-3100, Li-Cor, Lincoln, Nebraska, USA) to establish the density of mites per square centimetre

9.2.4.2 Application of treatments

In this study six treatments were used and they consisted of: **T1** (untreated control), **T2** (water+Silwet-L77), **T3** (water+oil+Silwet-L77), **T4** (Fungus+Silwet-L77+Water), **T5** (Fungus+Silwet-L77+Oil+Water) and **T6** (Synthetic acaricide with abamectin as active ingredient, Dynamec[®]). The latter was used at the field recommended rate (1 ml in 2 litres of water) in order to compare its effect and fungal formulation effects on *T. urticae*. Treatments were sprayed using a 1.5-litres hand sprayer (Spraying Systems Co., Wheaton, IL, USA) outside the greenhouse to avoid contamination of neighbouring plants. Fungal formulations and the chemical acaricide were applied 3 times after every 10 days. Each treatment consisted of two bean plants replicated five times in completely randomised blocks. Population densities of *T. urticae* were again estimated at 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 weeks after spraying. The mean daily temperature and relative humidity in the greenhouse was 25.62 °C and 60.72 %, respectively.

9.2.5 Data analysis

Population counts were log transformed to normalize the means and then subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) using the procedures of SAS (SAS Institute, 1999-2001). Production parameters data were also log transformed before being subjected to ANOVA. Means were separated by Student Newman-Keuls (SNK) test at P=0.05.

9.3 Results

9.3.1 Efficacy of fungal application on *T. urticae* population density

Application of fungal formulations and the acaricide reduced *T. urticae* population densities as compared to controls. There were however significant differences in *T. urticae* population densities between the treatments at sampling dates post-spraying in top and middle leaves (Figure 9.1A). At 3 week post-spraying for example, the mite densities were near zero in the treated leaves compared to control (9.23 and 9.84 mites/cm² on top and middle leaves, respectively). At 5 week post-treatment, there were no more leaves left in the control as they had all fallen off.

The *T. urticae* population densities in the top leaves varied significantly with the treatments: before spray application (F=2.56; df=5, 54; P=0.0376), 1 week (F=23.44; df=5, 54; P < 0.0001), 2 weeks (F=29.53; df=5, 54; P < 0.0001), 3 weeks (F=45.24; df=5, 54; P < 0.0001), 4 weeks (F=44.21; df=4, 45; P < 0.0001) and at 5 weeks post-spray applications (F=28.53; d=4, 45; P < 0.0001) (Figure 9.1A).

In the middle leaves, there was no significant difference between the treatments before spray applications (F=1.99; df=5, 54; P=0.0950); however, there were significant differences between the treatments at 1 week (F=35.46; df=5, 54; P < 0.0001), 2 weeks (F=18.02; df=5, 54; P < 0.0001), 3 weeks (F=239.23; df=5, 54; P < 0.0001), 4 weeks (F=54.88; df= 4, 45; P < 0.0001) and at 5 weeks post-spraying (F=31.27; df=4, 45; P < 0.0001) (Figure 9.1B).



Figure 9.1: Effect of fungal infection on *T. urticae* population densities (A) on top and (B) middle of bean (*P. vulgaris*) leaves. (The arrow indicates the spraying time).

Legend:

- T1 = Untreated control
- T2 = Silwet-L77+Water
- T3 = Silwet-L77+Oil+Water
- T4 = ICIPE78 + Silwet L77 + Water (water formulation) (0.25:99.75)
- **T5** = ICIPE78+Silwet-L77 +Oil+Water (Oil formulation) (0.25:6:93.75)
- T6 = Chemical acaricide (Dynamec[®]) (0.5ml in 1 litre of water)

9.3.2 Efficacy of fungal application on *T. urticae*-infested *P. vulgaris* production parameters

There were significant differences between treatments in number of pods produced per plant (F=6.48; df=5, 54; P < 0.0001), number of seeds per pod (F=12.80; df=5, 54; P < 0.0001) and in dry weight of bean seeds per plant (F=28.10; 5, 54; P < 0.0001) (Table 9.1). Yields were 10.5 and 10.8 more times than the control with fungal and acaricide treatments, respectively (Table 9.1).

Table 9.1: Effect of fungal formulations on bean (P. vulgaris) production parameters

Treatments	Number of pods/plant	Number of seeds/pod	Weight of dry beans/plant (in grams)
Untreated Control (T1)	$5.05\pm0.59 bc$	$1.20\pm0.36b$	$0.80\pm0.07d$
Silwet/Water (T2)	$5.60 \pm 0.36 bc$	$4.80\pm0.36a$	$4.40\pm0.57c$
Silwet/Oil/Water (T3)	$4.60\pm0.45c$	$3.60\pm0.48a$	$3.90\pm0.64c$
Fungus/Silwet/Water (T4)	$6.15\pm0.37bc$	$4.30\pm0.30a$	$6.23\pm0.70b$
Fungus/Silwet/Oil/Water (T5)	$8.05\pm0.58a$	$4.60 \pm 0.40a$	$8.40\pm0.62a$
Chemical acaricide (T6)	$6.70\pm0.52ab$	$4.90\pm0.43a$	$8.60\pm0.51a$

Means within columns bearing the same letters are not significantly different (SNK-test, P=0.05)

9.4 Discussion

The *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE78 formulated in water and oil formulations had a significant effect on the population density of *T. urticae* on common bean plants, as was the chemical acaricide treatments over time. However, there was no significant difference between the two control agents. Alves *et al.* (1998) reported that fungal formulations of *B. bassiana* performed better than chemical pesticides against *T. urticae* on chrysanthemum in a semi-field trial. Similar results were reported by Tamai *et al.* (2002). In another study, spray application of *B. bassiana*, *Hirsutella*

thompsoni, *M. anisopliae* and *Verticillium lecanii* resulted in reduction of *T. urticae* populations in the greenhouse (Chandler *et al.*, 2005). A reduction of up to 97% of T. urticae was achieved by Naturalis-L, a *B. bassiana* commercial formulation. However, unsuccessful results were observed in a greenhouse trial where Andreeva and Shternshis (1995) used entomopathogenic fungi to control *T. urticae*.

Conidia formulated in oil performed better than the ones in water. Recently, Wekesa *et al.* (2005) used two different fungal formulations (water and oil formulations) to treat the tomato spider mite *T. evansi* infesting tomatoes in the greenhouse. They found that at 1 week post-application, the number of *T. evansi* on both tomato top and middle leaves in the untreated and treated controls was higher than in the fungal formulations-treated plants. However, they reported that conidia of fungal isolates formulated as emulsifiable oil, performed better than the ones formulated in water and Silwet L-77. This was not the case in the current study in terms of mite population density evaluation. We only found that there was a significant difference in the effectiveness of the two different fungal formulations on *T. urticae* population density on bean middle leaves at 1 week post-spraying.

The reduction of mite populations resulted in the increase of number of pods per plant, number of seeds per pod and the weight of dry bean seeds per plant. The lowest number of pods per plant and the lowest weight of dry bean seeds per plant were observed in the untreated control. This may have been due to the fact that seeds obtained from the treated controls were smaller than the ones obtained from the other treatments. Seeds obtained from the untreated controls were very small and of a very bad quality.

Considering the undesirable effects chemical pesticides may have on the environment (destruction of beneficial insects: natural enemies and other pollinator insects; water and air pollution; toxic residue accumulation for people and animals), on the handlers (poising) and the consumers (presence of residues in the produce destined for consumption), this fungal isolate can be incorporated in the *T. urticae* IPM programs, and as an alternative to acaricides in *T. urticae* control in the greenhouse. Further studies are required to evaluate its efficacy in an open field.

CHAPTER 10: FIELD EVALUATION OF TWO FORMULATIONS OF THE METARHIZIUM ANISOPLIAE ISOLATE ICIPE78 FOR CONTROL OF TETRANYCHUS URTICAE AND TETRANYCHUS EVANSI

10.1 Introduction

The tomato spider mite, *Tetranychus evansi* Baker & Pritchard and the two-spotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae* Koch (Acari: Tetranychidae) are polyphagous pests that attack a large number of cultivated and wild plants (Jeppson *et al.*, 1975; Smith Meyer, 1996; Bolland *et al.*, 1998). *Tetranychus evansi* has been reported on several vegetables, ornamental crops such as roses and on many weeds but with preference to the Solanaceae (Bolland *et al.*, 1998; Keizer and Zuurbier, 2001; EPPO, 2004; Rosa *et al.*, 2005). It is currently one of the major constraints to tomato production in Malawi, Mozambique, Namibia, Zambia and Zimbabwe (Saunyama and Knapp, 2003). In Kenya, it was detected in 2001 and is currently the most important spider mite pest of tomato (Varela *et al.*, 2003; ICIPE, 2004). *Tetranychus urticae* has also been reported on more than 200 host plants (Smith Meyer, 1996; Bolland *et al.*, 1998), and in the semi-arid areas of Kenya, it is considered the second-most important spider mite pest of tomato after *T. evansi* (Knapp *et al.*, 2003a; Varela *et al.*, 2003).

In eastern and southern Africa, the management of these pests is largely based on the use of chemical pesticides which are often inefficient (Sibanda *et al.*, 2000; Saunyama and Knapp, 2003; Varela *et al.*, 2003). Additionally, due to the capacity of spider mites to rapidly develop resistance to acaricides and the growing concern regarding environmental and health risks related to pesticide use, alternatives to chemical control are important.

Several fungal species have been reported as potential biological control agents of the two spider mite species *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* (Carner and Canerday, 1970; Brandenburg and Kennedy, 1981; Humber *et al.*, 1981; Tamai *et al.*, 2002; Irigaray *et al.*, 2003; Chandler *et al.*, 2005; Wekesa *et al.*, 2005, 2007; Maniania *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, this study was initiated to evaluate the efficacy of the entomopathogenic fungus *Metarhizium anisopliae* isolate ICIPE78 for suppression of the population of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* infesting bean and tomato plants, respectively, in field conditions.

10.2 Materials and Methods

10.2.1 Mite cultures, fungal isolate and laboratory bioassays

Mite cultures were reared as described earlier (see chapter 3) and the *M. anisopliae* strain ICIPE78 was used. Laboratory bioassays were done as described in chapter 9.

10.2.2 Study site and experimental conditions

The experiments were conducted from April to July 2007 and from September 2007 to January 2008, at field sites located at Thika within the Kenya Agriculture Research Institute (KARI) station (S00°59' E037°04', altitude 1548 m, with an annual mean rainfall of 983 mm). The mean monthly minimum and maximum temperatures vary from 12.2 to 15.5 °C and from 22.5 to 27.2 °C respectively.

10.2.2.1 Bean and Tomato fields

10.2.2.1.1 Tomato Nursery

The nursery for tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill., variety Cal-J) was maintained from 17th March to 15th April 2007 at the International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology (*icipe*) Headquarters, Kasarani, Nairobi, Kenya. Tomato seedlings (4 weeks old) were then transferred to the field at KARI.

10.2.2.1.2 Bean and Tomato field experiments

The field experiments were conducted in a randomized complete block design with four replications in each of 6 plots, each plot representing one treatment (T1, T2, T3, T4, T5 and T6) and repeated twice. The first season was from April 2007 to July 2007, and the second from September 2007 to January 2008. The bean field experimental plot sizes were 2 m x 2 m, with inter- and intra row spacing of 0.4 m x 0.2 m respectively. The tomato field experimental plot sizes were 5 m x 5 m, with inter- and intra row spacing of 0.6 m x 0.6 m respectively. The distance between the blocks and plots, for both the bean and tomato experiments, was 1.5 m and 1 m, respectively.

Three weeks after transplanting tomatoes and planting bean, bean and tomato plants were artificially infested with *T. urticae* and tomato with *T. evansi*, respectively, and mites then allowed two to three weeks to multiply. Two days before the fungal treatments were applied *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* initial populations were estimated by picking two leaves per plant; one from the top and another one from the middle,

on 10 plants randomly chosen. After spraying, the mite population densities were evaluated weekly until harvest time. The mite density was determined by direct counting in the laboratory using a dissecting microscope. The treatments were as follows: T1 (untreated control), T2 and T3 (Water/Silwet-L77 and Water/Oil/Silwet-L77 treated controls), T4 and T5 (fungus in Water, and emulsifiable oil formulations) and T6 (synthetic acaricide Dynamec[®]).

Bean production parameters were also established by determining the number of pods per plant, number of seeds per pod, dry weight of 100 seeds and yield in metric tons per hectare. For tomatoes, the number of fruits per plant and weight of tomato fruits (in metric ton per hectare) were established.

During the first trial, the daily mean minimum and maximum temperatures were 9.4 °C and 31.2 °C, respectively. During the second trial, the temperatures were 9.2 °C and 31.5 °C, respectively.

10.2.3 Statistical analysis

Population counts were log transformed to normalize the means and then subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) (SAS, 1999-2001). Means were separated by Student Newman-Keuls (SNK) test at P = 0.05. The production parameters data were analysed using ANOVA procedures of SAS (SAS, 1999-2001)

10.3 Results

10.3.1 Bean field experiments

10.3.1.1 Effect of fungal formulations on *T. urticae* population densities on top and middle bean leaves

No significant differences in *T. urticae* population density were observed on top leaves between the treatments before spraying (F=0.11; df=5, 18; P=0.9885), at one week (F=1.47; df=5, 18; P=0.2473), two weeks (F=1.47; df=5, 18; P=0.2473) and 3 weeks post-spraying (F=1.44; df=5, 18; P=0.2567) during the first season (Figure 10.1A). A decrease in *T. urticae* population density was observed in all the treatments, including the controls. The number of mites per bean leaflet was almost the same in all the treatments at all the sampling dates. In the middle leaves, however, while there were no significant differences in *T. urticae* population density before spraying (F=1.12; df=5, 18; P=0.9851) and at one week post-spraying (F=2.60; df=5, 18; P=0.0614), significant differences were observed at two and three weeks post spraying (F=4.21; df=5, 18; P=0.0104) and (F=4.91; df=5, 18; P=0.0052) respectively (Figure 10.1B).

During the second season, there were no significant differences in *T. urticae* populations between the treatments before spray applications on top leaves (F=1.20; df=5, 18; P=0.3498). However, significant differences were observed on top leaves at one week (F=15.24; df=5, 18; P < 0.0001) and two weeks post-spraying (F=24.02; df=5, 18; P< 0.0001) (Figure 10.2A). At one and two weeks post spraying, significant decrease of mites was recorded in the fungal and the acaricide treatments,

while there was an increase of mites per bean leaflet in the controls. *Tetranychus urticae* population density did not differ significantly between the different treatments before spraying (F=0.70; df=5, 18; P=0.6285) in the middle leaves. The number of mites per bean leaflet was lower in fungal and the acaricide treatments than in the controls. However, significant differences were observed between treatments at one week (F=10.48; df=5, 18; P < 0.0001) and at two weeks (F=15.92; df=5, 18; P < 0.0001) post-spraying (Figure 10.2B).



Figure 10.1: Effect of different formulations of *M. anisopliae* and acaricide on the population density of *T. urticae* infesting bean (A) top leaves and(B) middle leaves during season I. (The arrow indicates the spraying time)

Legend:

- **T1** = Untreated control (mites only)
- T2 = Silwet-L77+Water
- T3 = Oil + Silwet L77 + Water
- T4 = ICIPE78 + Silwet L77 + Water
- T5 = ICIPE78 + Oil + Silwet L77 + Water
- **T6** = Acaricide (abamectin active ingredient)



Figure 10.2: Effect of formulations of *M. anisopliae* and acaricide on the population density of *T. urticae* infesting bean (A) top leaves and (B) middle leaves during season II. (The arrow indicates the spraying time)

Legend:

- **T1** = Untreated control (mites only)
- T2 = Silwet-L77+Water
- T3 = Oil+Silwet-L77+Water
- T4 = ICIPE78 + Silwet L77 + Water
- T5 = ICIPE78 + Oil + Silwet L77 + Water
- T6 = Acaricide (abamectin active ingredient)

10.3.1.2 Effect of fungal treatments on bean production parameters

During season I, there were no significant differences between the treatments in number of pods per plant (F=0.31; df=5, 18; P=0.9007) and in yield in metric ton per hectare (F=0.88; df=5, 18; P=0.5128). However, there were significant differences in number of seeds per pod (F=7.31; df=5, 18; P=0.0008) and dry weight of 100 seeds (F=5.32; df=5, 18; P=0.0036) (Table 10.1). During season II, there were no significant differences between the treatments in all the bean production parameters: number of pods per plant (F=0.46; df=5, 18; P=0.8016), number of seeds per pod (F=0.46; df=5, 18; P=0.4705), dry weight of 100 seeds (F=0.51; df=5, 18; P=0.7646) and dry weight of beans in metric tons per hectare (F=0.23; df=5, 18; P=9454) (Table 10.1).

Table 10.1: Effect of different treatments on *T. urticae*-infested common bean (*P. vulgaris* L.) production parameters (number of pods/plant, number of seeds/pod, weight of dry 100 seeds and weight in metric ton/Ha) during season I and during season II

	Season I				Season II			
Treatments	Number of	Number of	Weight of 100	Weight (in	Number of	Number of	Weight of 100	Weight (in
	pods/plant	seeds/pod	seeds	metric ton/Ha	pods/plant	seeds/pod	seeds	metric ton/Ha
			(in grams)				(in grams)	
T1	$8.45 \pm 1.27a$	$3.25\pm0.21b$	45.13 ± 0.21 bc	$2.51 \pm 0.31a$	$9.08 \pm 1.11a$	$3.60 \pm 0.33a$	$39.30 \pm 3.07a$	$1.64 \pm 0.24a$
T2	$7.50 \pm 0.82a$	$3.55\pm0.24b$	$43.78\pm0.47c$	$1.84 \pm 0.81a$	$8.33\pm0.74a$	$3.68 \pm 0.20a$	$39.65 \pm 1.55a$	$1.38 \pm 0.29a$
T3	$6.83 \pm 1.05a$	$3.30\pm0.33b$	$45.18 \pm 1.28 bc$	$1.77 \pm 0.28a$	$8.65\pm0.54a$	$3.33 \pm 0.09a$	$39.58 \pm 1.11a$	$1.58 \pm 0.17a$
T4	$7.58 \pm 0.71a$	$3.85\pm0.16ab$	$45.45 \pm 1.06 bc$	$2.38\pm0.52a$	$7.75\pm0.36a$	$3.20 \pm 0.22a$	$37.58\pm0.83a$	$1.42 \pm 0.21a$
T5	$8.15\pm0.59a$	$4.63\pm0.09a$	$49.70\pm0.93ab$	$2.28 \pm 0.38a$	$8.30\pm0.81a$	$3.63 \pm 0.21a$	$40.48 \pm 1.84a$	$1.64 \pm 0.27a$
T6	$8.08 \pm 1.54a$	$4.40\pm0.19a$	$50.40\pm2.14a$	$2.36\pm0.20a$	$9.58 \pm 1.59a$	$3.75 \pm 0.22a$	$41.15\pm0.34a$	$1.48 \pm 0.22a$

Means in the same columns followed by the same letters are not significantly different (SNK-Test, P = 0.05)

Legend:

- T1 = Untreated control (mites only)
- T2 = Silwet-L77 + Water
- T3 = Oil+Silwet-L77+Water
- T4 = Fungus + Silwet L77 + Water
- T5 = Fungus+Oil+Silwet-L77+Water

T6 = Acaricide (abamectin active ingredient)

10.3.2 Tomato field experiments

10.3.2.1 Effect of fungal application on *T. evansi* **population densities in tomato** During season I, there were no significant differences between the treatments in the

density of *T. evansi* on top leaves before spraying (F=0.06; df=5, 18; P=0.9967) and at one week post-treatment (F=1.88; df=5, 18; P=0.1481). However significant differences were observed between the treatments at two weeks (F=10.55; df=5, 18; P < 0.0001) and at three weeks (F=9.74; df=5, 18; P=0.0001) post-spraying (Figure 10.3A). At two and three weeks post-spraying, the number of *T. evansi* on tomato leaflet was higher in the controls than in the fungal fand the acaricide treatments. In the middle leaves, there were also no significant differences between the treatments in *T. evansi* population density before spraying (F=0.09; df=5, 18; P=0.9937) and at one week post-treatment (F=1.53; df=5, 18; P=0.2308). Significant differences were, however, observed at two (F=5.38; df=5, 18; P=0.0034) and at three (F=6.11; df=5, 18; P=0.0018) weeks post-spraying (Figure 10.3B). As in the case of top leaves, the number of mites per tomato leaflet was lower in the fungal and acaricide treatments than in the controls.

During the second season, significant differences were observed in *T. evansi* population density in the top leaves between the treatments before spraying (F=3.44; df=5, 18; P=0.0235), at one week (F=5.21; df=5, 18; P=0.0039), two weeks (F=9.92; df=5, 18; P=0.0001), three weeks (F=10.71; df=5, 18; P < 0.0001), four weeks (F=15.32; df=5, 18; P < 0.0001) and at five weeks post-spraying (F=21.68; df=5, 18; P < 0.0001) (Figure 10.4A). In the middle leaves, however, no significant

differences were observed between the treatments in *T. evansi* population density before spraying (F=1.80; df=5, 18; P=0.1637). However, significant differences were observed in T. evansi density on middle leaves at one week (F=7.98; df=5, 18; P=0.004), two weeks (F=11.95; df=5, 18; P < 0.0001), three weeks (F=11.70; df=5, 18; P < 0.0001), four weeks (F= 16.47; df=5, 18; P < 0.0001) and five weeks (F=14.74; df=5, 18; P < 0.0001) post-spraying (Figure 10.4B). In both canopy levels, the number of *T. evansi* was lower in the fungal formulations and the acaricide treatments than in the controls. However, emulsifiable formulation of the fungus performed better than the aqueous formulation.



Figure 10.3: Effect of formulations of *M. anisopliae* and acaricide *T. evansi* population density on tomato (A) top and (B) middle leaves during season I

Legend:

- T1 = Untreated control (mites only)
- T2 = Silwet-L77+Water
- T3 = Oil + Silwet L77 + Water
- T4 = ICIPE78 + Silwet L77 + Water
- T5 = ICIPE78 + Oil + Silwet L77 + Water
- T6 = Acaricide (abamectin active ingredient)


Figure 10.4: Effect of formulations of M. anisopliae and acaricide T. evansi

population density on tomato (A) top and (B) middle leaves during season II

Legend:

- **T1** = Untreated control (mites only)
- T2 = Silwet-L77+Water
- T3 = Oil + Silwet L77 + Water
- T4 = ICIPE78 + Silwet L77 + Water
- T5 = ICIPE78 + Oil + Silwet L77 + Water
- **T6** = Acaricide (abamectin active ingredient)

10.3.2.2 Effect of fungal formulations on tomato production parameters

In season I, there were no significant differences between the treatments in number of fruits per plant (F=0.53; df=5, 18; P=0.7542) and in yield in metric ton per hectare (F=1.39; df=5, 18; P=0.2754) (Table 10.2). During season II, the number of fruits per plant (0.58; df=5, 18; P=0.7160) did not differ significantly; however differences were observed for weight of tomatoes in metric ton per hectare (F=22.47; df=5, 18; P < 0.0001) (Table 10.2). The weight of tomatoes (in metric tons per hectare) was very high in oil formulated fungus and the acaricide treatments, followed by the aqueous formulation, and finally in the controls where it was very low. In this experiment, there were no significant diffence in weight of tomatoes between the oil formulated fungus and the acaricide treatments.

Table 10.2: Effect of different treatments on *T. evansi*-infested *L. esculentum* production parameters (number of tomatoes/plant and weight of tomatoes/Ha) during season I and season II

	Season I		Season II	
Treatments	Number of	Weight of	Number of	Weight of
	tomatoes/plant	tomatoes/Ha	tomatoes/plant	tomatoes/Ha
T1	$26.83 \pm 4.71a$	5.99 ± 1.10a	$14.70 \pm 2.68a$	$1.62\pm0.35c$
T2	$25.27 \pm 1.27a$	$5.45\pm4.10a$	$10.95\pm3.08a$	$2.17\pm0.23c$
T3	$25.35\pm3.48a$	$5.47\pm 6.29a$	$14.60\pm3.46a$	$2.24\pm0.29c$
T4	$22.15\pm2.05a$	$5.38\pm0.39a$	$13.75\pm4.92a$	$4.24\pm0.60b$
T5	$25.25\pm4.29a$	$4.87 \pm 1.21 a$	$9.90 \pm 1.62a$	$6.48\pm0.45a$
T6	$30.20 \pm 4.51a$	$7.72\pm0.94a$	$15.75 \pm 0.64a$	$6.92\pm0.78a$

Means within columns bearing the same letters are not significantly different (SNK test, P=0.05). Legend: T1 = Untreated control (mites only), T2 = Silwet-L77+Water, T3 = Oil+Silwet-L77+Water, T4 = ICIPE78+Silwet-L77+Water, T5 = ICIPE78+Oil+Silwet-L77+Water and T6 = Acaricide (abamectin active ingredient)

10.4 Discussion

Although mites decreased in fungal and acaricide treatments during the first season, a decrease in mites in the control treatments was also observed on both crops. This decrease might have been due to the prevailing weather conditions. Rainfall and low temperatures are known to render the establishment and multiplication of mites difficult (Wermelinger *et al.*, 1990, 1992; Sarr, 2003; Knapp *et al.*, 2006). The daily minimum temperature during the experimental period was 9.4 °C, which is suboptimal for the development of spider mite species, including *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* (Moraes & McMurtry 1987; Bonato, 1999). This was not the case during the second season. The reduction of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* population densities can therefore be attributed to the *M. anisopliae* and the acaricide treatments in both bean and tomato fields.

Reduction of populations of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* by entomopathogenic fungi has previously been reported. For instance, Dresner (1949) obtained mortality of 71% of *T. urticae* following application of a dust formulation of conidia containing 0.5% spores of *B. bassiana*. Alves *et al.* (1998) reported the reduction of *T. urticae* population density on chrysanthemum by *B. bassiana*. Similar results were also reported by Tamai *et al.* (2002) who obtained a reduction in *T. urticae* population density treated with *B. bassiana*.

Entomopathogenic fungi have also been reported to reduce the population of many other arthropods. For instance, Maniania (1993) used *B. bassiana* formulations for the control of the spotted stem borer, *C. partellus* resulting in a substantial increase

in grain yield. Godonou *et al.* (2000) reported that *B. bassiana* can play an important role in the management of the banana weevil, *Cosmopolites sordidus* Germar, on plantain. Benjamin *et al.* (2002) recorded a reduction of more than 50% in adult *Ixodes scapularis* Say following application of *M. anisopliae*. McCoy *et al.* (1971) applied large quantities of mycelia of *Hirsutlla thompsonii* as foliar spray to control the citrus rust mite, *Phyllocoptruta oleivora* Ashmead, infesting orange trees. They found that the mean number of mites per leaf decreased and the rate of mite infection increased at 1 week post-treatment. Mite populations were maintained at low levels for 10 to 14 weeks. Therefore field application of the most lethal dosage of *M. anisopliae* from this study to manage spider mites in beans and tomatoes could be a feasible and sustainable management strategy. There are several documented cases of successful field application of entomopathogens. For instance in 1998-1999, *Neozygites tanajoa* (=*N. floridana*) Delalibera, Hajek and Humber was introduced into Benin for the control of the cassava green mite, *Mononychellus tanajoa* Bondar, where it successfully established.

Formulation of entomopathogenic fungi for pest control has a big influence on the rate of success in the field. In Israel, an emulsifiable formulation of *M. anisopliae* sprayed at a concentration of 5 x 10^6 conidia/ml caused 25.9 to 90.6% mortalities in *Tetranychus cinnabarinus* (Boisduval) on eggplants (Batta, 2003). Shi and Feng (2006) reported an excellent control of the citrus red mite *Panonychus citri* (McGregor) by an emulsifiable formulation of *B. bassiana*. Shi *et al.* (2008) tested four formulations of *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* for control of cotton spider mites, mainly *T. truncates* (Ehara) and *T. turkestani* (Ugarov et Nikolski), and

observed a significant reduction in cotton mite population densities. They then concluded that the two fungal species would be of high potential for practical use in the management of the cotton spider mite species, including *T. urticae*. In this study, oil formulation was generally more effective than the aqueous formulation. It has been reported that conidia formulated in oil persist longer than the ones formulated in water (Inglis *et al.*, 1995; Thompson *et al.*, 2006), and this may be the reason of the differences in efficacy between the different types of formulations. Shi and Feng (2006) and Shi *et al.* (2008) reported a high efficacy of *B. bassiana*, and *M. anisopliae* and *B. bassiana* formulated in oil in the control of the citrus red mite *P. citri* and the cotton mites, respectively, in the field.

There were no significant differences between both bean and tomato production parameters in the first season. This could be explained by the fact that, due to bad weather conditions, artificial infestation failed in two occasions and only succeeded when the plants were at the pod formation stage. At this stage mites could no longer have an impact on yields. Therefore, although the yields data were taken, only the effect of the treatments on mite density was the most important parameter to be considered. During the second season, although the fungal formulations and the acaricide had a positive effect on *T. urticae* population density, *T. urticae* did not affect the bean yield because of the delay in artificial infestation. Although, there were significant differences in tomato yields between the treatments, the yields were very low in all the treatments as compared to the literature (Anonymous, 1991; Varela *et al.*, 2003). This could be explained by the presence of other pests and diseases such as fruitworms (*Helicoverpa armigera* Hübner) larvae, bacterial spot

(caused by *Xanthomonas campestris* pv. *vesicatoria* Dye) blossom-end root (caused by calcium deficiency), sunscald (caused by the exposure of fruits to the sun) that were observed during the fruiting stage.

CHAPTER 11: GENERAL DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

11.1 General discussion and conclusions

Tetranychus urticae and *T. evansi* are among the most economically important spider mite species. They are distributed worldwide and known as pests of a large range of crops, including ornamental crops, fruit crops, cereals, legumes and vegetables. They initially feed on the underside of leaves causing speckling and, in severe cases they feed on the entire plant causing premature leaf drop, resulting in yield loss and plant death. The management of these pests has mainly relied on synthetic acaricides. However, a problem in controlling these spider mites is their ability to rapidly develop resistance to acaricides after only a few applications. In addition, the improper use of the synthetic acaricides can be harmful to the environment, users and the consumers. Due to the excessive use and the misuse of synthetic acaricides and to the all related problems, there has been a shift of emphasis towards biological control, including the use of entomopathogenic fungi. The aim of this study was therefore to investigate the potential of the entomopathogenic fungi *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* for the control of the two spider mite species, *T. urticae* and *T. evansi*.

To achieve the objective of this study, the following steps were undertaken:

 Field surveys were conducted in different districts of Kenya in order to find out whether spider mites could be associated with entomopathogenic fungi in the field;

- 2. Bioassyas were carried out (i) to screen 23 isolates of *M. anisopliae* and 3 isolates of *B. bassiana* for their pathogenicity against *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* in order to select the most virulent isolates; (ii) to evaluate the effect of temperature on germination, radial growth and virulence of 13 isolates of *M. anisopliae* and two of *B. bassiana* to the two spider mite species; (iii) to study the susceptibility of different developmental stages of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* to infection by three isolates of *M. anisopliae* and two isolates of *B. bassiana*; (iv) to evaluate the compatibility between the entomopathogenic fungi *B. bassiana* (isolate ICIPE279) and *M. anisopliae* (isolate ICIPE78) and chemical pesticides. Results from these studies led to the selection of M. anisopliae isolate ICIPE78 as the best isolate for greenhouse and field trials;
- 3. Trials were conducted in order to evaluate the efficacy of two different fungal formulations (acqueous and emulsifiable formulations) and an acaricide with abamectin active ingredient, on one hand on *T. urticae* infesting bean plants in the greenhouse, and on the other hand on *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* infesting bean and tomato plants, respectively, in the field.

The results presented in this study confirm the virulence of the entomopathogenic fungi *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* against *T. urticae* and *T. evansi*, and the prospects of these pathogens for the management of these mite pests in horticulture. This study confirms the infection of spider mites by entomopathogenic in the field which has been earlier confirmed by several authors (Carner and Canerday, 1970; Humber *et al.*, 1981; Chandler *et al.*, 2005; Fiaboe, 2007). The infection depends on the environmental conditions such as temperature, relative humidity and rainfall

(Smitley *et al.*, 1986; Klubertanz *et al.*, 1991; Fiaboe, 2007). Several studies have also reported the pathogencicity of *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* against *T. urticae* (Alves *et al.*, 2002; Tamai *et al.*, 2002; Chandler *et al.*, 2005). However this study is the second to report the pathogenicity of *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* towards *T. evansi* in the laboratory, which agrees with the results of the first studies (Wekesa *et al.* 2005, 2006). The study is also the first to report the effect of *M. anisopliae* formulations against *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* infesting bean and tomato plants, respectively, in the field.

Regarding the results obtained from the laboratory, greenhouse and field trials, we concluded that:

- Entomopathogenic fungal isolates can be isolated from spider mite species in the field in Mwea, Kirinyaga, Kutus (Kerugoya district) and in Shinyalu (Kakamega district) during rainy seasons;
- 2. The entomopathogenic fungi *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* are pathogenic to the two spider mite species *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* in the laboratory;
- 3. Although isolates of *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* germinate, grow and cause mortality in *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* at 20, 25, 30 and 35 °C, their germination, radial growth and virulence depend on temperature and on the isolate. *Beauveria bassiana* and the *M. anisopliae* are able to cause mortality in *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* at 20, 25, 30 and 35 °C;
- 4. *Beauveria bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* infection reduces *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* egg hatchability and cause mortality in all their motile developmental stages (larvae, protonymphs, deutonymphs and adults). However, egg

hatchability and motile stage mortality depend on isolate and fungal concentration. The higher the concentration, the lower the egg hatchability and the higher the mortality in motile stages.

- 5. *Tetranychus urticae* and *T. evansi* mature stages (deutonymphs and adults) are more susceptible to fungal infection than the immature stages (larvae and protonymphs);
- 6. The synthetic insecticides (Dimethoate, Karate and Malathion) at the recommended field rate do not inhibit *M. anisopliae* (isolate ICIPE78) germination and are therefore compatible with the said isolate. On the other hand, only Dimethoate and Karate are compatible with *B. bassiana* (isolate ICIPE279), while Malathion is not. The latter, at the recommended field rate, do not inhibit the *B. bassiana* isolate ICIPE279 germination. The synthetic fungicides (Antracol, Mancozeb and Milraz), at the recommended field rate, inhibit the two fungal strains germination, and therefore are not compatible with them. However, since long term of exposure of conidia to chemical pesticides and fungi will depend on the (i) mode of preparation of formulations, (ii) mode of application of IPM and the (iii) time between the use of the two control methods.
- 7. The aqueous and emulsifiable formulations of the *M. anisopliae* isolate ICIPE78 reduce the population density of *T. urticae* infesting bean plants in the greenhouse. Fungal formulations and synthetic acaricide (Dynamec[®]) are equally suitable in controlling *T. urticae* infesting bean plants in the

greenhouse. However, emulsifiable formulation performs better than the acqueous one;

8. The aqueous and emulsifiable formulations of the *Metarhizium anisopliae* isolate ICIPE78 reduce the population densities of *T. urticae* and *T. evansi* infesting bean and tomato plants, respectively, in the field. The two fungal formulations are as effectice as the synthetic acaricide (Dynamec[®]) in controlling *T. urticae* infesting bean plants in the field. In tomato field, however, the fungus in oil formulation provides a better control of *T. evansi* than the fungus in water formulation.

11.2 Recommendations

- Surveys should be repeated in order to confirm the infection of spider mites by entomopathogenic fungi. The surveys should also be conducted in other Kenyan districts which were not covered in this study, and on the other side surveys should be conducted during both rainy and dry seasons
- 2. Studies should be done on the effect of the fungal strains isolated from spider mite species under various temperatures and relative humidities, on mites fed on different host plants and at different concentrations
- 3. Test the effect of different relative humidities on the effectiveness of the isolates used in the study of the effect of temperature on fungal effectiveness
- 4. To confirm the compatibility between fungi and all synthetic acaricides used in the same agro-ecosystems for pest control before any combination of the two pest control methods, for a better IPM program planning

5. To test the compatibility between *B. bassiana* and *M. anisopliae* with the predatory mites

REFERENCES

- Abbott, W.S. (1925) A method of computing the effectiveness of an insecticide. Journal of Economic Entomology, 18: 265-267
- Alves, S.B., Rossi L.S., Lopes, R.B., Tamai, M.A. and Pereira, R.M. (2002) Beauveria bassiana yeast phase on agar medium and its pathogenicity against Diatraea saccharalis (Lepidoptera: Crambidae) and Tetranychus urticae (Acari: Tetranychidae). Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, 81: 70-77
- Alves, S.B., Tamai M.A., and Lopes, R.B. (1998) Avaliacao de *Beauveria* bassiana (Bals.) Vuill. para controle de *Tetranychus urticae* Koch em crisantemo. Abstracts 17th Brazil. International Congress of Entomology, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, p. 1068
- Alves, S.B., Tamai, M.A., Rossi, L.S., and Castiglioni, E. (2005) Beauveria bassiana pathogenicity to the citrus rust mite *Phyllocoptruta oleivera*. Experimental and Applied Acarology, 37: 117-122
- Anderson, I.V., Hajek, A.E., Roberts, D.W., Preisler, H.K., and Robertson, J.L. (1989) Colorado potato beetle (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae): effects of combinations of *Beauveria bassiana* with insecticides. Journal of Economic Entomology, 82: 83-89
- Anderson, T.E., and Roberts, D.W. (1983) Compatibility of *Beauveria bassiana* isolate with insecticide formulations used in Colorado potato beetle (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) control. Journal of Economic Entomology, **76**: 1437-1441
- Andreeva, I.V. and Shternshis, M.V. (1995) Microbiological formulations against web mites in greenhouses. Zaschitarastenii (Moskva), 11: 41-42
- Anonymous (1991) Mémento de l'Agronome. 4ème édition. Collection « Techniques rurales en Afrique », Ministère de la coopération et du Développement, République française.
- Barreto, R.S., Marques, E.J., Gondim Jr, M.G.C. and Oliveira, (de) V. (2004) Selection of *Beauveria bassiana* (Bals.) Vuill. and *Metarhizium anisopliae* (Metch.) Sorok. for the control of the mite *Mononychellus tanajoa* (Bondar). Scientia Agricola, **61**: 659-664
- Batta, Y.A. (2003) Production and testing of novel formulations of the entomopathogenic fungus *Metarhizium anisopliae* (Metschinkoff) Sokorin (Deuteromycotina: Hyphomycetes). Crop protection, 22: 415-422
- Benjamin, M.A., Zhioua, E. and Ostfeld, R.S. (2002) Laboratory and Field Evaluation of the Entomopathogenic Fungus *Metarhizium anisopliae* (Deuteromycetes) for Controlling Questing Adult *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae). Journal of Medical Entomology, **39**: 723-728
- **Benz, S.** (1987) Environment. In: Epizootiology of Insect Diseases (Fuxa JR and Tanada Y, eds). John Wiley & Sons, NY. pp. 177-214

- **Blair, B.W. (1983)** *Tetranychus evansi* Baker and Pritchard (Acari: Tetranychidae); a new pest of tobacco in Zimbabwe. In: CORESTA Phytopathology and Agronomy Study Group, Bergerac, France, p 1-6
- Blair, B.W. (1989) Laboratory screening of acaricides against *Tetranychus evansi* Baker & Pritchard. Crop Protection, 8: 213-216
- **Bolland, H.R., Gutierez, J. and Flechtmann, C.H.W. (1998)** World catalogue of the spider mite family (Acari: Tetranychidae). Brill NV, Leiden, The Netherlands. 387p.
- Bonato, O. (1999) The effect of temperature on life history parameters of *Tetranychus evansi* (Acari: Tetranychidae). Experimental and Applied Acarology, 23: 11-19
- **Boycklin, L.S., Campbell, W.V. and Beute, M.K. (1994)** Effect of pesticides on *Neozygites floridana* (Entomophthorales: Entomophthoraceae) and arthropod predators attacking the twospotted spider mite (Acari: Tetranychidae) in North Carolina peanut fields. Journal of Economic Entomology, **77**: 969-974
- Brandenburg, R.L. and Kennedy, G.G. (1981) Overwintering of the Pathogen *Entomophthora floridana* and its Host, the Two-spotted Spider Mite. Entomological Society of America, 74: 428-431
- Brandenburg, R.L. and Kennedy, G.G. (1983) Interactive effect of selected pesticides on the two-spotted spider mite and its fungal pathogen *Neozygites floridana*. Entomologia Experimentalis et applicata, 34: 240-254
- **Brooks, A. and Wall, R. (2005)** Horizontal transmission of fungal infection by *Metarhizium anisopliae* in parasitic *Psoroptes* mites (Acari: Psoroptidae). Biological Control, **34**: 58-65
- **Burgerjon, A. (1956)** Pulverisation de poudrage au laboratoire par des preparations pathogens insecticides. Annals of Epiphytology, **4**: 677-688
- Butt, T.M., Harris, J.G. and Powell, K.A. (1999) Microbial Biopesticides. In Methods in Biotechnology (Hall FR & Menn JJ, eds). Humana Press, Totowa, pp. 23-44
- Butt, T.M., Segers, R.J., Leal, S.C.M. and Kerry, B.R. (1998) Variation in the subtilisins of fungal pathogens of insects and nematodes. In Molecular variability of fungal pathogens (Bridge P, Couteaudier Y and Clarkson J, eds). CAB International, Wallingford, UK, pp. 149-169
- Bynum, E.D.Jr., Archer, T.L. and Plapp, F.W.Jr. (1997) Comparisons of Banks grass mite and two-spotted spider mite (Acari: Tetranychidae): responses to insecticides alone and in synergetic combinations. Journal of Economic Entomology, **90**: 1125-1130
- **CAB International (2000)** Crop protection compendium, Global Module 2nd edition (CD-ROM)

- Carner, G.R. and Canerday, T.D. (1970) *Entomophthora* sp. as a Factor in the Regulation of the Two-Spotted Spider Mite on Cotton. Journal of Economic Entomology, **63**: 638-640
- **Castagnoli, M., Nannelli, R. and Simoni, S. (2006)** Un nuovo temibile fitofago per la fauna italiana: *Tetranychus evansi* (Baker e Pritchard) (Acari: Tetranychidae). Informatore Fitopatologico 2006, **5**: 50-52.
- Chandler, D., Davidson, G. and Jacobson, R.J. (2005) Laboratory and glasshouse evaluation of entomopathogenic fungi against the two-spotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae* (Acari: Tetranychidae), on tomato, *Lycopersicon esculentum*. Biocontrol Science and Technology, **15**: 37-54
- Chandler, D., Davidson, G., Pell, J.K., Ball, B.V., Shaw, K. and Sunderland, K.D. (2000) Fungal Biocontrol of Acari. Biocontrol Science and Technology, 10: 357-384
- Chase, A.R., Osborne, L.S. and Ferguson, V.M. (1986) Selective isolation of the entomopathogenic fungi Beauveria bassiana and Metarhizium anisopliae from an artificial potting medium. Florida Entomologist, 69: 285-292
- Collier, K.F.S., Albuquerque, G.S., Lima, J.O.G., Pallini, A. and Molina-Rugama, A.J. (2007) Neoeiulus idaeus (Acari: Phytoseiidae) as a potential biocontrol agent of the two-spotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae* (Acari: Tetranychidae) in papaya: performance on different prey stage-host plant combinations. Experimental and Applied Acarology, 41: 27-36
- Craemer, C., Dippenaar-Schoeman, A., Meyer, S., Ueckermann, E.L., Vandenberg, A. and van der Merwe, M. (1998) Mite on Tomatoes: Collecting, preserving, identification and control. A manual for practical course in Acarology held in Pretoria, South Africa. 29p.
- **Cranham, J.E. and Helle, W. (1985)** Pesticide Resistance in Tetranychidae. In: Spider mites, their biology, natural enemies and control (Helle W and Sabelis MW, eds), Elsevier, Amsterdam. pp. 405-421.
- Cuthbertson, A.G.S., North, J.P. and Walters, K.F.A. (2005) Effect of temperature and host plant leaf morphology on the efficacy of two entomopathogenic biocontrol agents of *Thrips palmi* (Thysanoptera: Thripidae). Bulletin of Entomological Research, **95**: 321-327
- Dara, S.K. and Hountondji, F.C.C. (2001) Effects of formulated imidacloprid on two mite pathogens, *Neozygites floridana* (Zygomycota: Zygomycetes) and *Hirsutella thompsonii* (Deuteromycota: Hyphomycetes). Insect Science and its Applications, 21: 133-138
- Davidson, G. and Chandler, D. (2005) Laboratory evaluation of entomopathogenic fungi against larvae and adults of onion maggot (Diptera: Anthomyiidae). Journal of Economic Entomology, 98: 1848-1855
- Davidson, G., Chandler, D., Russel, K. and Jacobson, R. (2001) Fungal pathogens: a second line of defence against spider mites? Proceeding of the

34th Annual Meeting of the Society for Invertebrate Pathology, Noordwijkerhout, The Netherlands, 25-30 August 2001, pp. 15.

- De la Rosa, W., Alatorre, R., Barrera, J.F. and Toriello, C. (2000) Effect of *Beauveria bassiana* and *Metarhizium anisopliae* (Deuteromycetes) upon the coffee Berry Borer (Coleoptera: Scolytidae) Under Field Conditions. Journal of Economic Entomology, 93: 1409-1414
- **De La Rosa, W., Lopez, F.L. and Liedo, P. (2002)** *Beauveria bassiana* as a Pathogen of the Mexican Fruit Fly (Diptera: Tephritidae) Under Laboratory Conditions. Entomological Society of America, **95**: 36-43
- **Delalibera, I.J. and Hajek, A.E. (2004)** Pathogenicity and specifity of *Neozygites tanajoae* and *Neozygites floridana* (Zygomycetes: Entomophthorales) isolates pathogenic to the cassava green mite. Biological Control, **30**: 608-616
- **Devi, K.U., Sridevi, V., Mohan, Ch. M. and Padmavathi, J. (2005)** Effect of high temperature and water stress on in vitro germination and growth in isolates of the entomopathogenic fungus *Beauveria bassiana* (Balsamo) Vuillemin. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, **88**: 181-189
- **Dimbi, S. (2003)** Evaluation of the potential of hyphomycetes fungi for the management of the African tephritid fruit flies *Ceratitis capitata* (Weidemann), *Ceratitis cosyra* (Walker) and *Ceratitis fasciventris* (Bezzi) in Kenya. PhD thesis, Kenyatta University, Nairobi, Kenya
- **Dimbi, S., Maniania, N.K., Lux, S.A. and Mueke, J.M. (2003)** Host species, age and sex as factors affecting the susceptibility of the African Tephritid fruit fly species, *Ceratitis capitata, C. cosyra* and *C. fasciventris* to infection by *Metarhizium anisopliae*. Journal of pest science, **76**: 113-117
- **Dimbi, S., Maniania, N.K., Lux, S.A. and Mueke, J.M. (2004)** Effect of constant temperatures on germination, redial growth and virulence of *Metarhizium anisopliae* to three species of African tephritid fruit flies. BioControl, **49**: 83-94
- **Dresner, E. (1949)** Culture and use of entomogenous fungi for the control of insects. Contributions to Boyce Thompson Institute of Plant research, **15**: 319-335
- Duarte, A., Menendez, J.M. and Triguero, N. (1992) Estudio preliminar sobre la compatibilidad de *Metarhizium anisopliae* com algunos plaguicidas químicos. Baracoa Review, 22: 31-39
- **Duverney, C., Kade, N. and Ngueye-Ndiaye, A. (2005)** Essais préliminaires pour limiter les dégâts de Tetranychidae sur les cultures maraîchères dans le Sine-Saloum (Senegal). p. 80 in *Annales comptes rendus de deuxième colloque international sur les acariens des cultures de l'AFPP*, 24-25 octobre 2005 Montpellier, Agro-Montpellier
- **Ekesi, S. (1999)** Selection of virulent isolates of entomopathogenic hyphomycetes against *Clavigralla tomentosicollis* Stãl. and evaluation in cage experiment using three cowpea varieties. Mycopathologia, **148**: 131-139

- **Ekesi, S. and Maniania, N.K. (2000)** Susceptibility of *Megalurothrips sjostedti* developmental stages to *Metarhizium anisopliae* and the effects of infection on feeding, adult fecundity, egg fertility and longevity. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata, **94**: 229-236
- Ekesi, S., Akpa, A.D. and Onu, I. (2000) Relative pathogenicity of different entomopathogenic fungi to *Sitotroga ceralella* in stored sorghum. Tropical Science, 40: 206-210
- Ekesi, S., Maniania, N.K. and Ampong-Nyarko, K. (1999) Effect of temperature on germination, radial growth and virulence of *Metarhizium anisopliae* and *Beauveria bassiana* on *Megalurothrips sjostedti*. Biocontrol Science and Technology, 9: 177-185
- Ekesi, S., Maniania, N.K. and Lux, S.A. (2002) Mortality in three African tephritid fruit fly puparia and adults caused by the entomopathogenic fungi, *Metarhizium anisopliae* and *Beauveria bassiana*. Biocontrol Science and Technology, **12**: 7-17
- Ekesi, S., Maniania, N.K., Onu, I. and Löhr, B. (1998) Pathogenicity of entomopathogenic fungi (Hyphomycetes) to the legume flower thrips, *Megalurothrips sjostedti* (Trybom) (Thysan., Thripidae). Journal of Applied Entomology, **122**: 629-634
- **El-Jaouani, N. (1988)** Contribution to the knowledge of acaries phytophages in Morocco and bio-ecological study of *Tetranychus evansi* Baker & Pritchard (Acarina: Tetranychidae). Rabat, Morocco, 230p.
- **EPPO (2004)** *Tetranychus evansi* (Acari: Tetranychidae). EPPO-Alert. Available on http://eppo.org//QUARANTINE/Alert list/insects/tetranychus.htm
- **Escudero, L.A. and Ferragut, F. (2005)** Life-history of predatory mite *Neoseiulus californicus* and *Phytoseiulus persimilis* (Acari: Phytoseiidae) on four spider mite species as prey, with special reference to *Tetranychus evansi* (Acari: Tetranychidae). Biological Control, **32**: 378-384
- **Evans, G.O. (1992)** Principles of Acarology. CAB International, Wallingford, UK, 563 p.
- Fargues, J. and Remaudiere, G. (1977) Consideration on the specificity of entomopathogenic fungi. Mycopathologia, 62: 31-37
- Fargues, J., Maniania, N.K., Delmas, J.C. et Smits, N. (1992) Influence de la température sur la croissance in vitro d'hyphomycètes entomopathogènes. Agronomie, 12: 557-564
- Fargues, J., Ouedraogo, A., Goettel, M.S. and Lomer, C.J. (1997) Effects of temperature, humidity and inoculation method on susceptibility of *Schistocerca gregaria* to *Metarhizium flavoviride*. Biocontrol Science and Technology, 7: 345-356
- Fasulo, T.R. and Denmark, H.A. (2000) Twospotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae* Koch (Arachnida: Acari: Tetranychidae). Entomology and Nematology Department, Florida Cooperative Extension Service, Institute of Food and

Agricultural Sciences, University of Florida. Available on <u>http://creatures.ifas.edu/orn/twospotted mite.htm</u>

- Feng, M-G., Johnson, J.B. and Kish, L.P. (1990) Virulence of Verticillium lecanii and an aphid-derived isolate of *Beauveria bassiana* (Fungi: Hyphomycetes) for six species of cereal-infecting aphids (Homoptera: Aphididae). Environmental Entomology, 19: 815-820
- Feng, Z., Carruthers, R.I., Roberts, D.W. and Robson, D.S. (1985) Age-specific dose-mortality effects of *Beauveria bassiana* (Deuteromycotina: Hyphomycetes) on the European corn borer, *Ostrinia nubilalis* (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae). Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, 46: 259-264
- **Ferragut, F. and Escudero, L.A. (1999)** *Tetranuchus evansi* Baker & Pritchard (Acari: Tetranychidae), una nueva arena roja en los cultivos horticolas espanoles. Boletin de Sanidal Vagetal y Plagas, **25**: 157-164
- Ferreira, M.A. and Carmona, M.M. (1995) Acarofauna do tomateiro em Portugal pp. 385-392. In: Alonso-Zarazaga, M.A., Sart, A.C., Saura, E.G.-B., Sanz, P. G., Moya, I.I., Munguira, M.L., Luciáñez-Sánchez, M.J., Moral, V.L., Albadejo, C.M., Cano, J.M., Mateo, M.P.M., Piera, F.M., Pérez, E.M., Aldrey, J.L.N., Castillo, C.R., Benito, M.J.S., Benito, J.C.S. & Montesinos, J.L.V. (eds) Avances en Entomología Ibérica. Museo Nacional de Ciencias Naturales y Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Madrid.
- Ferrero, M., Moraes (de), G.J., Kreiter, S., Tixier, M-S. and Knapp, M. (2007) Life tables of the predatory mite *Phytoseiulus longipes* feeding on *Tetranychus evansi* at four temperatures (Acari: Phytoseiidae, Tetranychidae). Experimental and Applied Acarology, **41**: 45-53.
- Ferron, P. (1978) Biological control of insect pests by entomogenous fungi. Annual Review of Entomology, 23: 409-442
- Ferron, P. (1985) Fungal control. In: Comprehensive Insect Physiology, Biochemistry and Phamacology Vol 12 (Kerkut GA and Gilbert LI, eds). Oxford, pp. 313-346
- **Fiaboe, K.K.M. (2007)** Studies of potential predators of tomato red spider mite *Tetranychus evansi* (Baker and Pritchard) for possible introduction as biocontrol agents in Africa. PhD thesis, Kenyatta University, Kenya
- Fiaboe, K.K.M., Fonseca, R.L., Moraes (de), G.J., Ogol, C.K.P.O. and Knapp, M. (2006) Identification of priority areas in South America for exploration of natural enemies for classical biological control of *Tetranychus evansi* (Acari: Tetranychidae) in Africa. Biological Control, 38: 373-379
- Fiaboe, K.K.M., Gondim, M.G.C., Moraes (de), G.J., Ogol, C.K.P.O. and Knapp, M. (2007). Surveys for natural enemies of the tomato red spider mite *Tetranychus evansi* (Acari: Tetranychidae) in the Northeastern and Southeastern Brazil. Zootaxa, 1395: 33-58
- Fransen, J.J., Winkelman, K. and van Lenteren, J.C. (1987) The differential mortality at various life stages of the greenhouse whitefly, *Trialeurodes*

vaporariorum (Homoptera: Aleyrodidae), by infection with the fungus *Aschersonia aleyrodis* (Deuteromycotina: Coelomycetes). Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, **50**: 158-165

- **Furtado, I.P. (2006)** Sélection d'ennemis naturels pour la lutte biologique contre *Tetranychus evansi* Baker & Pritchard (Acari: Tetranychida), en Afrique. Thèse de doctorat. AGRO.M-France et ESALQ/USO-Brazil. 140p.
- Furtado I.P., Moraes (de) G.J, Kreiter S. and Knapp M. (2006) Search for effective natural ennemies of *Tetranychus evansi* in south and southeast Brazil. Experimental and Applied Acarology, 40: 157-174
- **Furtado I.P., Moraes (de), G.J., Kreiter, S., Tixier, M. S. and Knapp, M. (2007)** P,otential of a Brazilian population of the predatory mite *Phytoseiulus longipes* as a biological control agent of *Tetranychus evansi* (Acari: Phytoseiidae, Tetranychidae). Biological Control, **42**: 139-147
- Fuxa, J.R. and Tanada, Y. (1987) Epizootiology of insect diseases. John Willey & Sons. NY. 555p.
- Gardner, W.A., Oetting, R.D. and Storey, G.K. (1982) Susceptibility of the twospotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae* Koch, to the fungal pathogen *Hirsutella thompsonii* Fisher. Florida Entomologist, 65: 458-/465.
- Gerson, U., Smiley, R.L. and Ochoa, R. (2003) Mites (Acari) for Pest Control. Blackwell, Oxford, 539p
- Gillepsie, A.T. and Moorhouse, E.R. (1990) The use of fungi to control pests of agricultural and horticultural importance. In: Biotechonology of fungi for improvement of plant growth (Whipps JM and Lumsden RD, eds). London, Cambridge University Press, pp. 313
- Godonou, I., Green, K.R., Oduor, K.A., Lomer, C.J. and Afreh-Nuamah, K. (2000) Field evaluation of selected formulations of *Beuaveria bassiana* for the management of the banana weevil (*Cosmopolites sordidus*) on plantain (*Musa* spp., AAB group). Biocontrol Science and Technology, 10: 779-788
- **Goettel, M.S. and Hajek, A.E. (2001)** Evaluation of non-target effects of pathogens used for management of arthropods. In: Evaluating indirect ecological effects of Biological Control (Wajnberg E, Scott JK and Quimby PC, eds). CABI Publishing, Montpellier, France, pp. 81-97
- Goettel, M.S. and Inglis, D.G. (1997) Fungi Hyphomycetes. In: Manual of Techniques in Insect Pathology (Lacey L., ed), Avademics Press, NY. pp. 213-250
- Goettel, M.S. and Johnson, D.L. (1992) Environmental impact and safety of fungal biocontrol agents. In: Biological control of Locusts and Grasshoppers (Lomer CJ and Prior C, eds). CAB International, Wallingford, pp. 356-361
- Goettel, M.S., Hajek, A.E., Siegel, J.P. and Evans, H.C. (2001) Safety of Biocontrol Agents. In: Fungi as Biocontrol Agents (Butt TM, Jackson C and Magan N, eds). CAB International. pp. 347-375

- Goettel, M.S., Poprawski, T.J., Vandenberg, J.D. and Roberts, D.W. (1990) Safety to non-terget invertebrates of fungal biocontrol agents. In: Safety of Microbial insecticides (Liard M, Lacey LA and Davidson EW, eds). CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp 209-231
- Goodwin, S., Herron, G., Gough, N., Wellham, T., Rophail, J. and Parker, R. (1995) Relationship between insecticide-acaricide resistance and field control in *Tetranychus urticae* (Acari: Tetranychidae) infesting roses. Journal of Economic Entomology, 88: 1106-1112
- Goth, T. and Gomi, K. (2000) Population dynamics of *Tetranychus kanzawai* (Acari: Tetranychidae) on hydrangea. Experimental and Applied Acarology, 24: 337-350
- Grantwick, M. (1992) Crop Pests in UK. Collected Edition of MAFF leaflets. Chapman and Hall, London, UK. 490p.
- Guo, Y.L., Zuo, G.S., Zhao, J.H., Wang, N.Y. and Jiang, J.W. (1993) A laboratory test of thuringiensin to *Tetranychus urticae* (Acari: Tetranychidae) and *Phytoseiulus persimilis* (Acari: Phytoseiidae). Chinese Journal of Biological Control, 9: 151-155
- Gürcan, S., Tugrul, H.M., Yörök, Y., Özer, B., Tatman-Otkun, M. and Otkun, M. (2006) First case report of empyema caused by *Beauveria bassiana*. Mycoses, 49: 246-248
- Gutierrez, J. and Etienne, J, (1986) Les Tetranychidae de l'île de la Réunion et quelques-uns de leurs prédateurs. Agronomie tropicale, 41: 84-91
- Hajek, A.E. and St Leger, R.J. (1994) Interactions between fungal pathogens and insects. Annual Review of Entomology, 39: 293-322
- Hajek, A.E., Carruthers, R.I. and Soper, R.S. (1990) Temperature and moisture relations of sporulation and germination by *Entomophaga maimaiga* (Zygomycetes: Entomophthorales), a fungal pathogen of *Lymantria dispar* (Lepidoptera: Lymantriidae). Environmental Entomology, 19: 85-90
- Hall, R.A. and Papierok, B. (1982) Fungi as biological control agents of arthropods of agricultural and medical importance. Parasitology, 84: 205-240
- Hawksworth, D.L., Kirk, P.M., Sutton, B.C. and Pegler, D.N. (1995) Dictionary of the Fungi, 8th edition, CAB International, Wallingford, UK, 616 pp.
- Helle, W. and Sabelis, M.W. (1985a). Spider mites Their biology, natural enemies and control. Vol 1A. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Helle, W. and Sabelis, M.W. (1985b). Spider mites Their biology, natural enemies and control. Vol 1B. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 458 pp.
- Herron, G.A., Rophail, J. and Wilson, L.J. (2004) Chlorfenapyr resistance in twospotted spider mite (Acari: Tetranychidae) from Australian cotton. Experimental and Applied Acarology, 34: 315-321
- Hoy, M.A. (1998) Myths, models and mitigation of resistance to pesticides. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B, 353: 1787-1795

- Hsiao, W.F., Bidochka, M.J. and Khachatourians, G.G. (1992) Effect of temperature and relative humidity on the virulence of the entomopathogenic fungus, *Verticillium lecanii*, toward the oat-bird berry aphid, *Rhopalosiphum padi* (Hom., Aphididae). Journal of Applied Entomology, 114: 484-490
- Humber, R.A. (1997) Fungi: Identification. In Manual of Techniques in Insect Pathology (Lacey LA, ed). Academic Press, San Diego, California, USA. pp. 1-16
- Humber, R.A. Moraes (de), G.J. and Santos (dos), J.M. (1981) Natural infection of *Tetranychus evansi* (Acarina: Tetranychidae) by a *Triplosporium* sp. (Zygomycetes: Entomophthorales) in North-eastern Brazil. Entomophaga, 26: 421-425
- ICIPE (2004) Integrated Management of Red Spider Mites. Annual report highlights. Available on <u>http://icipe.org/research</u> areas/plant health/horticultural crop pests
- Inglis, D.G., Goettel, S.M., Butt, M.T. and Strasser, H. (2001) Use of Hyphomycetes Fungi for Managing Insect pests. In: Fungi as Biocontrol Agents: Progress, Problems and Potential (Butt TM, Jackson C and Magan N, eds). CAB International. Wallingford, pp. 23-27
- Irigaray, F.J.S., Marco-Mancebon, V. and Perez-Moreno, I. (2003) The entomopathogenic fungus *Beauveria bassiana* and its compatibility with triflumuron: effects on the two-spotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae*. Biological Control, **26**: 168-173
- Jensen, A. and Mingochi, D.S. (1988) Chemical control of red spider mites (*Tetranychus urticae* Koch) on tomatoes in Zambia. Acta Horticulturae, 218: 275-280
- Jeppson, L.R., Keifer, H.H. and Baker, E.W. (1975) Mites Injurious to Economic Plants. Berkeley: University of California Press, California, USA. 614p.
- Kaaya, G.P., Mwangi, E.N. and Ouna, E.A. (1996) Prospects for biological control of Livestock Ticks, *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* and *Amblyomma variegatum*, using the entomopathogenous fungi *Beauveria bassiana* and *Metarhizium anisopliae*. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, **67**: 15-20
- Karban, Z. and Zalom, F. (1998) Success of mite fighting techniques evaluated. California Agriculture, 51: 21-24
- Keizer, M. and Zuurbier, J.A.M. (2001) Red Spider Mite. Namibian crop pests. No 37. Online. Available on <u>http://larsen-twins.dk/37redspid.html</u>
- Kennedy, G.G. and Store, N.P. (2000) Life systems of polyphagous arthropod pests in temporary unstable cropping systems. Annual Review of Entomology, 45: 467-476
- Kenneth, R., Wallis, G., Gerson, U. and Plaut, H.N. (1972) Observations and experiments on *Triplosporium floridana* (Entomophthorales) attacking spider mites in Israel. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, 19: 366-369

- **Kiewnick, S. (2006)** Effect of temperature on growth, germination, germ-tube extension and survival of *Paecilomyces lilacinus* strain 251. Biocontrol Science and Technology, **16**: 535-546
- Kishimoto, H. (2002) Species composition and seasonal occurrence of spider mites (Acari: Tetranychidae) and their predators in Japanese pear orchards with different agrochemical spraying programs. Applied Entomology and Zoology, 37: 603-615
- Klingen, I. and Westrum, K. (2007) The effect of pesticides used in strawberries on the phytophagous mite *Tetranychus urticae* (Acari: Tetranychidae) and its fungal natural enemy *Neozygites floridana* (Zygomycetes: Entomophthorales). Biological Control, 43: 222-230
- Klubertanz, T.H., Pedigo, L.P. and Carlson, R.E. (1991) Impact of fungal epizootics on the biology and management of the two-spotted spider mite (Acari: Tetranychidae) in soybean. Environmental Entomology, **20**: 731-735
- Knapp, M., Sarr, I., Gilioli, G. and Baumgärtner, J. (2006) Population models for threshold-based control of *Tetranychus urticae* in small-scale Kenyan tomato fields and for evaluating weather and host plant species effects. Experimental and Applied Acarology, **39**: 195-212
- Knapp, M., Saunyama, I.G.M., Sarr, I. and (de) Moraes, G.J. (2003a) *Tetranychus evansi* in Africa- status, distribution, damage and control options. Abstract presented at the "Institutional Innovations of Sustainable Rural Development" conference. October 8-10, Göttingen, Germany
- Knapp, M., Wegener, B. and Navajas, M. (2003b) Molecular discrimination between the spider mite *Tetranychus evansi* Baker & Pritchard, an important pest of tomatoes in southern Africa, and the closely related species *T. urticae* Koch (Acarina: Tetranychidae). African Entomology, 11: 300-304
- Kolmes, S.A., Dennehy, T.J. and Sam, Y. (1994) Contrasting behaviour of twospotted spider mites (Acari: Tetranychidae) on discontinous residues of a pyrethroid and chlorinated hydrocarbon acaricides. Journal of Economic Entomology, 87: 559-565
- Kreiter, S. and Brian, F. (1986) Possibilités offertes par la lutte biologique contre les acariens phytophages en vituclture en France: résultats préliminaires et perspectives de travaux. In: Comptes rendus de qutrième Incontra sur "La difesa integrate della vite in Europa. Aspetti Pratici". Italie, 10-11 octobre 1986.
- Kreiter, S., Auger, P., Lebdi Gressa, K., Tixier, M.S., Chermiti, B. And Dali, M. (2002) Plant inhabiting mites (Acari: Prostigmata & Mesostigmata) of some northern Tunisian crop. Acarologia, 42: 389-402
- Lacey, L.A. and Brooks, W.M. (1997) Initial handling and diagnosis of diseased insects. In: Manual of Techniques in Insect Pathology (Lacey LA, ed). Academic Press, San Diego, California, USA. pp. 1-16

- Lacey, L.A., Frutos, R., Kaya, H.K. and Vail, P. (2001). Insect pathogens as biological control agents: Do they have a future? Biological Control, 21: 230-148
- Lecuona, R.E., Rodriguez, J. and La Rosa, F. (2005a) Effect of Constant and Cyclical Temperature on the Mortality of *Triatoma infestans* (Klug) (Hemiptera: Reduviidae) Treated with *Beauveria bassiana* (Bals.) Vuill. (Hyphomycetes). Neotropical Entomology, **34**: 675-679
- Lecuona, R.E., Turica, M., Tarocco, F. and Crespo, D.C. (2005b) Microbial Control of *Musca domestica* (Diptera: Muscidae) with Selected Strains of *Beauveria bassiana*. Journal of Medical Entomology, **42**: 332-336
- Li, D.P. and Holdom, D.G. (1994) Effects of pesticides on growth and sporulation of *Metarhizium anisopliae* (Deuteromycotina: Hyphomycetes). Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, **63**: 209-211
- Machini, J.M. (2005) Study of the efficacy of Oberon 240SC (Spiromesifen) and D-C-Tron Plus on the red spider mite (*Tetranychus* spp.) on tomatoes (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.) and their effect on predatory mite *Phytoseiulus perimilis* Anthias-Henriot). MSc thesis, University of Nairobi, Nairobi, Kenya
- Maniania, N.K, Saxena, K.N. and Odulaja, A. (1998) Influence of Three Sorghum Cultivars on the Activity of the fungus *Metarhizium anisoliae* (Metsch.) Sorok. against *Chilo partellus* (Swinhoe). Insect Science and its Applications, 18: 45-52
- Maniania, N.K. (1991) Susceptibility of *Chilo partellus* Swinhoe (Lep., Pyralidae) eggs to Entomopathogenic Hyphomycetes. Journal of Applied Entomology 112, 53-58
- Maniania, N.K. (1992) Pathogenicity of entomogenous fungi (Hyphomycetes) to larvae of the stem borers, *Chilo partellus* Swinhoe and *Busseola fusca* Fuller. Insect Science and its Applications, 13: 691-696
- Maniania, N.K. (1993) Effectiveness of the entomopathogenic fungus *Beauveria* bassiana (Bals.) Vuill. For control of the stem borer *Chilo partellus* (Swinhoe) in maize in Kenya. Crop Protection, **12**: 601-604
- Maniania, N.K. and Fargues, J. (1992) Susceptibility of *Mamestra brassicae* (L.) and *Spodoptera littoralis* (Boisd.) larvae (Lep., Noctuidae) to the hyphomycetes *Paecilomyces fumosoroseus* (Brown and Smith) and *Nomuraea rileyi* (Samson) at two temperatures. Journal of Applied Entomology, 113: 518-524
- Maniania, N.K., Laveissiere, C., Odulaja, A., Ekesi, S. and Herren, H.R. (2002) entomopathogenic fungi as potential biocontrol agents for tsetse flies. In Advances in microbial control of insect pests (Upadhyay RK, ed). Kluwer Academic/ Plenum Publishers, New York, pp. 145-163
- Maninia, N.K., Bugeme, D.M., Wekesa, V.W., Delalibera, I. Jr. and Knapp, M.
 (2008) Role of entomopathogenic fungi in the control of *Tetranychus evansi*

and *Tetranychus urticae* (Acari: Tetranychidae) pests of horticultural crops. Experimental and Applied acarology (in press)

- Marannino, P., Santiago-Álvarez, C., Lillo, (de) E. and Quesada-Moraga, E. (2006) A new bioassay method reveals pathogenicity of *Metarhizium anisopliae* and *Beauveria bassiana* against early stages of *Capnodis tenebrionis* (Coleoptera; Buprestidae). Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, 93: 210-213
- Mathews, G.A. and Tunstall, (1994) Insect pests of cotton. CAB International, Wallingford, UK. pp. 408-416
- McCoy, C.M. (1990) Entomogenous fungi as microbial pesticides. In: New directions in biological control: alternatives for suppressing agricultural pests and diseases (Baker RR and Dunn PE, eds). Liss, New York, pp. 139-159
- McCoy, C.W. (1996) Pathogens of Eriophyoids. In: Eriophyoid mites, their biology, natural enemies and control (Lindquist EE, Sabelis MW and Bruin J, eds). Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, pp. 481-490
- McCoy, C.W., Selhimer, A.G., Kanavel, F. and Hill, A.J. (1971) Suppression of citrus rust mite populations with application of fragmented mycelia of *Hirsutella thompsonii*. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, **17**: 270-276
- McMurtry, J.A. and Croft, A.B. (1997) Life-styles of phytoseiid mites and their roles in biological control. Annual Review of Entomology, 42: 291-321
- Meikle, W.G., Mercadier, G., Rosengaus, R.B., Kirk, A.A., Derouané, F. and Quimby, P.C. (2005) Evaluation of an entomopathogenic fungus, *Paecilomyces fumosoroseus* (Wize) Brown and Smith (Deuteromycota: Hyphomycetes). Journal of Applied entomology, **129**: 316-322
- Mietkiewski, R., Balazy, S., van der Geest, L.P.S. (1993) Observations on a mycosis of spider mites (Acari: Tetranychidae) caused by *Neozygites floridana* in Poland. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, **61**: 317-319.
- Migeon, A. and Dorkeld, F. (2006) Spider Mites Web: a comprehensive database for the Tetranychidae. <u>http://www.montpellier.inra.fr/CBGP/spmweb</u>.
- Migeon, A. (2005) Un nouvel acarien ravageur en France: *Tetranychus evansi* Baker et Pritchard. Phytoma - La Défense des Végétaux, 579: 38-43
- Milner, R.J., Lozano, L.B., Driver, F. and Hunter, D. (2003) A comparative study of two Mexican isolates with an Australian isolate of *Metarhizium anisopliae* var. *acridum*-strain characterisation, temperature profile and virulence for wingless grasshopper, *Phaulacridium vittatum*. BioControl, **48**: 335-348
- Mingochi, D.S. and Jensen, A. (1986) Pests and diseases in tomato cultivars in Zambia, their seasonal occurence and possible control. Acta Horticulturae, 190: 131-138
- Moino, Jr., A. & Alves, S.B. 1998. Efeito de Imidacloprid e Fipronil sobre Beauveria bassiana (Bals.) Vuill. E Metarhizium anisopliae (Metsch.) Sorok. e

no comportamento de limpeza de *Heterotermes tenuis* (Hagen). Anais da Sociedade Entomologico do Brasil, **27**: 611-619

- Moore, D. and Prior, C. (1993) The potential of Mycoinsecticides. Biocontrol News and information 14:31N-40N
- Moore, D., Bridge, P.D., Higgins, P.M., Bateman, R.P. and Prior, C. (1993) Ultra-violet radiation damage to Metarhizium flavoviride conidia and the protection given by vegetable and mineral oils and chemical sunscreens. Annals of Applied Biology, **122**: 605-616
- Moraes (de), G. J. and Fletchmann, C.H.W. (1983) Acaros fitofagos do nordeste do Brasil. Pesquisa Agropecuaria brasileira, 16: 177-186
- Moraes (de), G.J. (2002) O controle biologico de ecaros fitofagos com acaros predadores. In Controle Biologico no Brasil (Parra JPR, Bothelo PSM, Correa-Ferreira BS and Bento JMS, eds). Manole, Sao Paulo, pp. 225-232
- Moraes (de), G.J. and McMurtry, J.A. (1985a) Chemically mediated arrestment of the predaceous mite Phytoseiulus persimilis by extracts of Tetranychus evansi and Tetranychus urticae (Acari: Tetranychidae) as prey for eight species of phytoseiid mites. Entomophaga, **30**: 393-398
- Moraes (de), G.J. and McMurtry, J.A. (1985b) Comparison of *T. evansi* and *T. urticae* (Acari: Tetranychidae) as prey for eight species of phytoseiid mites. Entomophaga, 30: 393-397
- Moraes (de), G.J. and McMurtry, J.A. (1986) Suitability of the spider mite *Tetranychus evansi* as prey for *Phytoseiulus persimilis*. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata, 40: 109-115
- Moraes (de), G.J. and McMurtry, J.A. (1987) Effect of temperature and sperm supply on the reproductive potential of *Tetranychus evansi* and *Tetranychus marianae*. Acarologia, 28: 333-344
- Moraes (de), G.J., McMurtry, J.A. and Baker, E.W. (1987) Redistribution and distribution of the spider mites *Tetranychus evansi* and *T. marianae*. Acarologia, 28: 333-343
- Moraes (de), G.J., McMurtry, J.A., Denmark, H.A. and Campos, C.B. (2004) A revised catalog of the mite family Phytoseiidae. Zootaxa, 432. Auckland, 494p.
- Muma, M.H. (1955) factors contributing to the natural control of citrus insects and mites in Florida. Journal of Economic Entomology, 48: 432-438
- Nachman, G. (2006) The effects of prey patchiness, predator aggregation, and mutual interference on the functional response of *Phytoseiulus persimilis* feeding on *Tetranychus urticae* (Acari: Phytoseiidae, Tetranychidae). Experimental and Applied Acarology, 38: 87-111
- Neves, P.M.O.J., Hirose, E., Tchujo, P.T. and Moino, Jr. A. (2001) Compatibility of entomopathogenic fungi with Neonicotinoid insecticides. Neotropical Entomology, **30**: 263-268

- **Oduor, G.I (1995)** Abiotic factors and the epizootiology of *Neozygites* cf. *floridana*, a fungus pathogenic to the cassava green mite. PhD thesis, University of Amsterdam
- Oliveira (de,) R.C., Neves, P.M.O.J. and Alves, L.F.A. (2004) Entomopathogenic fungi selection to control *Oligonychus yothersi* (McGregor) (Acari: Tetranychidae) in Paraguay tea crops (*Ilex paraguariensis* St. Hill.). Neotropical Entomology, **33**: 347-351
- Oliveira, H., Janssen, A., Pallini, A., Venzon, M., Fadini, M. and Duarte, V. (2007) A phytoseiid predator from the tropics as potential biological control agent for the spider mite *Tetranychus urticae Koch* (Acari: Tetranychidae). Biological Control, 42: 105-109
- **Opit, G.P., Nechols, J.R., Margolies, D.C. and Williams, K.A. (2005)** Survival. Horizontal distribution, and economics of releasing predatory mites (Acari: Phytoseiidae) using mechanical blowers. Biological Control, **33**: 344-351
- **Ouedraogo, A., Fargues, J., Goettel, M.S. and Lomer, C.J. (1997)** Effect of temperature on vegetative growth among isolates of *Metarhizium anisopliae* and *M. flavoviride*. Mycopathologia, **137**: 37-43
- Papaioannou-Soulitis, P. (1979) Effect of the population of *Tetranychus urticae* Koch on bean plants (*Phaseolus vulgaris*). Ann. Inst. Phytopathology of Benaki, 12: 18-43
- Paz, Z., Gerson, U. and Sztejnberg, A. (2007) Assaying three new fungi against citrus mites in the laboratory, and a field trial. BioControl, 52: 855-862
- Pell, J.K., Eilenberg, J., Hajek, A.E. and Steinkraus, D.C. (2001) Biology, ecology and pest management potential of Entomophthorales. In: Fungi as biocontrol agents: progress, problems and potential (Butt TM, Jackson C and Magan N, eds). CAB International, Wallingford, pp. 71-153
- Pena, J.E., Osborne, L.S. and Duncan, R.E. (1996) Potential of fungi as biocontrol agents of *Polyphagotarsonemus latus* (Acari: Tarsonemidae). Entomophaga, 41: 27-36
- Pickett, C.H. and Gilstrap, F.E. (1986) Inoculative releases of Phytoseiida (Acari) for the biological control of spider mites (Acari: Tetranychidae) in corn. Environmental Entomology, 15: 790-794
- Pirali-Kheirabadi, K., Haddadzadeh, H., Razzaghi-Abyaneh, M., Bokaie, S., Zare, R., Ghazavi, M. and Shams-Ghahfarokhi, M. (2006) Biological control of *Rhipicephalus (Boophilus) annulatus* by different strains of *Metarhizium anisopliae, Beauveria bassiana* and *Lecanicillium psalliotae* fungi. Parasitological Research, 100: 1297-1302
- Poprawski, T.J. and Majachrocwicz, I. (1995) Effects of herbicides on in vitro vegetative growth and sporulation of entomopathogenic fungi. Crop Protection, 14: 81-87
- Prior, C. (1988) Biological pesticides for low external input agriculture. Biocontrol News information, 10: 17N-22N

- Pritchard, A.N. and Baker, E.W. (1955) A revision of the spider mite family Tetranychidae. San Fransisco pacific Coast Entomological Society Memoirs. Series 2: 400-472
- Purrin, K., Ukva, V. and Baumler, W. (1979) Sporozoen in Hornmilbern (Oribatei; Acarina) aus Waldbonden Ssuddeutschlands nebst Beschreibuwg von *Gregarina postneri* n. sp. und. *G. Fuscozetis* n. sp. (Gregarinida, Sporozoa, Protozoa). Pedobiologia, 19: 329-339
- Qureshi, A.H., Oatman, E.R. and Fletschner, C.A. (1969) Biology of the spider mite, *Tetranychus evansi*. Annals of the Entomological Society of America, 62: 218-223
- Ragkou, V.S., Athanassiou, C.G., Kavallieratos, N.G. and Tomanovic, Z. (2004) Daily Consumption and Predation Rate of Different *Stethorus punctillum* Instars Feeding on *Tetranychus urticae*. Phytoparasitica, **32**: 154-159
- Ramaseshiah, G. (1971) Occurrence of an *Entomophthora* on tetranychid mites in India. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, 18: 421-424
- Rapilly, P. (1968) Les techniques de mycology en pathologie végétale. Annal of Epiphytology, 19: 749-756
- Rosas-Acevedo, J.L., Boucias, D.G., Lezama, R., Sims, K. and Pescador, A. (2003) Exudate from sporulating cultures of *Hirsutella thompsonii* inhibit Oviposition by two-spotted spider mite *Tetranychus urticae*. Experimental Applied Acarology, 29: 213-225
- **Rossi, E. and Cotti, B. (1997)** Acaricide and insecticide resistance in some strains of *Tetranychus urticae* Koch (Acarina: Tetranyhcidae) and of its predator *Phytoseuilus persimilis* Athias-Henriot (Acarina: Phytoseiidae). Frustula Entomologica, **20**: 168-177
- **Rossi-Zalaf, L.S. and Alves, S.B. (2006)** Susceptibility of *Brevipalpus phoenicis* to entomopathogenic fungi. Experimental and Applied Acarology, **40**: 37-47
- Royalty, R.N., Hall, F.R. and Taylor, R.A.J. (1990) Effects of thuringiensis on *Tetranychus urticae* (Acari: Tetranychidae) mortality, fecundity and feeding. Journal of Economic Entomology, 83: 792-798
- Samish, M., Gindin, G., Alekseev, E. and Glazer, I. (2001) Pathogenicity of entomopathogenic fungi to different developmental stages of *Rhipicephalus* sanguineus (Acari: Ixodiadae). Journal of Parasitology, 87: 1355-1359
- Samsinakova, A., Misikova, S. and Leopold, J. (1971) Action of enzymatic systems of *Beauveria bassiana* (Bals) Vuill. Z. Parasitenkd., 34: 351-355
- **Sarr, I.** (2003) Bioecology and population dynamics of spider mites (Avari: Tetranychidae) on tomato in small scale production systems in Kenya. PhD thesis, Kenyatta University, Nairobi, Kenya
- SAS Institute (1999-2001) SAS/STAT User's Guide, Version 8.01. SAS Institute

- Saunyama, I.G.M. and Knapp, M. (2003) Effect of pruning and trellising of tomatoes on red spider mite incidence and crop yield in Zimbabwe. African Crop Science Journal, 11: 269-277
- Shah, P.A. and Pell, J.K. (2003) Entomopathogenic fungi as biological control agents. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 61: 413-423
- Shi, W.B. and Feng, M.G. (2006) Field efficacy of application of *Beauveria* bassiana formulation and low rate pyridaben for sustainable control of citrus red mite *Panonychus citri* (Acari: Tetranychidae) in orchards. Biological control, **39**: 210-217
- Shi, W-B. and Feng, M-G. (2004) Lethal effect of *Beauveria bassiana*, *Metarhizium anisopliae*, and *Paecylomyces fumororoseus* on the eggs of *Tetranychus cinnabarinus* (Acari: Tetranychidae) with a description of a mite egg bioassay system. Biocontrol Control, 30: 165-173
- Shi, W-B., Jiang, Y. and Feng, M-G. (2005) Compatibility of ten acaricides with Beauveria bassiana and enhancement of fungal infection to Tetranychus cinnabarinus (Acari: Tetranychidae) eggs by sublethal application rates of pyridaben. Applied Entomology and Zoology, 40: 659-666
- Shi, W-B., Zhnag, L-L., Feng, M-G. (2008) Field trails of four formulations of *Beauveria bassiana* and *Metarhizium anisopliae* for control of cotton spider mites (Acari: Tetranychidae) in the Tarim Basin of China. Biological control, in press, doi:10.1016/j.biocontrol.2007.11.006
- Sibanda, T., Dobson, H.M., Cooper, J.F., Manyangarirwa, W. and Chiimba, W. (2000) Pest management challenges for smallholder vegetable farmers in Zimbabwe. Crop protection, 19: 807-815
- Simova, S. and Draganova, S. (2003) Virulence of isolates of entomopathogenic fungi to *Tetranychus urticae Koch* (Tetranychidae, Acarina). Rasteniev'dni Nauki, 40: 87-90
- Smith Meyer, M.K.P. (1981) Mites pests of crops in Southern Africa. Plant Protection Research Institute, Pretoria, South Africa, Science Bulletin 397, 92p.
- Smith Meyer, M.K.P. (1987) African Tetranychidae (Acari: Prostigmata)- with Reference to the World genera. Entomology Memoir No. 69. Department of Agriculture and water Supply. Pretoria, South Africa. 175p.
- Smith Meyer, M.K.P. (1996) Mite pests and their predators on cultivated plants in Southern Africa vegetables and berries. Plant Protection Research Institute, Handbook no. 6 ARC-Plant Protection Research Institute, Pretoria. 90p.
- Smitley, D.R., Kennedy, G.G. and Brooks, W.M. (1986a) Role of the entomogenous fungus, *Neozygites floridana*, in population declines of the twospotted spider mite, *Tetranychus urticae*, on field corn. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata, 41: 255–264.

- Soper, R.S. and Ward, M.G. (1981) Production, formulation and application of fungi for insect control. In: Biological Crop Production (Papavizas G.C., ed). Allanheld, Osmum, Montclair, New Jersey, pp. 161-180
- Strasser, H., Vey, A. and Butt, T.M. (2000) Are there any risks in using entomopathogenic fungi for pest control, with particular reference to the bioactive metabolites of *Metarhizium*, *Tolypocladium* and *Beauveria* species? Biocontrol Science and Technology, **10**: 717-735
- Tamai, M.A., Alves, S.B., Almeida (de), J.E.M. and Faion, M. (2002) Evaluation of entomopathogenic fungi for control of *Tetranychus urticae* Koch (Acari: Tetranychidae). Arq. Inst. Biol. **69**: 77-84
- Tanada, Y. and Fuxa, J.R. (1987) The pathogen population. In: Fuxa J.R. and Tanada Y. (eds), Epizootiology of Insect Diseases. John Wiley and Sons, New York. pp. 113-157
- Tang, L.C. and Hou, R.F. (2001) Effects of environmental factors on virulence of the entomopathogenic fungus, *Nomuraea rileyi*, against the corn earworm, *Helicoverpa armigera* (Lep., Noctuidae). Journal of Applied Entomology, 125: 243-248
- Tefera, T. and Pringle, K. (2003) Germination, Radial Growth, and Sporulation of Beauveria bassiana to Chilo partellus (Lepidoptera: Pyralidae) at Different Temperatures. Biocontrol Science Technology, 13: 699-704
- Thomas, M.B. and Jenkins, N.E. (1997) Effects of temperature on growth of *Metarhizium flavoviride* and virulence to the variegated grasshopper, *Zonocerus variegates*. Mycological Research, 101: 1469-1474
- Thompson, S.R., Brandenburg, R.L. and Arends, J.J. (2006) Impact of moisture and UV degradation on *Beauveria bassiana* (Balsamo) Vuillemin conidial viability in turfgrass. Biological Control, 39: 401-407
- Tindal, H.D. (1983) Vegetables in the tropics. Macmillan. London. 666p.
- **Toroitich, F.J. (2006)** Effect of pesticides on the tobacco spider mite *Tetranychus evansi* Baker & Pritchard on tomatoes in Kenya. MSc thesis, University of Nairobi, Nairobi, Kenya
- van de Vrie, M. (1985) Control of Tetranychidae in crops: Greenhouse Ornamentals. In: Spider mites, their biology, natural enemies and control (Helle W and Sabelis MW, eds), Vol.1B, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 273-283
- van de Vrie, M. and Price, J.F. (1994) Manual for biological control of twospotted spider mites on strawberry in Florida. University of Florida, Florida, 9p.
- van der Geest, L.P.S. (1985) Pathogens of spider mites. In: Spider mites, their biology, natural enemies and control (Helle W and Sabelis MW, eds), Vol. 1B. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 247-258
- van der Geest, L.P.S., Elliot, S.L., Breeuwer, J.A.J. and Beerling, E.A.M. (2000) Diseases of mites. Experimental and Applied Acarology, 24: 497-560

- Varela, A.M., Seif, A.A. and Lohr, B. (2003) A guide to IPM in tomato production in Eastern and Southern Africa. ICIPE Science Press, Nairobi, Kenya. pp. 21-26
- Veen, K.H. and Ferron, P. (1966) A selective medium for the isolation of *Beauveria tenella* and of *Metarhizium anisopliae*. Journal of Insect Pathology, 8: 268-269
- Vestergaard S., Cherry A., Keller S. and Goettel M. (2003) Safety of hyphomycete fungi as microbial control agents. In: Hokkanen HMT and Hajek AE (eds), Environement impacts of microbial insecticides. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers. pp. 35-62
- Vestergaard, S., Gillepsie, A.T., Butt, T.M., Schreiter, G. and Eilenberg, J. (1995) Pathogenicity of the Hyphomycete Fungi Verticillium lecanii and Metarhizium anisopliae to the Western Flower Thrips, Frankliniella occidentalis. Biocontrol Science and Technology, 5: 185-192
- Vey, A. and Fargues, J. (1997) Histological and ultra structural studies of *Beauveria bassiana* infection in *Leptinotarsa decemlineata* Say larvae during ecdysis. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology, 30: 207-215
- Watanabe, M., Moraes, G.J. (de), and Gastald, Jr.I. (1994) Controle biologico do acaro rajado com acaros predadores fitoseideos (Acari: Tetranychidae, Phytoseiidae) em culturas de pepino e morango. Scientia Agricola, 51: 75-81
- Waterhouse, D.F and Sands, D.P.A. (2001) Classical biological control of arthropods in Australia. CSIRO Entomology (Canberra) and CSIRO (Melbourne), pp. 429-432
- Weiser, J. (1968) *Triplosporium tetranychini* sp. n. (Phycomycetes, Entomophthoraceae), a fungus infecting the red spider mite *Tetranychus althaeae* Hanst. Folia Parasitologica (Praha), 15: 115-122
- Weiser, J. and Muma, H.H. (1966) Entomophthora floridana n. sp. (Phycomycetes: Entomophthoraceae), a parasite of the Texas citrus mite, Eutetranychus banksi. Florida Entomologist, 49: 155-159
- Wekesa, V.W., Knapp, M., Maniania, N.K. and Boga, H.I. (2006) Effects of Beauveria bassiana and Metarhizium anisopliae on mortality, fecundity and egg fertility of Tetranychus evansi. Journal of Applied Entomology, 130: 155-159
- Wekesa, V.W., Maniania, N.K., Knapp, M. and Boga, H.I. (2005) Pathogenicity of *Beauveria bassiana* and *Metarhizium anisopliae* to the tobacco spider mite, *Tetranychus evansi*. Experimental and Applied Acarology, 36: 41-50
- Wekesa, W.V., Moraes, G.J., Knapp, M. and Delalibera, Jr. I. (2007) Interactions of two natural enemies of *Tetranychus evansi*, the fungal pathogen *Neozygites floridana* (Zygomycetes: Entomophthorales) and the predatory mite, *Phytoseiulus longipes* (Acari: Phytoseiidae). Biological Control, 41: 408-414.

- Wenzel, I.M., Filho, A., de Almeida, A.M.B. and Mineiro, J.L.C. (2004) Evaluation of the effect of pesticides on the development and pathogenicity of the entomopathogenic fungus *Lecanicillium lecanii*. Arq. Inst. Biol. 71: 172-174
- Wermelinger, B., Baumgärtner, J., Zahner, P. and Delucchi, V. (1990) Environmental factors affecting life tables of *Tetranychus urticae* Koch (Acarina). I. Temperature. Mitt Schweiz Ent Ges, 63: 55-62
- Wermelinger, B., Candolfi, M.P. and Baumgärtner, J. (1992) A model of the European red mite (Acari: Tetranychidae) population dynamics and its linkage to grapevine growth and development. Journal of Applied Entomology, 114: 155-166
- Whalon, M.E. and Mota-Sanchez, D. (2000) Database of arthropod resistance to pesticides. Michigan State University, Centre for Integrated Plant Systems. http://www.cips.msu.edu./resistance/rmdb/index.html
- Wosula, E.N. (2007) Development of tomato hybrids (Lycopersicon esculentum X Lycopersicon hirsutum) resistant to tobacco spider mite (Tetranychus evansi). MSc thesis, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, Kenya
- Wright, J.E. and Kennedy, F.G. (1996) A new biological product for control of major green house pests. Proceedings of the Brighton Crop Protection Conference-Pests and Diseases 1996, 3: 885-892
- Yaginuma, D., Hiromori, H. and Hatsukade, M. (2006) Virulence of the entomopathogenic fungus *Beauveria brongniartii* to several life stages of the yellowish elongate chafer *Heptophylla picea* Motschulsky (Coleoptera: Scarabaeidae). Applied Entomology and Zoology, 41: 287-293
- Yang, X., Margolies, D.C., Zhu, K.Y. and Buschman, L.L. (2001) Host plantinduced changes on detoxification enzymes and susceptibility to pesticides in the two-spotted spider mite (Acari: Tetranychidae). Journal of Economic Entomology, 94: 381-387
- Young-Joon, A., Min, K., Jai-Ki, Y. and Sang-Ji, B. (1993) Toxicity of flufenoxuron alone and in mixture with alphacypermethrin of fenbutatin oxide to *Tetranychus urticae* and *Panonychus ulmi* (Acari: Tetranychidae). Journal of Economic Entomology, 86: 1334-1338
- Zhang, Z.-Q. (2003) Mites of greenhouses. Identification, biology and control. CABI, 244 pp.
- Zimmermann, G. (2007) Review on safety of the entomopathogenic fungi Beauveria bassiana and Beauveria brongniartii. Biocontrol Science and Technology, 17: 553-596